University of Nebraska - Lincoln DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln

Dissertations and Theses in Biological Sciences

Biological Sciences, School of

5-2013

EVOLUTION OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 CLADE C ENVELOPE V1-V5 REGION DURING DISEASE PROGRESSION IN NON-HUMAN PRIMATE MODEL

For Yue Tso University of Nebraska-Lincoln, keyucao@huskers.unl.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/bioscidiss Part of the <u>Immune System Diseases Commons</u>, <u>Virology Commons</u>, and the <u>Virus Diseases</u> <u>Commons</u>

Tso, For Yue, "EVOLUTION OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 CLADE C ENVELOPE V1-V5 REGION DURING DISEASE PROGRESSION IN NON-HUMAN PRIMATE MODEL" (2013). *Dissertations and Theses in Biological Sciences*. 48.

http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/bioscidiss/48

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Biological Sciences, School of at DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses in Biological Sciences by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln.

EVOLUTION OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 CLADE C ENVELOPE V1-V5 REGION DURING DISEASE PROGRESSION IN NON-HUMAN PRIMATE MODEL

By

For Yue Tso

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of

The Graduate College at the University of Nebraska

In Partial Fulfillment of Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Major: Biological Sciences

Under the Supervision of Professor Charles Wood

Lincoln, Nebraska

May, 2013

EVOLUTION OF HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS TYPE 1 CLADE C ENVELOPE V1-V5 REGION DURING DISEASE PROGRESSION IN NON-HUMAN PRIMATE MODEL

For Yue Tso, Ph.D.

University of Nebraska, 2013

Advisor: Charles Wood

Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) clade C strain is the fastest spreading HIV-1 strain globally, especially in Africa. It has been decades since the acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) pandemic first started. However, an effective anti-HIV-1 vaccine is not yet available, which is partly due to the highly variable nature of HIV-1 envelope gene and the absence of a suitable animal model. Strengthening of the understanding of envelope evolution during disease progression will contribute significantly towards future anti-HIV-1 treatment and preventions.

Non-human primates have been an essential animal model for many biomedical research areas. Using simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) expressing the HIV-1 clade C V1-V5 envelope regions from Zambia and infecting rhesus macaque, we demonstrated close genetic evolution of the HIV-1 envelope in both non-human primates and patient during disease progression. Utilizing this animal system, we further examined the evolution of the biological properties of HIV-1 envelope and its association with disease progression. In addition, we applied next generation sequencing technology to analyze the genetic evolution of HIV-1 envelope in a different non-human primate, pigtailed macaque, which was infected with a closely related SHIV strain. Our analysis

showed that HIV-1 envelope underwent similar genetic evolution through the disease course in three different primate species; the human host and two non-human primate species.

In summary, our studies have validated the relevance of SHIV infected nonhuman primates as the ideal animal model for HIV-1 research. In addition, we have also chronicled the changes in biological characteristics of the HIV-1 envelope through disease progression. Thus, our results underscore the dynamic evolutionary relationships between the intrinsic properties of the HIV-1 envelopes, their evolution and host immune response. Findings from this study may contribute to the eventual resolution of the AIDS pandemic and our knowledge of the roles that HIV-1 envelope plays during disease progression.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Charles Wood, for the opportunity to be a graduate student in his laboratory. His tireless patience and encouragement is instrumental to the completion of this dissertation. Over the years, he has offered selfless help and invaluable guidance to not only me, but to other graduate students under his supervision. I have learned tremendously through his enthusiasm in sciences and thought provoking discussions, which will be an indelible part of my training as a scientist.

I would also like to thank my committee members Dr. Jack Morris, Dr. Fernando Osorio, Dr. Peter Angeletti and Dr. Clinton Jones for their thoughtful discussions and guidance throughout the course of my study.

The completion of this dissertation will not be possible without the supports from many past and present members of Wood Lab. In particular, I deeply appreciate the friendships of Danielle Shea, Kay Crabtree, Pam Snyder and Eun Hee Kwon; Drs. Sandra Gonzalez-Ramirez, Damien Tully, Veenu Minhas, Pankaj kumar and Dawn Eggert. Their helping hand is always assured in times of adversity. The priceless memories of fun road trips and events that we shared will always brighten my day. In addition, I want to specifically thank Drs. Levon Abrahamyan and Zhang Hong for their guidance and unflagging support in my research.

I dedicate this dissertation to my parents and sister, who have unwaveringly supported me through the years. They have provided a loving and stimulating learning environment that allowed me to accomplish this achievement. For this, I am eternally grateful. I want to express my utmost gratitude and appreciation to them.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of contents	iv
List of abbreviations	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction and literature review	1
History and epidemiology of HIV-1	2
HIV-1 genome and structure	5
HIV-1 proteins and functions	7
Gag (MA, CA, NC, p2, p1 and p6)	8
Pol (PR, RT and IN)	9
Acessory proteins (Vif, Vpr/Vpx, Vpu, Nef)	11
Tat and Rev	15
Envelope	16
Pathogenesis of HIV-1	19
Life cycle of HIV-1	19
Transmission	21

Infection
Disease progression25
Non-human primate models
SIV and SHIV models
stHIV-1 model
Research aims
Figures and Figure legends
Chapter 2: A comparative study of HIV-1 clade C env evolution in a Zambian infant
with an infected rhesus macaque during disease progression40
Abstract41
Introduction
Materials and methods
Results
Discussion
Acknowledgments
Figures and Figure legends
Chapter 3: Variations in the biological functions of HIV-1 clade C envelope in a
SHIV-infected rhesus macaque during disease progression

Abstract	69
Introduction	71
Materials and methods	73
Results	79
Discussion	84
Acknowledgments	88
Figures and Figure legends	
Chapter 4: Dynamics of envelope evolution in clade C SHIV-infected pig	g-tailed
macaques during disease progression analyzed by ultra-deep pyroseque	ncing98
Abstract	
Introduction	100
Materials and methods	103
Results	107
Discussion	115
Acknowledgments	120
Figures and Figure legends	121
Supporting information	141
Chapter 5: Concluding remarks	144

References	4	7
------------	---	---

List of Abbreviations

- AIDS: Acquired immune deficiency syndrome
- APOBEC3A: Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3A
- APOBEC3F: Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3F
- APOBEC3G: Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3G
- AZT: Azidothymidine
- BST-2: B cell stromal factor 2
- βTrCP: Beta-transducine repeat containing protein
- CCR5: Cysteine-cystenine chemokine receptor 5
- CD: Cluster of differentiation
- CDC: Centers for disease control and prevention
- CPM: Counts per minute
- CTL: Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes
- CXCR4: Cysteine-X-Cysteine chemokine receptor 4
- dN: Nonsynonymous
- dS: Synonymous substitution
- Env: Envelope glycoprotein

ELISA: Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay

ER: Endoplasmic reticulum

FDA: Food and drug administration

FRET: Fluorescent resonance energy transfer

Gag: Group-specific antigens

GALT: Gut-associated lymphoid tissue

HAART: Highly active anti-retroviral treatment

HPCs: Hematopoietic progenitor cells

HIV-1: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1

HIV-2: Human immunodeficiency virus type 2

HLA: Human leukocyte antigen

Hrs: Hours

HTLV: Human T-lymphotropic viruses

I-domain: Interaction domain

IN: Integrase

KS: Kaposi's Sarcoma

KSHV: Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus

MA: Matrix protein

mAbs: Monoclonal antibodies

M-domain: Membrane binding-domain

MHC-I: Major histocompatibility complex class I

MHC-II: Major histocompatibility complex class II

MLA: Monkey leukocyte antigen

MLV: Murine leukemia virus

Nef: Negative factor

NF-kB: Nuclear factor kappa beta

NK: Natural-killer cells

NNRTI: Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor

NRTI: Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor

LAV: Lymphadenopathy-associated virus

LDPCR: Limiting dilution PCR

LTR: Long terminal repeats

PBS: Primer binding site

PBMC: Peripheral blood mononuclear cell

PCR: Polymerase chain reaction

PCP: Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia

PNGS: Potential N-glycosylation sites

PIC: Pre-integration complex

PR: Protease

Pol: Polymerase

PPT: Polypurine tract

Pt: Post transfection

Pi: Post infection

Rev: Regulator of expression of viral genes

RRE: Rev response element

RT: Reverse transcriptase

SAMHD1: SAM- and HD-domain-containing protein

SDS-PAGE: Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

SIV: Simian immunodeficiency virus

SIVcpz: SIV of chimpanzee

SIVgor: SIV of gorilla

SIVsmm: SIV of sooty mangabey

SHIV: Simian-human immunodeficiency virus

Sp1: Specificity protein 1

stHIV-1: Simian-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1

SU: Surface subunit of HIV-1 envelope

TAR: Trans-activation response element

Tat: Transcriptional transactivator

TFBS: Transcription factors binding sites

TM: Transmembrane domain of HIV-1 envelope

tRNA^{lys}: Transfer RNA lysine

TRIM: Tripartite motif

UDPS: 454 ultra-deep pyrosequencing

UNAIDS: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

vDNA: Viral DNA

Vif: Viral infectivity factor

VLP: Virus like particles

vRNA: Viral RNA

Vpr: Viral protein R

Vpu: Viral protein U

Vpx: Viral protein X

Chapter 1

Introduction

A better understanding of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) envelope evolution during disease progression is critical to the development of effective anti-HIV-1 vaccines and treatments. However, the lack of suitable animal models and variation in methodologies has been the major hindrance to achieving this goal. The aim of this dissertation is to address these issues by focusing on the evolution of HIV-1 clade C V1-V5 envelope regions during disease progression. We studied the simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) infection of non-human primates as the animal model, in order to focus on the genetic and biological functions variations of the HIV-1 envelope through the development of acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS).

This dissertation is separated into five chapters. Chapter one includes the literature review that is categorized into five sections. These sections will provide fundamental information ranging from the history and epidemiology of HIV-1 to the various non-human primate models currently available for HIV-1 research. Through these reviews, the readers will be able to better comprehend the concept of our studies. From chapter two to four, the research data and results of this dissertation will be presented as published in their respective journals. In chapter two, we will show the similarities in the genetic evolution of HIV-1 envelope in an SHIV infected rhesus macaque with HIV-1 infected patient using bioinformatics analysis. Thereby, it will demonstrate the relevance of our animal model for HIV-1 research. In chapter three, we will examine and chronicle the changes in the biological characteristics of HIV-1

envelope during disease progression by using the same animal model as in chapter two. We will establish the association of various biological functions of HIV-1 envelope within the context of disease progression. In chapter four, we further substantiate our previous findings by analyzing the genetic evolution of HIV-1 envelope in a different non-human primate species (pigtailed macaque) infected with a closely related SHIV. This dissertation will be completed with the concluding remarks of our studies in chapter five.

Literature review

History and epidemiology of HIV-1

In 1981, there was a sudden increase in reports of rare opportunistic infections such as Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia (PCP) and the AIDS-associated malignancy Kaposi's sarcoma (KS) among young homosexual patients in California and New York (4, 179). Within the next few years, similar cases were also increasingly observed among other groups such as the intravenous drug users, heterosexual women and possibly the first recorded case of vertical transmission of HIV-1 from mother to child (1, 5, 252). These observations were not unique to the United States, but were reported around the world at a similar time (101, 319). Although the patients came from diverse backgrounds, they were all suffering from immune deficiency symptoms that seemed to be acquired rather than congenital. Hence, it gave rise to the term Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS). Based on the information gathered from various cases, the scientific community at that time began to suspect that an unknown agent was behind the AIDS epidemic. More importantly, they realized that this unidentified agent is infectious and

blood or sexual contact with an AIDS patient was recognized as possible routes of transmission.

The first major milestone in HIV-1 research occurred in 1983. Dr Luc Montagnier and colleagues at the Institute Pasteur in France successfully isolated a new human retrovirus, lymphadenopathy-associated virus (LAV), from a homosexual patient with multiple lymphadenopathies (23, 263). Shortly thereafter, a new type of human Tlymphotropic viruses (HTLV), HTLV-IIIB, was discovered by Dr Robert C. Gallo and his colleagues using the samples obtained from Dr Montagnier's group (120, 122). It was later determined that both LAV and HTLV-IIIB are in fact HIV-1. More importantly, Dr Gallo's group first proposed and demonstrated HIV-1 as the causative agent for AIDS (121, 300, 321, 331, 341). These discoveries set the stage for the first commercially available diagnostic blood test for HIV-1 in 1984, which was credited for preventing HIV-1 transmission through blood donations. This was closely followed by other breakthroughs such as the cloning and sequencing of the full length HIV-1 genome (306, 402).

Towards the end of 1980s, azidothymidine (AZT) clearly demonstrated its effectiveness to increase the survival rate of AIDS patients in a double-blind clinical trial, and became the first Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved antiretroviral drug available (110). Since then, many new drugs targeting various parts of the HIV-1 life cycle have been developed. Nonetheless, the severe toxic side effects, high cost of these drugs and the development of drug resistant viruses necessitate the development of anti-HIV-1 vaccine. However, an efficacious anti-HIV-1 vaccine has proven to be more difficult to achieve despite decades of research. Concurrently, human immunodeficiency

3

virus type 2 (HIV-2) and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) were discovered in African AIDS patients and macaque, respectively (75, 82). All these milestones established the foundation for the current HIV-1 research in general and this dissertation in particular.

HIV-1 is divided into several subgroups (M, N, O and P) based on phylogenetic analysis of the complete viral genome, with group M representing the major pandemic strain. The origin of HIV-1 remained uncertain for years until recent studies showed that HIV-1 were most likely derived from SIV of chimpanzees (SIVcpz) and possibly gorillas (SIVgor) (126, 393). However, the source of these SIVs is still controversial. Sequence analysis of SIVcpz revealed that it is comprised of several other SIVs (19). This suggests that chimpanzees might have come in contact and been infected with multiple SIVs in the past, potentially during the hunting of monkeys (19, 372). Similar to HIV-1, HIV-2 was reported to have originated from SIV found in sooty mangabeys (SIVsmm) (223). However, due to its relatively low pathogenicity, HIV-2 plays a minor role in this AIDS pandemic and infections are confined mainly to West Africa (88, 318).

The question of how this cross-species transmission of SIV into human occurs has fueled numerous theories. However, it is widely accepted that traditional hunting of nonhuman primates in Africa may have initiated the first zoonotic infection of SIVcpz in humans. Subsequently, viral adaption and evolution over time in the human host resulted in the birth of modern HIV-1. The urbanization of Africa and rapid globalization over the past 100 years may have propelled the spread of HIV-1 around the world and started the modern AIDS pandemic (68). By 2011, there were more than 33 million people living with HIV-1 worldwide according to UNAIDS (3). Sadly, 330 000 children were newly infected with HIV-1 in 2011 alone. Nearly 70% of the HIV-1 patients lived in sub-Saharan Africa regions. Some countries such as Botswana, Lesotho and Swaziland have a HIV-1 prevalence rate of ~25% among their adults (3). This high HIV-1 prevalence rate created not only economic issues for these countries, but also a tremendous impact on their social structure with ~15 million orphans due to parents being lost to AIDS (2). Through monumental efforts invested in education, behavioral changes, availability of condoms and antiretroviral drugs, the number of AIDS-related deaths each year has been kept stable at around 2 million (3). Critically, increased accessibility of antiretroviral drugs for pregnant women have helped to decrease mother to child transmissions (3). Despite all these efforts, there are still over 2.5 million new HIV-1 infection cases each year (3). A practical and efficacious anti-HIV-1 vaccine is sorely needed to control this AIDS pandemic.

HIV-1 genome and structure

HIV-1 is a lentivirus member of the retroviridae family. It is a near spherical enveloped virus packaged with two single-stranded positive sense viral RNA (vRNA). The HIV-1 genome is ~9.5 kb nucleotides in length, with overlapping reading frames encoding multiple viral proteins (Fig 1A). The majority of the HIV-1 genome encodes its structural proteins group-specific antigen (Gag), envelope (Env), as well as polymerase (Pol) which encompasses three critical viral enzymes; protease (PR), reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN). Some of these proteins are expressed as precursor polypeptides before processing by PR into mature proteins. The viral genome also encodes several accessory proteins such as the viral infectivity factor (Vif), viral protein R (Vpr), viral protein U (Vpu) and negative factor (Nef) (Fig 1A). Although the accessory proteins are considered non-essential for *in-vitro* cultures, they play an important role for *in-vivo* pathogenesis. The 5' and 3' ends of viral genome are flanked by identical non-coding long terminal repeats (LTR) (Fig 1A). The LTR contains regulatory elements such as transcription factors binding sites (TFBS), TATAA box and trans-activation response element (TAR) that are crucial for viral replication and transcription. Mutations within the TFBS can affect the viral replicative fitness in different cell types (55, 290, 395). Also, interaction of the viral transcriptional transactivator (Tat) with the secondary RNA structure formed by TAR is essential for replication and enhancing viral gene transcriptions (14, 346).

HIV-1 virions are approximately ~145 nm in diameter with an outer membrane consist of the host cell phospholipid bilayer derived during viral budding (39). The virion surface is embedded with the viral envelope (Env) spikes. Each spike is composed with homotrimers of the envelope surface subunit gp120 (SU) and transmembrane domain gp41 (TM) linked by non-covalent bonds (132, 246). The SU is exposed on the virion surface, while TM spans the phospholipid bilayer to form a stalk that connects the SU to the virion. Studies have shown that there are between 7 to 14 envelope spikes on the virion surface (66, 444). However, data from a portion of this dissertation suggests that the level of virus-associated SU content changes depending on disease progression and might exceed the maximum level proposed above. In addition to the viral envelope, many host cell surface proteins are also incorporated onto the virion surface during viral budding (67, 281).

Beneath the phospholipid bilayer lays the core shell, composed of the matrix protein (MA) (432). Located at the center of this core shell is the cone shaped

nucleocapsid formed by the capsid protein (CA). Importantly, HIV-1 virion buds from the host cell with an immature spherical core, only after maturation does it develop a cone shaped nucleocapsid (87). Assembled within this nucleocapsid are the two singlestranded positive sense vRNA that are tightly bound by the nucleocapsid protein (NC). Near the 5' end of these vRNA are transfer RNA lysine (tRNA^{lys}) molecules, derived from the host cell, acting as the primer for reverse transcription (306). Several viral proteins such as Vpr, reverse transcriptase (RT) and integrase (IN) are also located in the nucleocapsid. Moreover, a number of studies have demonstrated that host cellular proteins can also be packaged into the virion during the viral assembly process (67, 406).

Similar to HIV-1, SIV is also a lentivirus member of the retroviridae family. SIV shares similar genomic and virion structures as HIV-1 with a few exceptions (Fig 1B). One of these differences lies within the LTR. SIV contains an average of one nuclear factor kappa beta (NF-kB) and four specificity protein 1 (Sp1) TFBS, while HIV-1 has on average two NF-kB and three Sp1 TFBS. Variations in the number of TFBS were reported to affect viral pathogenesis (94, 107). More importantly, SIV encodes the viral protein X (Vpx) instead of Vpu that is unique to HIV-1 (Fig 1B). While HIV-1 and SIV have evolved naturally, SHIV is a laboratory-generated chimeric virus between SIV and HIV-1. To generate SHIV, the HIV-1 genes *tat*, regulator of expression of viral genes (*rev*), *vpu* and *env* are inserted into the pathogenic molecular clone, such as SIVmac239, to replace their counterparts (Fig 1C). The resulted SHIV virions are fully functional and infectious in non-human primate animal models (240).

HIV-1 proteins and functions

Gag (MA, CA, NC, p2, p1 and p6)

The gag gene ($Pr55^{Gag}$) is expressed as a ~55kDa polypeptide precursor that consists of the viral proteins MA (p17), CA (p24), p2, NC (p7), p1 and p6. Its main function is assembly of the virions. Gag alone can form virus like particles (VLP) in the absence of any other viral proteins (91). During maturation shortly after viral budding, Gag undergoes proteolytic cleavage by PR into individual proteins. This step was reported to occur in a specific order and at different rates for each protein (191, 291). Variations in these cleavage events could have detrimental consequences on virus infectivity (78, 270). The virion core shell is formed by the MA, which serves multiple functions. After translation, MA is myristylated by the host cell enzyme N-myristyl transferase and directs the gag polypeptide towards the plasma membrane via its membrane binding-domain (M-domain) (41, 287, 340). Several studies have also demonstrated that MA interacts with gp41 of the viral envelope to facilitate Env incorporation into the virion (168, 426). However, it has no effect on the incorporation of Env with short cytoplasmic tails (113). Additionally, MA contains nuclear localization signals, suggesting that it may be involved in the import of the viral pre-integration complex (PIC) into the nucleus and export of viral RNA out of the nucleus (43, 103).

The cleavage of the MA-p2 polypeptide by PR releases the CA, which is the main component of the nucleocapsid. CA mainly functions in Gag-Gag interaction as well as incorporation of the cellular protein cyclophilin A, which is necessary for viral replication (35, 124, 125). Similar to CA, NC also participates in Gag-Gag interaction and virus assembly through its interaction domain (I-domain) (287). NC is a hydrophilic protein that is indispensable for packaging of vRNA into the virion. It binds to the packaging sequence (Ψ site) within the vRNA, located between the 5' LTR and *gag* start codon, via its zinc-finger domain (193, 325, 342). NC also promotes the binding of tRNA^{Lys} to the primer binding site (PBS) of the vRNA and enhances the reverse transcription process (229).

Lastly, the budding of virion from the host cell occurred through p6 via the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) pathway (171, 390, 413). In addition, p6 is required for the incorporation of Vpr into the virion (202). Unlike other proteins within the Gag polypeptide, the function of the smaller peptides p2 and p1 are not well understood, but may be involved in the regulation of Gag polypeptide cleavage by PR (409).

Pol (PR, RT and IN)

The *pol* gene encodes three pivotal viral enzymes as described earlier. The Pol proteins are first translated as Gag-Pol precursor polypeptides via a reading frame shift at the C-terminus of *gag* (184). It was suggested that this Gag-Pol polypeptide dimerized to form homo-dimeric PR, which was then released by autolytic cleavage (90, 415). The function of PR is solely to cleave the Gag and Gag-Pol polypeptides into their corresponding individual viral proteins. This cleavage step is critical for maturation and functionality of the virion. PR can recognize several cleavage sites and its specificity can be affected by the primary sequence as well as structure of the substrate (292). The detailed structure of PR has been resolved and describe elsewhere (273, 352).

One of the viral proteins released after cleavage of Gag-Pol polypeptide is RT, which is a hallmark of retroviruses. RT functions as the RNA-dependent DNA

polymerase and RNAse H. Its RNA-dependent DNA polymerase activity is responsible for the transcription of vRNA into double-stranded linear viral DNA (vDNA) upon viral entry into the cytoplasm (21, 330, 374). Whereas, it's RNAse H activity degrades the vRNA template immediately after transcription (336). This entire process of copying vRNA into vDNA is known as reverse transcription (77). Briefly, RT utilizes the tRNA^{lys} bound to the PBS of vRNA as a primer to reverse transcript the viral 5' LTR into a short minus-strand vDNA. Simultaneously, the RNAse activity of RT degrades the transcribed vRNA. Together with the RT complex, this short minus-strand vDNA was transferred to the 3' LTR of vRNA for continuation of the reverse transcription. Almost the entire vRNA is degraded after the full minus-strand vDNA is synthesized, except for the polypurine tract (PPT) within the 3' LTR that are resistant to RNAse H activities. RT utilizes the PPT as a primer for synthesis of the second plus-strand vDNA to complete the reverse transcription process. RT was first produced as a homodimer with two p66 subunits. However, PR cleaved one of these subunits into p51, generating a heterodimer RT with p66 and p51 subunits. The enzymatic activities of RT are possessed by p66, while p51 is believed to have a structural role only (167). Detailed RT structure has been resolved and described (185). Importantly, the lack of proofreading ability in RT resulted in its low fidelity. It has been estimated that 1 in 1700 to 4000 nucleotide was misincorporated into the vDNA during reverse transcription (301, 314). Surprisingly, this high error rate actually benefits the virus by increasing its genetic diversity, contributing to the viral escape from the host immune surveillance (227).

The *pol* gene also encodes IN which functions to insert the double stranded linear vDNA into the host genome (139). This was accomplished by the DNA cleavage and

strand-transfect abilities of IN in the PIC (139). The detailed steps of integration have been reviewed (76). Briefly, IN cleaves two bases from the 3' terminus of vDNA that serve as the attachment site for host genome. After entry into the cell nucleus, IN facilitates the strand transfer of cleaved vDNA into the target host chromosome. Although the integration sites within the host chromosome are believed to be randomly selected, some studies suggest that it might occur at a higher frequency in regions with open chromatin structure (79). The structure of IN has been resolved and it exists as a homodimer with Z-finger domains (46, 105).

Due to their important roles in the virus life cycle, PR, RT and IN are targets for many antiretroviral drugs. For example, ritonavir inhibits the PR, non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI) and nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NRTI) inhibits the RT activities. A new class of drug, raltegravir, was recently developed to inhibit IN. Different combinations of these drugs constitute the highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) for AIDS patients. Unfortunately, drug resistant mutants are rapidly rising in treated individuals, creating a major issue for anti-HIV-1 therapies (360).

Accessory proteins (Vif, Vpr/Vpx, Vpu, Nef)

HIV-1 encodes several accessory proteins, Vif, Vpu, Vpr and Nef. These proteins were once thought to be non-essential for *in-vitro* viral growth. However, recent studies have shown that they are critical for *in-vivo* viral replication and disease pathogenesis. Vif is a small ~23 kDa protein that accumulates within the host cytoplasm after translation (141). Several studies have demonstrated that Vif can also be incorporated, resulting in an estimated 60 to 100 molecules in the virion during viral assembly (235). It

was established that Vif is necessary for viral replication in primary T-cell but not in cell lines such as SupT1 (119). Later, it was discovered that the cellular protein, apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G) can inhibit HIV-1 replication in the absence of Vif (351). APOBEC3G is a cytidine deaminase with an unclear normal cellular function, but was reported to have a regulatory role in microRNAs (170). Alternatively, APOBEC3G could have evolved as a specialized cellular anti-viral defense. APOBEC3G restricts the HIV-1 replication by deamination of cytidine to uridine in the minus-strand vDNA, causing hypermutations within the viral genome. It is the function of Vif to effectively antagonize this negative effect of APOBEC3G, by binding and inducing the degradation of APOBEC3G via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (248, 249, 257, 351). Importantly, the inhibition of APOBEC3G by Vif is highly species dependent, such that APOBEC3G from non-human primate can only be inhibited by SIV Vif and vice versa for HIV-1 (33). Other members of the APOBEC family, such as APOBEC3F, may have similar functions as APOBEC3G and can also be inhibited by Vif (234).

Vpr is a ~15 kDa protein that is expressed by all HIV-1 and SIV. However, a closely related protein, Vpx is only expressed in HIV-2 and certain SIV lineages (Fig 1) (117). Vpr/Vpx bears multiple functions and is important for *in-vivo* pathogenesis. It was shown that Vpx is required for disease progression and deletion mutants of Vpr/Vpx displayed significantly delayed onset of AIDS (135, 160). One of the functions of Vpr is localization of the viral PIC into the nucleus of non-dividing cells such as macrophages (299). This ability vastly expands the number of permissive cell types for the virus to infect. Vpr was also shown to induce G2 cell cycle arrest by an unknown mechanism

(95). Another function of Vpr is inducing T-cell apoptosis, resulting in by-stander T-cell death that might contribute to the decrease of CD4⁺ T-cell counts in AIDS patients (37). Moreover, a study had linked Vpr to the reduction of antigen presentation by affecting the infected dendritic cells maturation and cytokine production (242). Although Vpx shares similar functions as Vpr, there are some differences between the two proteins. For instance, Vpx cannot induce G2 cell cycle arrest but virus expressing Vpx can establish infection of macrophages by overcoming a restriction in reverse transcription (349). A study had demonstrated that Vpx can inhibit the anti-viral effect of restriction factor, APOBEC3A, in myeloid cells (26). Importantly, a recently discovered dendritic and myeloid cell specific HIV-1 restriction factor, SAMHD1, can be antagonized by Vpx (217, 218). Given the important role that dendritic cells have as antigen presenting cells, overcoming the SAMHD1 restriction allows productive infection by virus expressing Vpx and may increase the viral pathogenesis (48).

Vpu is a 16 kDa protein unique to HIV-1 and SIVcpz (Fig 1) (210). Vpu is an oligomeric type-1 integral membrane protein that is present in the ER, Golgi and plasma membranes (282, 398). It has an N-terminus transmembrane domain that was reported to form ion-channel on the cell membranes (109). Function of this ion-channel is not clear but might be involved in virus release (339). It is known that interferon- α activates various antiviral genes in the infected cells, some resulting in the retention of virus particle on the cell surface (274). It was discovered that an interferon- α induced protein, B cell stromal factor 2 (BST-2), is responsible for this virus retention property (275). BST-2 is also known as CD317 or tetherin. Importantly, Vpu can bind and target BST-2 for degradation, thereby annulling the inhibitory effect of tetherin (182, 275). Vpu can

also mediates the down regulation of cell receptor CD4 in the ER (411). This was achieved with help from the human beta-transducine repeat containing protein (β TrCP), which act as the connector protein between Vpu and the cytoplasmic domain of CD4 (247). Binding of Vpu to β TrCP and CD4 eventually caused the degradation of CD4 in the cytosolic proteasome (28). Some studies also suggest that Vpu might down regulate the presentation of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) and II (MHC-II) (175, 197).

Nef is a 27 kDa myristolyated protein expressed by all HIV-1 and SIV. Its importance in viral pathogenesis was clearly demonstrated when patients infected with Nef defective HIV-1, did not progress to AIDS rapidly (89). Nef is known to down regulate the expression level of cellular receptor CD4. This occurs through binding to the cytoplasmic tail of CD4, internalization via the clathrin coated pits and redirecting them to lysosome for degradation (62, 410). There is evidence to suggest that Nef may have a similar effect on CCR5 and CXCR4 expression as well (169, 260). By reducing the expression level of these cellular receptors, Nef can prevent multiple HIV-1 virions from infecting the same cell, which could affect viral replication (198). Additionally, Nef decreases the MHC-I expression level on cell surface by redirecting the newly synthesized MHC-I to the trans-Golgi network and eventual degradation in the lysosome (343). A study has suggested that Nef may have similar effect on MHC-II but the mechanism is not clear (337). These down regulations may result in less viral antigen presentation to the immune cells, such as CD8⁺ T-cell, thereby protecting the infected cells from immune surveillance. However, the detection of escape mutants from CTL responses implies that the down regulation of MHC-I or II may not be efficient (144).

Interestingly, some studies had implicated Nef in blocking the tetherin activity in a species-specific manner. They reported that SIV Nef has the ability to antagonize tetherin in non-human primates but not in human. On the other hand, HIV-1 Nef has no such functions and human tetherin can only be inhibited by HIV-1 Vpu (187, 437).

Tat and Rev

Tat is a ~15 kDa transactivator protein that is synthesized after the mRNA splicing of its two exons, located upstream and overlaps with the envelope gene. Tat contains two domains that bind to the TAR in vRNA and recruit cellular transcriptional machinery (177). Surprisingly, these domains are situated within the exon 1, making exon 2 essentially non-functional (213). Moreover, the presence of a nuclear localization signal within Tat allows its accumulation within the cell nucleus (155). The main function of Tat is to bind to the RNA stem-loop structure of TAR for transcription initiation and elongation of the viral transcripts. In the absence of Tat, viral transcripts tend to terminate prematurely (190). Also, Tat was reported to affect the expression of several cellular genes such as cytokines and MHC (253, 334). Moreover, a number of studies have suggested that Tat can be secreted from the infected cell and entered adjacent naïve cells, resulting in the induction of apoptosis and cell death (58, 134). Together, these functions of Tat may contribute to viral pathogenesis.

Rev is a ~19 kDa protein that is encoded by two exons positioned upstream and within the envelope gene. Rev primarily served to export the unspliced and singly spiced vRNA from the nucleus into cytoplasm. It achieved this function by binding to the Rev response element (RRE), located within the envelope gene, which is carried by all unspliced and singly spliced vRNA (243, 245). The interaction domain with RRE has been identified as an arginine-rich RNA binding motif positioned in the exon 2 of Rev. This RNA binding motif also double as the nuclear localization signal that allows Rev entry into the nucleus (386). The C-terminus of Rev also contains a leucine-rich motif that functions as the nuclear export signal, allowing export of the Rev-RRE complexes (407). Multimerization of Rev onto the RRE is required for activation of this nuclear export ability (183, 380). This ability of Rev to nuclear export the unspliced vRNA allows the incorporation of full-length viral genome into the nucleocapsid during virion assembly. A detailed crystal structure of Rev has been recently resolved (83, 97).

Envelope

Envelope is notably the most studied among all the HIV-1 proteins, due to its indispensable functions in multiple aspects of the viral life cycle and *in vivo* survival. The *env* is translated in the ER as a ~160 kDa precursor glycoprotein known as gp160. During its synthesis process, the gp160 is glycosylated, trimerized and later cleaved into gp120 and gp41 by the cellular enzyme furin (129, 268). As described earlier, gp120 and gp41 are also designated as the surface (SU) and transmembrane subunit (TM) of the envelope, respectively. The SU encompasses the receptor binding domains, while the TM promotes viral envelope fusion with the target cell membrane after receptors binding via its fusion domain, as well as envelope incorporation into the virion via its cytoplasmic tail as described earlier (25, 123, 296, 424). Detailed structure of the HIV-1 envelope has been published (246). This review will center on the SU given its dominant role in viral pathogenesis and it is the focus of this dissertation.

SU has the greatest genetic diversity amid various HIV-1 strains, whereas TM is highly conserved. Based on studies with clade B HIV-1, the distribution of this genetic diversity is not uniform in the SU, but is located mainly within its five hyper-variable domains, V1 to 5, which are interspersed by five constant regions, C1 to 5. However, data from this dissertation suggests that for clade C HIV-1, certain portion of the constant regions, such as the N-terminus of C3, might also accommodate higher genetic diversity than generally anticipated. Among the variable domains, V1-V2 is the most polymorphic and can tolerate extensive deletions, insertions as well as various patterns of Nglycoslyation sites (211). Studies have demonstrated that V1-V2 can influence viral tropism and shield the neutralization sensitive epitopes that lie within the V3 loop from host humoral responses (206, 207, 215, 293, 423). Moreover, a study on SIV has shown that V1-V2 will undergo structural changes to facilitate the formation of co-receptor binding sites for CCR5 or CXCR4, after the viral envelope binds to its primary receptor CD4 (61). Others have documented the V3 loop as the main determining factor in viral co-receptor usage (178). For instance, mutations in charged residues within V3 are associated with switching co-receptor usage (86, 163, 181, 355). Similarly, insertions or deletions within V3 can also influence the viral co-receptor usage (441). Together, these studies underscored the importance of V1, V2 and V3 on the viral co-receptor usage. Additionally, mutations within V2 and V3 can impact the membrane fusion process as well (114, 150, 283). Despite the importance of V1, V2 and V3 in co-receptor usage, deletion analyses have demonstrated that truncated SU lacking these regions can still bind to the primary receptor CD4 (297, 425). Unlike these variable regions, which do not play a direct role in CD4 binding, some constant regions within the SU were identified as

participating directly in the binding of CD4 (215). Surprisingly, the functions of V4 and V5 are relatively less established. Although these two variable regions are not implicated in receptor or co-receptor binding, their presence may preserve the structural integrity of the envelope, since deletion of V4 may influence processing of the envelope (425).

In addition to determining the viral tropism, SU functions as the principal viral defense mechanism against the potent host humoral responses. SU achieved this ability through masking of its potential neutralization sensitive epitopes from the host immune surveillance by camouflaging itself extensively with carbohydrates derived from the infected cell. This resulted in a heavily glycosylated envelope protein, with over 50% of its molecular weight derived from carbohydrates (133). The addition of carbohydrates to protein is known as glycosylation. The HIV-1 envelope is N-glycosylated at the consensus sequences NXS or NXT as it traffics through the Golgi apparatus to the cell membrane. Amino acid residues that are N-glycosylated are known as potential Nglycosylation sites (PNGS) and the majority of them are located within the SU. Just like the genetic diversity, PNGS are unevenly distributed within the SU and highly variable within the V1-V5 region. The hyper-variable nature of the V1-V5 region provided additional capital for the envelope to maintain a constantly changing number and pattern of PNGS on the virus surface. This pattern of PNGS was proposed to function as a "glycan shield" that evolves in response to the host immune surveillance and shields the neutralization sensitive epitopes of the envelope from host humoral response (405). Evidence supporting this glycan shield theory came from SIV mutants lacking certain PNGS in its envelope elicited higher antibody neutralization activity in the infected monkeys (309). Moreover, it is well established that changes in the PNGS pattern on the HIV-1 envelope will influence the neutralization susceptibility of the virus (18, 128, 145). PNGS is also implicated in the conformation and structural integrity of the HIV-1 envelope (224, 422).

Lastly, the HIV-1 envelope has been shown to down regulate the CD4 expression level by binding to and retaining newly synthesized CD4 in the ER (220). Envelope may also induce cytotoxicity in infected cells by inducing cytokine production (431). Importantly, HIV-1 envelope can also induce apoptosis of infected CD4⁺ T cells (222). This may contribute to by-stander T cell death and overall decline of CD4⁺ T-cell counts in AIDS patients. Given all these critical roles, tremendous effort has been invested in vaccine as well as therapeutic strategies targeting the HIV-1 envelope. There are currently only two classes of drugs available against the HIV-1 envelope; maraviroc that antagonizes the co-receptor CCR5 and enfuvirtide that inhibits the viral envelope from fusing to the cell membrane (99, 216).

Pathogenesis of HIV-1

Life cycle of HIV-1

In order to better understand HIV-1 pathogenesis, it is important to briefly review the HIV-1 replicative cycle, which is separated into several steps. The first step is the binding of viral Env to their primary receptor, CD4 molecules, expressed on the host cell surface. Binding of primary receptor triggers a conformational change to the SU and exposes the viral co-receptor binding sites (140). The binding of viral Env to its coreceptor, either the CCR5 or CXCR4 chemokine receptor depending on the tropism of the respective virus strain, activates additional conformational changes in the TM that permits fusion of the virus-host cell membrane and releases the viral core into the cytoplasm (258). Subsequently, the vRNA will undergo reverse transcription to complete the synthesis of the double stranded viral DNA and follow by the uncoating of viral core. Formation of the PIC will transport the newly synthesized vDNA into the nucleus, which will then integrate into the host chromosome to form the provirus. This process can be completed within 36-48 hrs post-infection (400). Many host proteins are involved in these early replication steps (115). For example, cyclophilin A is necessary for the uncoating of viral core (231).

The generation of new virions begins with transcription of the provirus and translation of viral genes using the host cellular machineries. The Tat protein enhances the transcription of viral genes by binding to TAR as described earlier. This process yield full-length viral transcripts, some are alternatively spliced by the cellular mRNA splicing machineries into smaller viral transcripts. As described earlier, some viral proteins are encoded in separate exons. The viral proteins Tat, Rev and Nef are translated from doubly spliced viral mRNA; while Vpu, Vpr, Vif and Env are translated from singly spliced viral mRNA. The major structural protein Gag-Pol is translated directly from the unspliced full-length viral transcript. Since the splice sites of HIV-1 are not efficiently utilized, some full-length unspliced viral mRNA will be retained and serve as the new viral template. The unspliced and multiply spliced viral mRNA are then transported by Rev into the cytoplasm for translation. The viral structural proteins, such as the Gag-Pol precursor polypeptide, are produced first and are the most abundant. These structural proteins are trafficked to the site of assembly, namely the plasma membrane, and initiate virion assembly (280). The new viral templates are incorporated into the nucleocapsid.

Finally, the fully assembled virion buds from the host cell as an immature and noninfectious virion via the ESCRT pathway as described earlier (390). The subsequent proteolytic cleavage of Gag by PR triggers the morphological maturation of the HIV-1 and form the infectious virion.

Transmission

Transmission is the first step in HIV-1 pathogenesis and can occur by multiple routes. HIV-1 can be transmitted by exposure to blood or blood-related products from infected individuals. Intravenous drug users have the highest risk for infection by this transmission route. Over 50% of intravenous drug users are infected with HIV-1 in developing countries, for example Estonia and Mauritius. Even in developed countries, Canada for example, HIV-1 prevalence rate is near 6% among intravenous drug users (3). Nearly 80% of HIV-1 transmissions in adults are due to unprotected sexual contact with infected individuals via mucosal routes, such as rectal or vagina (2). The mucosal route is the most common among homosexual and heterosexual couples. It was estimated that homosexual couples have 10 fold higher infections risk than heterosexual couples, which could be due to physiological differences between the rectum and vagina (375). Since these two routes involve transmission of the virus between non-mother-child relationship individuals, they are classified as horizontal transmission. HIV-1 can also be transmitted vertically from the mother to her child, which can occur during pregnancy, delivery or breast-feeding. Nearly 0.4 million children were infected by HIV-1 through mother-tochild transmission in 2009 (2). Although the exact mechanism is unclear, the fetus appears to be infected by the virus that crosses the placenta barrier in-utero or the newborn may come in contact with infected maternal blood during delivery or via breast
milk after delivery. It is known that HIV-1 infected cells and cell-free viruses are present in breast milk with vRNA concentrations ranging from 240 to over 900 copies per ml (228). This highlights the importance to stop breast-feeding in HIV-1 positive mothers. The use of formula for newborns together with administration of antiretroviral therapy drugs to HIV-1 infected pregnant women is highly effective in preventing perinatal transmission; optimistically, it is anticipated that mother-to-child transmission might be eliminated in the near future (3, 60, 368).

Despite these various transmission routes, HIV-1 has low transmissibility. For example, successful heterosexual transmission only occurs after numerous extensive exposures to the virus, as shown by studies on commercial sex workers (100, 112, 404). Also, only an estimated 30% of the children born to HIV-1 positive mothers are infected in the absence of antiretroviral therapy (10, 85). Some data even implies that exposure to infected blood products may not result in HIV-1 infection (209). Together, these reports suggest that HIV-1 has a low efficiency in establishing infection during transmission. Many factors such as the virus concentration of the donor, integrity of the mucosal membrane, chronic inflammation, defective viral genes and other host genetic factors could all determine the transmissibility of HIV-1. Studies show that individuals with a homozygous 32 nucleotide deletion in their CCR5 gene display remarkable resistance to HIV-1 infection (236). The importance of this gene mutation in HIV-1 transmissibility is best demonstrated when a HIV-1 patient, who has high viral load during chemotherapy, maintained an undetectable viral load without antiretroviral therapy after receiving stemcell transplant from a CCR5-delta-32 donor (176). This mutation is present in approximately 15% of the Caucasian population but rare in Africans and Asians (328).

Even after the initial transmission event, HIV-1 still has a number of significant barriers towards establishing an infection. Following an initial infection, mucosal transmission is usually established by a small founder population, which suggests a bottleneck exists for the invading HIV-1 (6, 143, 196, 326). Moreover, viruses with certain phenotypes, such as fewer PNGS and neutralization resistance towards the maternal antibodies are preferentially selected to cross this bottleneck (93, 417, 420). Importantly, this genetic bottleneck also occurs during SIV mucosal transmission models and is correlated with low-dose, but not high-dose inoculum, which mimics transmission in humans (262, 350, 364). The fact that this bottleneck was not observed in blood-borne transmission suggests the mucosal components, such as cell types and membranes, may be accountable for the genetic bottleneck (22). There are still controversies surrounding the transmitted virus phenotypes with no definitive conclusions. Many groups, including our own, are actively investigating this issue.

Infection

After the transmission event, viruses that had overcome the mucosal barriers will come in contact with their target cells and commence the infection cycle. Importantly, regardless of the transmission route, HIV-1 tends to converge on the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT) of the gastrointestinal tract as it contains the majority of the CD4⁺ lymphocyte that are susceptible to HIV-1 infection (269). Targeting the gut tissue was reportedly due to the specific affinity of HIV-1 gp120 for the gut homing receptor $\alpha 4\beta 7$, which are expressed on gut associated CD4⁺ T cells (73). Although dendritic cells cannot be productively infected by HIV-1 due to the host restriction factor SAMHD-1, Langerhans' cells in these tissues can facilitate the spread of HIV-1 by transporting the

virus to uninfected T-cells (20, 218). As mentioned earlier, CD4 is the primary receptor for HIV-1 and can be found on T-lymphocytes, macrophages and certain populations of dendritic cells. However, it is not indispensable as some HIV-1 isolates are CD4independent or use CD8 as their primary receptor, but those are rare exceptions (323, 324, 435, 436). HIV-1 infection also requires the presence of co-receptors CCR5 or CXCR4, which can be found on macrophages and T-lymphocytes. Virus isolates that use CXCR4 are exclusively T-lymphocytes tropic and form syncytium, while those that use CCR5 can infect macrophages as well as T-lymphocytes and non-syncytium inducing. Primary viral isolates from early transmission are predominantly CCR5 tropic (236). On the contrary, the emergence of CXCR4 tropic and CXCR4/CCR5 dual tropic viruses are associated with an advanced course of disease and faster progression to AIDS (49, 200, 214). Additionally, CXCR4 tropic viruses replicate faster than CCR5 tropic variants in culture (16, 64, 376, 391). It is still not fully understood why the virus switches its coreceptor tropism from CCR5 during early infection to CXCR4 during late infection. Presumably, the availability of CCR5 target cells decreases at the late course of disease and hence selects for the expansion of CXCR4 tropic viruses. It has been suggested that gp120 may evolve into a more open structure, which could accommodate the CXCR4 structure upon disease progression.

After locating the target cell, the virus binds and enters host cells, as described earlier, and eventually is integrated into the host chromosomes. Once integrated, the virus can undergo replication or remain latent. Latency is the most critical issue for all HIV-1 therapies. During latency, very little or no viral proteins are expressed. This provides a vital advantage for the virus by allowing it to remain undetectable by the host immune surveillance. Latent HIV-1 can be found in resting memory CD4⁺ T cells as well as hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPCs). However, data on HPCs is still controversial (52, 72). These latent HIV-1 reservoirs can remain stable for extended period of time, making the eradication of HIV-1 impossible with current treatment strategies (356, 365). Moreover, viruses with drug resistance mutations that evolved in patients on HAART might enter latency and reactivate during therapy interruption, contributing to the spread of drug resistant HIV-1 strains (188). The exact mechanism that regulates HIV-1 latency is still unclear. Given that HIV-1 is integrated into the host genome, it is subjected to the same regulatory mechanisms, such as DNA methylation and histone acetylation, as the host. Recent studies also suggest that additional TFBS within the HIV-1 LTR promoter region enhance the establishment of latency (104). Since the current antiretroviral drugs cannot eradicate latent HIV-1, new classes of drugs are being actively pursued to purge the latent reservoirs in order to achieve a cure of HIV-1 infection. For example, prostratin can reactivate latent HIV-1 in the presence of HAART (212). However, drug toxicity and reactivation of other latent viruses, such as herpesviruses, remain the major obstacles for the development of these drugs (40).

Disease progression

Following the infection of GALT, viruses that did not enter latency begin replication and produce localized infections involving relatively small number of cells. Studies from the SIV model demonstrated this process occurs near the site of entry within 3 days of initial infection (262). This stage is known as the eclipse phase of disease progression and might last for an average of 10 days (Fig 2A) (233). During this stage, the viral load is usually below the detection limit and has no detectable HIV-1 specific host immune responses. Without any host immune constraints, viral replication continues to generate new virions at these localized infection sites, resulting in massive losses of gut-associated CD4⁺ T cell (399). Eventually, the HIV-1 infected cells and virions begin to migrate towards the lymph nodes, possibly with assistance from dendritic cells as mentioned earlier.

Through the lymphatic network, HIV-1 disseminates systematically and the viral replication increases exponentially as it gains access to other CD4⁺ T cells in the body. This resulted in detectable viral load in the peripheral blood and the start of the acute phase of infection. This acute phase takes place ~ 30 days post-infection and is marked by a peak viremia of $\sim 10^6$ copies/ml of vRNA from blood (Fig 2A). It is also accompanied by decreasing (but still within the normal range) of CD4⁺ T-cell counts (Fig 2B). The viral load and CD4⁺ T-cell counts are the standard benchmarks for determining disease progression in HIV-1 infections. When the CD4⁺ T-cell count falls to <200 cells/ul, the patient is considered to have AIDS as defined by the CDC (338). The high viremia during the acute phase also elicits host immune responses. Acute phase often coincide with the surge of inflammatory cytokines such as interferon- α (359). In addition, natural-killer (NK) cells are also activated (9). Simultaneously, activation of $CD8^+$ T cells denotes the beginning of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) responses (142). However, the effectiveness of CTL responses is dependent on the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) type of the infected individual. Some HLA types, such as HLA-B*27 and 57, are associated with protection against HIV-1, whereas others such as HLA-B*35 and 51 are associated with disease progression (50, 51, 194). The increase in viral antigens also elicits the host humoral responses. However, the antibodies produced at this stage are usually nonneutralizing (382). Due to immune activation, some infected individuals might experience flu-like symptoms or others such as body rashes and headache. These symptoms are usually short lived and resolved within a few weeks.

The activated immune system reduces the viral load to a significantly lower level and keeps it stable over extended periods of time. This establishes the viral set point and starts the chronic phase of infection (Fig 2A). Studies have also correlated a higher viral set point with rapid disease progression (259). The chronic phase of infection can last for years without any significant disease symptoms. It is during this period that the host immune system goes into over drive, as it continuously tries to detect and eliminate cellfree viruses or HIV-1 infected cells. The host humoral response produces abundant nonneutralizing antibodies against HIV-1. However, some studies suggest that nonneutralizing antibodies might still exert significant pressure on the virus by inducing antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (166, 388). Importantly, HIV-1 specific neutralizing antibodies first appear after chronic exposure to viral antigens (98, 332). This is due to the time between antigen recognition and antibody affinity maturation. Neutralizing antibodies primarily target the HIV-1 envelope and are predominantly IgGs (30). It is difficult to elicit high level of broadly neutralizing antibodies that recognize various HIV-1 strains and are found in ~1% of infected individuals (357). In response to the humoral response, the viral envelope evolves mutations, for example changes in PNGS or length of their variable loops, to escape neutralization. Recently, a tier system was proposed to classify the neutralization sensitivity of HIV-1 envelopes, with tier 1 being the most neutralization sensitive (344). Beside the humoral response, CTL is also active during the chronic stage and contributes significantly towards maintaining a stable viral load, as shown by SIV experiments with depleted $CD8^+$ T cells (116).

Despite the various immune responses, $CD4^+$ T-cell counts continue to decline throughout the chronic phase and the patient enters the AIDS phase as they fall to <200 cells/ul (Fig 2A). At this point, chronic immune activation has exhausted most of the $CD4^+$ T cell populations. Consequently, viremia rebounds sharply and the collapse of the immune system occurs. Furthermore, opportunistic infections, such as PCP, begin to develop in these patients. In rare cases, infected patients do not progress to AIDS for over 10 years. These patients have low to undetectable viral load and remain healthy without any antiretroviral treatments. These individuals are known as long-term non-progressors (LTNP) or elite controllers, opposed to rapid progressors who progressed to AIDS. Host genetic factors, such as HLA type and *CCR5*-delta-32, are believed to be critical in these cases. Detailed functional changes to the HIV-1 envelope during the entire disease progression are not well established in general. Most studies only focused on the acute phase or the neutralizing characteristics of the envelopes. Data from this dissertation will contribute towards our understanding of this issue.

Non-human primate models

SIV and SHIV models

Non-human primate models are an invaluable resource for many biomedical studies. It has broadened our understanding of numerous infectious diseases and facilitated the developments of life-saving vaccines, drugs and therapeutic procedures. Since the discovery of SIV infection in macaques, non-human primates have been an important model for modeling HIV-1 disease progression. Among the various non-human primate species, rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*), cynomolgus macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*) and pigtailed macaques (*Macaca nemestrina*) are most commonly used. They share similar physiology, anatomy, genes and immune system as human. Macaque's close phylogenetic relationships with humans also made them an ideal human surrogate. Although HIV-1 is derived from chimpanzee, it is a highly endangered species and not a viable research model. On the other hand, macaques are readily available as they can be bred in captivity for research purposes. Macaque's relatively short life span, compared to human, allows studying of disease progression in a reasonable time frame, which might otherwise takes years or decades to develop. Because of its vital role in research, tremendous resources were invested to sequence the complete genome of rhesus macaques, which is now available for researchers (136).

Non-human primates are the natural host of SIV. Surprisingly, most naturally infected monkeys do not progress to AIDS despite high plasma viral load (11, 312). The abilities for naturally infected monkeys to rapidly control their immune activation after infection, reduces the chronic immune activation and preservation of immune cells, marks some of its differences from animals experimentally infected with SIV from other species (36, 186). The precise factors involved are not fully understood, but many hypotheses have been proposed (57). Macaques will only progress to AIDS after infection by SIV from another species (225). Importantly, the infected monkeys experience massive loss of CD4⁺ T cells, high viral load, susceptible to opportunistic infections and eventual progression to AIDS; comparable to the HIV-1 disease progression in human (232, 399, 403). Similar to human, some macaques have monkey

leukocyte antigen (MLA) types, such as Mamu-A*01, Mamu-B*08 and 17, that are associated with slower disease progression (159, 237). SIV shares similar genomic structure, viral proteins, and functions when compare to HIV-1. Moreover, SIV are predominantly CCR5 usage, as with the majority of primary HIV-1 isolates, and target the same susceptible cell populations as HIV-1 (63, 199, 443). To avoid host immune suppressions, SIV utilizes the same evasion mechanisms as HIV-1, such as the modification of envelope PNGS pattern and mutations of Gag CTL epitopes (56, 144). These similarities make SIV an ideal model for understanding disease progression in HIV-1 infected patients. Furthermore, homogenous SIV population can be used to infect the macaques under a controlled environment via any choice of transmission routes and dosages. The infected animals can be monitored closely and samples collected frequently. All these variable experimental conditions and procedures are impossible to perform on humans. By using this animal model, we have expanded our knowledge of HIV-1 from the viral protein functions to disease transmission and progression (255, 261, 288, 408). For example, the SIV infection model has contributed the most towards our understanding of viral escape from neutralizing antibodies and CTL responses during infection (106, 144, 418). Additionally, this animal model has broad applications with respect to developing an effective HIV-1 vaccine (284, 285). Recently, the SIV infection model was used to mimic the RV-44 Thai HIV vaccine trial study, in hopes of understanding the limited protective results observed in that clinical trial (289).

Regardless of the close similarities between HIV-1 and SIV, their envelopes possess several important conformational differences (286). This is supported by reports showing that neutralizing antibodies against HIV-1 cannot cross-neutralize SIV (434). To overcome these issues, the *tat*, *rev*, *vpu* and *env* genes of HIV-1 were inserted into the molecular clone SIVmac239 to create the chimeric virus, SHIV (353). Unfortunately, the early versions of SHIV are non-pathogenic in animals (226, 308). The first pathogenic SHIV, SHIV-89.6P, which causes AIDS in the infected animals, was achieved after invivo passages in several macaques (307). Using this SHIV model, the protective effect of passively transferred antibodies against HIV-1 was first demonstrated (429). It provides evidence that humoral responses can be used to develop an anti-HIV-1 vaccine. Others have utilized this model to examine the HIV-1 envelope evolution during disease progression (31). Despite the success of these SHIVs, there were concerns that the rapid course of disease after infection may not represent the normal HIV-1 disease progression in human (307). Moreover, these SHIVs were generated with lab-adapted HIV-1 strains, which are clade B CXCR4 tropic and do not reflect the CCR5 tropic primary isolates (307). To this end, new SHIVs that express clade B CCR5 tropic envelopes were generated (152, 276). To further improve the existing model, our collaborators generated a R5 SHIV-C that expresses a CCR5 tropic clade C primary isolate envelope from a Zambian infant (172, 358). This SHIV-C model is the first clade C SHIV that was pathogenic in monkeys and infected animals progressed to AIDS. These new and improved SHIV models are now employed in various vaccines and mucosal transmissions studies (131, 219, 272).

Simian-tropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (stHIV-1) model

SIV and SHIV infections of non-human primates are beneficial models for HIV-1 research. However, the lack of important HIV-1 genes, such as *gag* and *pol*, created some intrinsic disadvantages for these models. The lack of HIV-1 *gag* gene renders these models unsuitable for testing anti-HIV-1 vaccines that elicit CTL responses, which mainly target the Gag protein. In addition, certain antiretroviral drugs, such as NNRTI, have no effect on the SIV RT (84). A new animal model utilizing the simian-tropic HIV-1 (stHIV-1) infection of pigtailed macaques was proposed to address these issues (153, 189). Unlike SHIV, stHIV-1 maintains the majority of HIV-1 genes with the exception of *vif*, which is replaced by its SIV equivalent.

HIV-1 is non-pathogenic in non-human primates due to the host restriction factors, APOBEC3G and TRIM5 α , present in the monkeys (127). Both factors must be overcome for successful infection of monkeys by the stHIV-1 (244, 366). As described earlier, the activities of APOBEC3G is highly species specific, where the monkey APOBEC3G can only be inhibited by the SIV Vif (33). Thus, the replacement of HIV-1 Vif by SIV Vif is needed to overcome the monkey APOBEC3G restriction and allow stHIV-1 infection of monkey cell lines (154, 180). TRIM5 α is a member of the tripartite motif (TRIM) family of proteins that consists of the RING, B-Box, Coiled-Coil and SPRY domains. Although its normal cellular function is unclear, TRIM5 α was implicated in the regulation of cell cycle as well as apoptosis (201, 389). Additionally, evidence suggest that the primary function of TRIM5 α is mounting antiviral responses, as its expression level is interferon inducible (15). Importantly, the restriction effect of TRIM5 α is also species-specific as the monkey TRIM5 α inhibits HIV-1 but not SIV and vice versa in human (195, 366). TRIM5 α may inhibit viral infection by accelerating the uncoating of the viral core in the cytoplasm (367), thereby, disrupting the reverse transcription process and preventing the formation of vDNA. Interestingly, pigtailed macaques express two non-functional TRIM5 α isoforms that render it susceptible to

HIV-1 infection (38). Hence, stHIV-1 overcomes the APOBEC3G and TRIM5 α restrictions by using the pigtailed macaques as its host animal. Evidence from *in-vitro* studies showed that stHIV-1 can infect pigtailed macaque PBMC and maintain similar replication kinetics as SIV (377).

Unfortunately, the success of *in-vitro* stHIV-1 infection was not translated into disease progression *in-vivo* (153, 377). Despite the detection of viral DNA in the PBMC, the infected animals displayed no significant decrease in CD4⁺ T-cell count and co-culture with uninfected donor macaque PBMC was unable to rescue any viable viruses (377). These observations confirmed the establishment of infection by stHIV-1, but underscored its inability to induce AIDS in pigtailed macaques. These discrepancies between the *in-vitro* and *in-vivo* data suggest that certain HIV proteins, such as Nef, may not be adequate to maintain pathogenicity in monkeys and needs to be replaced by their SIV counterpart. More research will be needed to explain this low pathogenicity of stHIV-1, and stHIV-1 needs to be optimized before it can be used as an animal model for HIV-1 infection of human.

Research aims

The HIV-1 envelope is the major target for developing an anti-HIV-1 vaccine. However, the high viral diversity presents a major problem for designing an effective vaccine. An effective vaccine must stimulate immune responses against a broad range of viral populations, including viruses that will evolve during disease progression. Therefore, a better understanding of how the HIV-1 envelope V1-V5 region evolved during disease progression is critical. Unfortunately, it is nearly impossible to study this issue in humans due to numerous logistical and ethical constraints. Hence, an animal model that closely mirrors HIV-1 disease progression in humans is needed. Additionally, this animal model needs to allow the infection to be established by a homologous virus population under a controlled environment and infected animals must be monitored over the entire disease course. Moreover, HIV-1 clade C is the predominant strain in sub-Saharan Africa where over 70% of the HIV-1 infected patients reside. Thus, it will be important to study and characterize the HIV-1 clade C envelope.

The main objective of this dissertation was to investigate the evolution of HIV-1 clade C envelope V1-V5 region during disease progression. Our approach was to infect non-human primates with SHIV, which expresses the gp120 of a HIV-1 clade C primary isolate derived from the infected Zambia infant 1157i, and monitor the infected animals throughout the course of disease.

Specific aim one was to establish the validity of this non-human primate model by comparing the longitudinal genetic variations of the envelope clones, V1-V5 region, derived from the infected animals and patient over the disease course, and correlate the observed genetic mutations with disease progression. Specific aim two was to determine the longitudinal changes in the biological functions of these envelope clones at various disease stages and correlation with disease progression.

We hypothesized that the infection of non-human primate with SHIV-C would resemble the HIV-1 disease progression in patient. The genetic evolution of the envelope V1-V5 region that occurs in the infected animals may mirror those observed in patient and correlate with disease progression. In addition, the envelope clones derived from the later stages of disease may possess different biological characteristics, such as faster kinetics or better fusion capability, compared to those present at earlier disease stages.

Figures and Figure legends





Figure 1. Schematics of the genomic structure of (A) HIV-1 (B) SIV and (C) SHIV. Each rectangular bar represents an encoded protein, with the exception of 5' and 3' LTR which are non-coding regulatory regions. Yellow indicate genes derived from HIV-1. Diagrams are not drawn to scale. The entire genome is generally ~9.5 kb nucleotide in length.





Figure 2. Different disease stages of HIV-1 infection. (A) Plasma viral RNA load (B)

 $\mbox{CD4}^+\mbox{ T-cell count.}$ The days or years post-infection presented are estimates.

Chapter 2

A comparative study of HIV-1 clade C *env* evolution in a Zambian infant with an infected rhesus macaque during disease progression

For Yue Tso^a, Federico G. Hoffmann^{a,†}, Damien C. Tully^a, Philippe Lemey^d, Robert A. Rasmussen^{b,c}, Hong Zhang^a, Ruth M. Ruprecht^{b,c} and Charles Wood^{a*}

^aNebraska Center for Virology and the School of Biological Sciences, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Nebraska 68588; ^bDana-Farber Cancer Institute and ^cHarvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, 02115; ^dRega Institute for Medical Research, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Minderbroedersstraat 10, 3000 Leuven, Belgium

*Corresponding author

Mailing address: Nebraska Center for Virology, School of Biological Sciences, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Morrison Center P.O. Box 830666, Lincoln, NE 68583-0900

Phone: (402) 472-4550; Fax: (402) 472-3323; E-mail: cwood@unlnotes.unl.edu

† Present address: Instituto Carlos Chagas-FIOCRUZ, Curitiba, Paraná, Brazil.

Data from this chapter was published in AIDS 2009, 23:1817–1828

Abstract

Objective: To evaluate whether HIV-1 clade C (HIV-C) envelope variations that arise during disease progression in rhesus macaque model reflect changes that occur naturally in human infection.

Design: An infant macaque was infected with SHIV-1157i, an R5 tropic clade C SHIV, that expresses a primary HIV-C envelope derived from an infected human infant and monitored over a 5-year period. Genetic variation of the V1–V5 envelope region, which is the main target for humoral immune responses, derived from the infected macaque and infant was examined.

Methods: The V1–V5 envelope region was cloned and sequenced from longitudinal peripheral blood mononuclear cell samples collected from the infected macaque and infant. Phylogenetic analysis [phylogenetic tree, diversity, divergence, ratio of nonsynonymous (dN) and synonymous substitution (dS) and dN distribution] was performed. Plasma RNA viral load, CD4⁺ T-cell count, changes in the length of V1–V5 region, putative N-linked glycosylation site number and distribution were also measured.

Results: Phylogenetic analysis revealed that changes in the macaque closely reflected those of the infant during disease progression. Similar distribution patterns of dN and hot spots were observed between the macaque and infant. Analysis of putative N-linked glycosylation sites revealed several common variations between the virus populations in the two host species. These variations correlate with decline of CD4 T-cell count in the macaque and might be linked with disease progression. **Conclusion:** SHIV-C infection of macaque is a relevant animal model for studying variation of primary HIV-C envelope during disease progression and could be used to analyze the selection pressures that are associated with those changes.

Introduction

The V1–V5 region of HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein is the focus of numerous studies because of its critical role in viral pathogenesis and immune evasion (130, 133, 322, 333, 362, 379, 405). Because of its hypervariable nature, the majority of the potential vaccines targeting the envelope have thus far failed to elicit sterilizing immunity against heterologous viral challenge in animal studies and human clinical trials (111, 137, 147, 251, 294, 305, 428). Thus, it is important to better understand the changes of the V1–V5 region that occur during the course of disease and the factors that contribute to these changes.

Non-human primate models that utilize SHIV (156, 192, 240, 308, 354, 401) had been used to study clade B and laboratory-adapted strain envelope variants during the course of disease (31, 165, 208). It has been suggested that there is a close similarity in the envelope evolution during SHIV infection of nonhuman primates and HIV-1 infection of humans; similar envelope mutations were observed over time in a laboratory worker accidentally infected with HIV-1 IIIB and a macaque experimentally infected with a SHIV expressing the identical envelope (24, 165). However, HIV-1 IIIB is an X4 laboratory-adapted clade B virus whose envelope evolution may not be representative of that of R5 tropic primary isolates, and only a small number of sequences from both the macaque and human were analyzed. Several studies have also indicated that the env of different HIV-1 clades can evolve differently under selective pressure (71, 130, 203). To adequately determine if SHIV infection of macaques is a viable model for assessing envelope evolution, SHIV constructs using env from recently transmitted and biologically relevant primary HIV-1 isolates must be tested. The evolutionary biology of the R5 SHIV-C in this current study, SHIV-1157i, represents such a virus.

We have been following a cohort of mostly HIV-C infected mother/infant pairs in Lusaka, Zambia. Among them, infant 1157i, a slow progressor, was followed prospectively, and viruses derived longitudinally from the infant have been extensively characterized (438). SHIV-1157i was generated with an R5 tropic env derived from infant 1157i at the age of 6 months. An infant macaque was infected with SHIV-1157i and monitored through disease progression until it died from AIDS after approximately 5 years (172, 358). Over this period, we tracked the changes of the V1–V5 region from the time of inoculation to euthanasia of the infected macaque. Together with data previously gathered for infant 1157i, we were able to compare the genetic variation of the V1–V5 region of this particular primary clade C isolate during disease progression in both species (438).

As our study utilized a clade C primary R5 tropic env instead of an X4 laboratoryadapted clade B strain and we analyzed over 300 viral envelope sequences, our investigation represents a more in-depth comparison of viral evolution during disease progression. This study has provided a unique opportunity to identify potential envelope mutations in the infected macaque, which may associate with and predict future disease progression in the infected infant.

Materials and methods

Construction of SHIV-1157i

SHIV-1157i contains env of a primary HIV-C isolate from a 6-month-old Zambian infant 1157i. PuvI (P) was introduced into the 3' half of SHIV-vpu⁺ proviral DNA. The 2.0-kb KpnI (K)-PuvI fragment of HIV1157i was amplified to replace the corresponding region of SHIV-vpu⁺ *env*. The modified 3' half was ligated with the 5' half of SHIV-vpu⁺ proviral DNA to form full-length SHIV-1157i (Fig. 1a) (172, 358).

Animals and animal care

An infant Indian rhesus macaque (Macaca mulatta), RPn-8, was inoculated intravenously with 6 ml cell-free supernatant from 293T cells transfected with the infectious molecular clone, SHIV-1157i, and followed prospectively with complete blood counts, T-cell subset analyses, viral RNA load determinations, and clinical exams (172). This animal was kept according to National Institutes of Health guidelines on the care and use of laboratory animals at the Yerkes National Primate Research Center (YNPRC). The facility is fully accredited by the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International. All experiments were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committees of the YNPRC and the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute.

Plasma viral RNA load

RNA was isolated from plasma using QiaAmp Viral Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, California, USA), and vRNA loads were measured by quantitative reverse transcriptase

PCR for SIV gag sequences (164). The detection limit was 50 viral RNA copies/ml plasma (172).

PCR, cloning and sequencing

Sample collection, cloning and sequencing of infant 1157i V1–V5 env region have been described previously (438, 439). Genomic DNA of infected macaque peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) was extracted from 6, 20, 37, 50 and 64 month postinoculation samples using Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Gentra Systems, Valencia, California, USA). Nested PCR was used to amplify a 1.1 kb fragment spanning the V1–V5 env region. First-round PCR was performed with the primers ENF1 (5' GATGCATGAGGATATAATCAGTTTATGGGA 3') and ENR1 (5' ATTGATGCTGCGCCCATAGTGCT 3'). Second-round PCR was performed with the primers 1157i-DraIII (5' TTGACTCCACTCTGTGTCACTTTAAAG 3') and 1157i-AvrII-AS (5' TGCTATTCCTAGGGGCTTGATTTCTAC 3'). To minimize PCR bias, first-round PCR products were generated in duplicate and combined to be used as templates for the second-round PCR. Amplified fragments were cloned into pSP72 NL4-3 AS-Av after digestion with DraIII and AvrII and sequenced with dideoxy terminators

(ABI BigDye Kit).

Sequence analysis

Sequence alignment was carried out on the translated amino-acid sequence in ClustalW (378), as implemented in BioEdit 7.0.9.0. Neighbor-joining phylogenetic analyses were done in MEGA (Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis) using the Kimura 2-parameter distance to explore genealogical relationships among infant 1157i and macaque RPn-8 V1–V5 sequences, and support for the nodes was evaluated with bootstrap.

Variations in genetic diversity, genetic divergence, the number and location of putative N-linked glycosylation sites (PNGSs) and the length of the V1–V5 fragment were analyzed. Viral genetic diversity was estimated as the average nucleotide difference between sequences within a contemporaneous set, and genetic divergence was calculated as the average genetic distance to the earliest viral population collected for the human or macaque. The number and location of PNGSs were estimated using N-GlycoSite from the Los Alamos National Laboratory.

The instantaneous rates of nonsynonymous (dN) and synonymous substitutions (dS) were compared to evaluate the role of natural selection. Estimates of dN, dS, and dN/dS for each time point were obtained in Datamonkey using the Fixed Effects Likelihood procedure (204).

Results

HIV1157i and SHIV-1157i infection courses

The HIV-C V1–V5 region used to construct SHIV-1157i was derived from a cloned viral isolate of infant 1157i obtained at 6 months. This child was infected *in utero*, delivered naturally with normal birth weight and breast-fed till 20 months old. Both the child and his mother were antiretroviral drug naive. Infant 1157i is designated as a slow progressor as he remained clinically asymptomatic throughout the study period, with a CD4⁺ T-cell count of 811 cells/ul at approximately 8 years. Analyses of viral isolates from this infant have been published previously (438), and the viral sequences are included here for comparison.

SHIV-1157i was constructed as described (Fig. 1a) (358) and inoculated intravenously into the infant macaque RPn-8. Systemic infection was achieved after inoculation with a plasma viral RNA load of approximately 3.7×10^4 copies/ml detected at 2 weeks postinoculation and remained at approximately 1.0×10^4 copies/ml or higher for most of the study period (Fig. 1b). CD4⁺ T cells steadily declined over time, reaching less than 200 cells/ul at approximately 28 months postinoculation (Fig. 1c) and remained low till euthanasia at 64 months postinoculation because of AIDS, as characterized by opportunistic infections (172). PBMCs were collected longitudinally throughout the study, and samples from 6, 20, 37, 50 and 64 months postinoculation were selected for analysis. The V1–V5 region was cloned and sequenced. A total of 161 V1–V5 *env* clones were obtained from all time points, approximately 32 clones per time point.

Phylogenetic relationship among V1–V5 sequences from macaque and human

The neighbor-joining phylogeny clustered all envelope sequences derived from the infected macaque in a monophyletic clade (Fig. 2), consistent with the fact that they all derived from a single infectious molecular clone, SHIV-1157i. Both the macaque and infant portions of the tree resemble the idealized trees expected for viruses evolving under continuous immune pressure (148). Sequences collected at later time points concentrated on the longer branches of the tree. The distribution of sequences from later time points indicates that the phylogenetic structure of the tree is more complicated in the infant than in the macaque. Infant sequences from the 67-month time point are scattered throughout the tree, with some sequences clustered with earlier lineages. In contrast, all macaque sequences from the last time point were found in a monophyletic clade.

Longitudinal variation in diversity and divergence

Constraints within the viral *env* may hamper certain amino acid changes, regardless of any unique selective pressure by the individual host species, because of the cost to replicative fitness of the virus. As such, *env* changes we observed in infant 1157i during viral evolution may be similarly reflected in the macaque. To determine whether longitudinal variations of the V1–V5 region in isolates from RPn-8 and 1157i have similarities, we compared changes in the diversity and divergence of all viral populations sampled from each host. Viral genetic diversity measures the level of polymorphism found within a viral population at the nucleotide level, whereas divergence measures the differentiation of a population relative to the original strain. In the case of macaque, divergence was calculated relative to the sequence of the single clone inoculated experimentally, whereas in the infant, divergence was calculated as the average genetic distance between all sequences within the viral population at a given time point and all sequences from the viral population at birth.

Our results indicate that diversity and divergence followed similar trajectories in both the macaque and infant at early time points but differ at later time points (Fig. 3a and b). In the case of the infant, diversity increased quasimonotonically over time, reaching an average pair-wise distance of 4.3% at 67 months after birth. Diversity in the macaque increased in parallel with the infant for the first 20 months. Thereafter, diversity gradually leveled off, reached its peak of an average genetic distance of 2.8% in the population collected 50 months postinoculation and decreased slightly at the time of euthanasia (Fig. 3a).

Sequence divergence in the infant increased in parallel with its diversity until it reached its maximum of 3.6% at 48 months. This was ensued by a noticeable decrease to 2.7% at 67 months. This decrease in divergence coincided with the reemergence of viral lineages derived from earlier sequences shown by our phylogenetic results. Interestingly, divergence in the macaque increased monotonically throughout the study and reached 3.7% by 64 months postinoculation (Fig. 3b).

Synonymous and nonsynonymous changes in macaque and human

To evaluate the role played by natural selection, we compared the ratio of dN/dS (Fig. 3c). Briefly, dN/dS ratios are expected to be approximately 0 under strong purifying selection, approximately 1 under neutrality and more than 1 in cases in which positive Darwinian selection is the major evolutionary force driving variation in the gene studied. In the infant, the dN/dS ratio was more than 1 in the majority of the populations sampled,

ranging from 0.97 at 6 months to 1.44 at 67 months of age. In contrast, the dN/dS ratio in the macaque remained less than 1 till 50 months postinoculation during which it declined to 0.52. These data suggest that selective pressure was stronger in the infant than in the macaque. We then compared the distribution of these changes in the viral populations from the infant and macaque by plotting the number of observed dN per codon per time point (Fig. 3d). The comparison shows that despite the differences in the number of changes and selective pattern, amino-acid replacements accumulated in similar regions in the infant and macaque. These regions include the variable loops as well as the supposedly conserved C3 and C4 regions.

Longitudinal changes in the number of N-linked glycosylation sites in V1–V5

It has been suggested that lengthening of the V1–V5 region and an increase in PNGSs correlate with slower disease progression (31, 322). To see if this held true in our study, we examined the change in number of PNGSs in RPn-8 and found that it declined over time from 26 PNGSs present in the inoculum to a mean of 21 PNGSs by 37 months postinoculation (Table 1). This was followed by a gradual recovery to a mean of 25 PNGSs by 64 months postinoculation. The V1–V5 length in RPn-8 followed a similar trend (Table 1). In contrast to the macaque, variation in PNGSs and V1–V5 length in the infant showed no directional pattern.

In both the macaque and the infant, the majority of the PNGSs were distributed in identical regions, with 17 PNGSs in RPn-8 and 14 PNGSs in 1157i that were relatively conserved throughout the infection (Fig. 4a). These conserved PNGSs may have important roles in the structural integrity or receptor binding capability of envelope.

However, differences in PNGS do exist between the macaque and infant. The macaque had only nine PNGSs that were variable throughout the infection, compared with 12 PNGSs in the infant. Interestingly, six of these variable sites (N56, 100, 165, 208, 324 and 327) were identical between the macaque and infant.

The temporal dynamics of the variations in PNGSs was similar for both the infant and macaque. For instance, sites N100, 208, 324 and 327 fluctuated in both 1157i and RPn-8 over time. For site N56, changes in the infant were observed starting from 6 months. In comparison with the macaque, the identical PNGS was ablated at 37 months but gradually reemerged by 64 months postinoculation. Another site with similar changes between 1157i and RPn-8 is N165. Prevalence of the PNGS at N165 reached its lowest level by 36 months in the infant before remerging. Likewise, this site was reduced in the macaque at 20 months, but in contrast with the infant, this PNGS was completely ablated by 37 months postinoculation and never reemerged at later time points in the macaque. We also noticed a pattern unique to the macaque, in which the prevalence of several PNGSs, including N56, was reduced near 37-month postinoculation but gradually reemerged at later time points.

Discussion

In the present study, we compared changes in the V1–V5 envelope region in viral populations sampled longitudinally from an R5 SHIV-C-infected macaque with those from a Zambian infant. Longitudinal variation in sequence diversity and divergence in HIV-1 infection in humans has been intensely studied, and we found that SHIV infection in this macaque followed the general pattern described for HIV-1 infection in humans (347): an initial phase in which both diversity and divergence increased linearly up to the 20-month sampling interval; an intermediate phase in which diversity stabilized but divergence continued to increase up to the 50-month sampling interval; a late phase in which diversity decreased or stabilized from the 50-month sample onwards. Our sampling intervals did not allow us to precisely determine the time transitions between the different phases.

In humans naturally infected with HIV-1, differential rates of disease progression have been linked with viral genetic diversity and dN/dS ratios. In particular, higher dN/dS estimates appear to correlate with slower rates of disease progression, as is the case for having a higher number of sites inferred to be evolving under positive Darwinian selection or having high adaptation rates (317, 414). Estimates of genetic diversity and dN/dS were all higher in the infant, a slow progressor, which is in agreement with previous observations (250, 327, 385). These data suggest that ablation of the macaque's immune responses at later time points resulted in a drastic reduction of selective pressure on the viral populations. In comparison, the infant's immune status appears to be healthy and exert a significant selective pressure on the viral populations; in fact, the child remains asymptomatic at age 10 years. The distribution of dN along the V1–V5 region for the infant and macaque was located primarily within the variable loops. But our analysis also indicated an unexpected variable domain located in the α 2-helix of C3 in the infant and macaque viruses. Alterations within this domain correlate with low CD4 T-cell counts in the macaque, suggesting that it may contain an immune epitope and could affect the biological properties of the virus (264, 267, 316, 329, 335). This phenomenon could be clade specific, as the homologous region is reported to be more conserved in clade B (71, 130, 138, 264). As reported by other groups, emergence of deletions within V4 was also observed in the infant and macaque in this study (Fig. 4b) (24, 42, 165).

N-Glycosylation plays a critical role in immune evasion, and increases in the number of PNGSs have been linked with immune resistance (70, 93, 133, 405). Although we found no clear pattern of change for the number of PNGSs in the infant, we did observe an interesting pattern of decreasing PNGSs after inoculation and a gradual recovery at later time points in the macaque. Reductions of PNGS number in the macaque between 6 and 37 months postinoculation coincide with its rapid decline in CD4 T-cell count and the onset of AIDS. Whether the eventual recovery of PNGSs at the last time point is because of immune escape or increase in replication fitness is unclear (151, 278, 412, 421).

Besides sharing similar PNGS distribution patterns and hot spots, we observed several similar PNGS variations within viral populations of the infant and macaque. In particular, N56 that locates at the C-terminal of V2 and N165 that locates within C2. Alteration of PNGS at the C-terminal of V2 has been reported in animals infected by clade B SHIV (31, 165, 239). A recent study also demonstrated that removal of PNGS at this position increases HIV-1 89.6 sensitivity to neutralizing antibodies (230), thus suggesting that N56 could be a common immunological epitope for both clade B and C viruses (118, 369). It is surprising to find a variable PNGS, N165, within a constant region in the infant and macaque. Changes at this site coincide with the macaque's persistently low CD4 T-cell counts and were shown by others to affect the virus sensitivity to monoclonal antibodies (254, 358). Ablation of a similar site has also been reported in patients (405). It is possible that N165 is an immune epitope, and ablation of it might enhance the infectivity or kinetics of the escape viruses.

In order to eliminate the possibility that any of the clones were the result of invitro PCR recombination, phylogenetic analyses were performed to distinguish between PCR recombination and actual *in-vivo* recombination events. Briefly, with *in-vivo* recombination, one would observe an accumulation of mutations after a recombination event on a given branch within an estimated phylogeny. However, with PCR recombination, there would be no such additional substitutions on the recombinant branch, and therefore the clones would be nonunique and identical to parental clones. Application of this test revealed that a negligible number of clones were indeed generated by PCR recombination. In fact, only two and four clones were identified for the macaque and infant, respectively, that showed no additional substitutions along a branch in the estimated phylogeny (data not shown). Thus, PCR recombination occurred on a minor scale and did not adversely affect our analyses. Limiting dilution PCR (LDPCR) was not feasible in this study due to insufficient materials for most of the time points analyzed. Nevertheless, LDPCR was carried out on the last time point sampled of the macaque and revealed clones with similar phylogenetic distributions that were consistent with those

obtained by the regular PCR approach. No inherent differences were observed between the two procedures.

Taken together, our data suggest that genetic evolution of an R5 SHIV generated from the envelope of a primary isolate reflects changes that occur in HIV-1 during disease progression in the infected infant. The infected macaque has a relatively faster disease progression in comparison with the infant but a much slower disease progression compared with other SHIVs such as SHIV89.6P. This could be due to the differences in selection forces between the two species. Our data also imply that these changes occur in a compressed time frame since the infected macaque progressed to AIDS while the child has remained asymptomatic. Although there is no identical individual amino-acid mutation comparable with previously reported clade B studies, mutations do seem to occur in similar regions. In addition, even though it is difficult to make a direct comparison of the time course between human and macaque in disease progression, mutations observed in our infected macaque at later time points could be indicators of future disease progression in the child. A further understanding of factors that caused these genetic changes could provide beneficial insights for future HIV-1 vaccine designs, and the significance of these changes on the biological function of the envelope is currently under investigation. The caveat for our study is the small sample size, and the observation may be limited to this human and macaque pair. Nevertheless, this is a prospective study and the first study to our knowledge demonstrating the evolutionary similarity of a primary clade C envelope between a naturally infected human with an experimentally infected macaque. This study also reinforces the previous observation that HIV-1 envelope undergoes similar changes in human and monkey during disease progression (165).
Acknowledgements

This work was supported by PHS grants, CA75903, TW001429 and NCRR COBRE grant RR15635 to C.W.; P01AI48240 to R.M.R., C.W. and R.A.R.; R01 DE12937, R01 DE0160354 and R37AI34266 to R.M.R.; P.L. was supported by an FWO postdoctoral research fund.

F.Y.T performed experiments, analyzed data and wrote the manuscript. F.G.H, D.C.T., P.L. and H.Z. helped analyze data. R.A.R oversaw the animal aspects of the study. R.M.R. and C.W. oversaw all aspects of this project. All authors provided critical input on the manuscript.

Figures and Figure Legends



0 + 0

Months

Figure 1.

Ó

Months

Figure 1. (a) Pvu I (P) was introduced into the 3' half of SHIV-vpu⁺ (172) proviral DNA. The 2.0 kb KpnI-PvuI fragment of HIV1157i [spanning most of gp120 as well as the entire gp41 extracellular domain and the transmembrane region (TM)] was amplified to replace the corresponding region in the SHIV-vpu⁺ envelope. The modified 3' half of SHIV-vpu⁺ was ligated with the 5' half of SHIV-vpu⁺ proviral DNA to form the fulllength SHIV-1157i (172, 358). (b) Plasma viral RNA load and (c) absolute CD4⁺ T-cell counts in animal RPn-8 after viral inoculation.

Figure 2.



Figure 2. Consensus tree from a neighbor-joining bootstrap analysis showing phylogenetic relationships among viral samples derived from the longitudinal follow-up of the macaque (RPn-8, solid lines) and infant (1157i, dashed lines) in this study. Labels indicate the source and time of sample collection. For example, RPn-8 20M corresponds to viral sequences coming from the macaque and collected 20 months after inoculation. Cut-off value for the condensed tree was set at 75%.

Figure 3.



Figure 3. Changes in (a) genetic diversity and (b) divergence over time for infant 1157i and macaque RPn-8. Genetic diversity is calculated from the average number of nucleotide differences within a given time point. Genetic divergence is calculated from the average number of changes between each time point and the initial population. (c) nonsynonymous and synonymous (dN/dS) ratio over time for infant 1157i and macaque RPn-8. (d) Estimated number of observed nonsynonymous substitutions per codon within V1–V5 region in infant 1157i and macaque RPn-8. Results represented are cumulative of all time points for human or macaque. M represents either months of age in the human infant or months after inoculation in the macaque. Numbers on the horizontal axis correspond to amino-acid position within the sequence alignment. All variable loops and constant regions within the alignment are labeled.

Figure 4.

CNTSKLFNGTDNSTHMDTGNDTVITIPC	CALSKLFNGTDNSTHMDTGNDTVITIPC	CNTSKLFNGTDNSTVITIPC	CNTSKLFNDTHDGNDTVITIPC	CUTSKLFNGTDNSTUTIPC	CUTSKLFNDTDNNTGNDTV-TIPC	CUTSKLFNSTDNSTHTDTGNET-ITIPC	CUTSKLFNSTDNSTHTDTGNET-ITIPC	CUTSKLFNDTDNNTGNDTV-TIPC	CNTSKLFNSTDNSTHSTHTDTGNET-ITIPC	CNTSKLFNSTDNSTHRDTGNDTVITIQC	CNTSKLFNSTDNSTHTSTNSSTVITIQC	CNTSKLFNSTDNSTHVDAEKENGTFITIPC	CNTSKLFNGTDNSTHMDTGNDTVITIPC	CNTSKLFNGTDNSTHMDTGNDTVITIPC	UTSKLFNGTDNSTHMDTGNDTVITIPC	CNASKLFNSTDNSTGNDTVITLPC	CNTSKLFNSTDMGTGNDTVITLPC	CNTSKLFNSTDNSTGNDTVITLPC	CNTSKLFNDTGNSTDGTGNDTVITLPC	CNTSKLFNSTDNNTHIGTGNDT-ITLPC	CNTSKLFNGTGNSTHTGTGNDTVITLPC	DTSKLFNSTDNSTYTGTENDT-ITLPC	CDTSKLFNSTDNSTGNDTVITLPC	CDTSELFNDTGNSTDNSTGNDT-ITLPC	
B.1157i 00m_1-01	1157i 06m_1-01	1157i 06m_1-02	1157i 29m_01	1157i 29m_17	1157i 36m_1-01	1157i 36m_1-29	1157i 48m_1-02	1157i 48m_2-01	1157i 48m_2-13	1157i 67m_36	1157i 67m_37	1157i 67m_40	SHIV1157i	$RPn-8_06M_1$	$RPn-8_20M_4$	RPn-8_37M_1	RPn-8_37M_3	RPn-8_37M_S28	$RPn-8_50M_19$	$RPn-8_50M_32$	$RPn-8_50M_35$	RPn-8_64M_17	RPn-8_64M_21	RPn-8_64M_23	



65

Figure 4. (a) V1–V5 consensus sequence of infant 1157i at 0 month of age, and inoculation strain SHIV-1157i is shown. PNGSs within sequences from all time points were located as described. n represents relatively conserved PNGSs in macaque or human over time. N represents variable PNGSs in macaque or human over time. Common variable PNGSs between macaque and human are circled. Variable regions and constant regions are shown along the bottom of the sequences. (b) Sequence alignment of V4 in infant 1157i and macaque RPn-8 at different time points. Sequences were aligned using Bioedit 7.0.9.0. Sequences represented here are examples from each time points. These are not consensus sequences and do not represent all observed variations within V4.

Sample	и	V1 length	V2 length	C2 length	V3 length	C3 length	V4 length	C4 length	V5 length	Total V1-V5 length
1157i 00M 1157i 06M	31 29	21 (21–21) 23 (20–28)	42 (42–42) 42 (40–42)	(66-66) 66 (66-66) 66	35 (35–35) 35 (35–35)	52 (52–52) 52 (52–52)	28 (28–28) 25 (20–28)	40 (40–40) 40 (40–40)	15 (15–15) 15 (15–15)	332 (332–332) 331 (322–339)
1157i 29M	26	30 (22–38)	41 (39–43)	(66-66) 66	35 (35-35)	51 (50-52)	26 (20-28)	40 (40-40)	15 (15–15)	337 (329–349)
1157i 36M	26	31 (17–36)	42 (40-42)	66-66) 66	35 (35-35)	51 (50-52)	23 (20-28)	40 (40-40)	15 (15–15)	336 (319-344)
1157i 48M	25	32 (28–38)	41 (39–42)	(66-66) 66	35 (35–35)	52 (50-52)	27 (23–30)	40 (40-40)	14 (12–15)	340 (335–347)
1157i 67M	32	26 (22-49)	41 (40-42)	(66-66) 66	35 (35–35)	52 (50-52)	28 (27-30)	40 (40-40)	15 (13–15)	335 (327–362)
SHIV-1157i	-	22	42	66	35	52	28	40	15	333
RPn-8 06M	34	22 (22–22)	42 (42–42)	(66-66) 66	35 (35-35)	52 (52-52)	28 (28-28)	40 (40-40)	15 (15–15)	333 (333-333)
RPn-8 20M	31	21 (21–22)	42 (42-42)	66-66) 66	35 (35-35)	52 (52-52)	28 (28-28)	40 (40-40)	15 (15–15)	332 (332–333)
RPn-8 37M	30	22 (21–22)	39 (39–39)	(66-66) 66	35 (35-35)	52 (52-52)	26 (24-28)	40 (40-40)	15 (12–15)	327 (325–330)
RPn-8 50M	30	21 (15–27)	39 (39–39)	(66-66) 66	35 (35-35)	52 (52-52)	28 (24–28)	40 (40-40)	13 (13–15)	327 (320-334)
RPn-8 64M	36	28 (27–29)	39 (39–40)	66-66) 66	35 (35–35)	52 (52-52)	27 (24–28)	40 (40-40)	15 (14–15)	334 (331–337)
Sample	и	V1 PNGS	V2 PNGS	C2 PNGS	V3 PNGS	C3 PNGS	V4 PNGS	C4 PNGS	V5 PNGS	Total V1-V5 PNGS
1157i 00M	31	3 (3–3)	3 (2–3)	8 (7–8)	1 (1–1)	3 (2–3)	4 (3-4)	2 (1–2)	2 (2-2)	26 (25–26)
1157i 06M	29	3 (2-4)	3 (1–3)	7 (7–8)	1 (0-2)	3 (3–3)	4 (3-4)	2 (1–2)	2 (1–2)	25 (23–27)
1157i 29M	26	4 (3-6)	2 (1–3)	7 (6–8)	1 (1–1)	2 (2-3)	4 (2-4)	2 (1–2)	2 (2-2)	24 (21–27)
1157i 36M	26	4 (3-6)	3 (2–3)	6 (5–7)	1 (1–1)	2 (2-3)	4 (3-4)	2 (1–2)	1 (1–2)	23 (20–25)
1157i 48M	25	4 (3-5)	2 (1–3)	7 (6–8)	1 (1–1)	2 (1-3)	4 (4-4)	1 (0-2)	1 (0-2)	23 (20-25)
1157i 67M	32	4 (3-7)	3 (2–3)	7 (6–8)	1 (1–1)	3 (1–3)	4 (3-4)	2 (1–2)	2 (1–2)	25 (21–28)
SHIV-1157i	—	C C	ŝ	8	<u></u>	°.	4	2	2	26
RPn-8 06M	34	3 (2–3)	3 (2–3)	8 (7–8)	1 (1–1)	3 (3–3)	4 (3-4)	2 (1–2)	2 (2-2)	25 (24–26)
RPn-8 20M	31	3 (2–3)	3 (3-3)	7 (6–8)	1 (1–1)	3 (2–3)	4 (4-4)	2 (1–2)	1 (0-1)	24 (23–25)
RPn-8 37M	30	3 (2–3)	2 (2–2)	6 (5–7)	1 (0–1)	3 (3–3)	4 (3-4)	2 (2–2)	1 (1-1)	21 (19–23)
RPn-8 50M	30	2 (2–3)	2 (1–2)	7 (6–7)	1 (0–1)	3 (1–3)	4 (4-4)	2 (2-2)	1 (0-2)	22 (20–24)
RPn-8 64M	36	4 (3-4)	2 (2-3)	7 (6–7)	1 (1–1)	3 (2–3)	4 (3-5)	2 (2-2)	2 (1–2)	25 (23–27)
Number of sam	ples (n). h	Numbers reported	are to the nearest	whole number. Ni	umbers are given	as mean (minimur	n-maximum). PN(GS, putative N-link	ed glycosylation	site.

Table 1. Putative N-glycosylation site numbers and length of V1-V5 region

Chapter 3

Variations in the biological functions of HIV-1 clade C envelope in a SHIV-infected rhesus macaque during disease progression

For Yue Tso^a, Levon Abrahamyan^a, Shiu-Lok Hu^{b,c}, Ruth M. Ruprecht^{d,e} and Charles Wood^{a*}

^aNebraska Center for Virology and the School of Biological Sciences, University of

Nebraska-Lincoln, Nebraska 68583; ^bDepartment of Pharmaceutics and ^cThe Washington

National Primate Research Center, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington

98121; ^dDana-Farber Cancer Institute and ^eHarvard Medical School, Boston,

Massachusetts 02215

*Corresponding author

Mailing address: Nebraska Center for Virology, School of Biological Sciences,

University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Morrison Center P.O. Box 830666, Lincoln, NE 68583-0900

Phone: (402) 472-4550; Fax: (402) 472-3323; E-mail: cwood@unlnotes.unl.edu

Data submitted for review

Abstract

Objectives: To examine how the biological functions of HIV-1 clade C (HIV-C) envelopes from a SHIV-infected rhesus macaque evolve with disease progression.

Design: The V1-V5 envelope regions were cloned from a rhesus macaque infected with SHIV-1157i, an infectious molecular clone that expresses a recently transmitted HIV-C envelope from Zambia. Envelope clones from various disease stages were examined for biological properties and their association with disease progression.

Methods: We assessed envelope charges by bioinformatics analysis, envelope neutralization sensitivity and replicative fitness by infection of PBMC with provirus expressing different V1-V5 clones. Cell surface-associated envelope and gp120 content on virion were quantified by cell-surface biotinylation of producer cells and gp120 ELISA of purified virions, respectively. We also assessed envelope fusion capacity and CD4 binding affinity.

Results: Envelopes from early infection tended to be more positively charged and neutralization sensitive, but the net charge decreased and Env became neutralization resistant with time. Early envelopes also exhibited better cleavage, higher gp120 content on virion, superior fusion capacity and faster replication kinetics compared with envelopes from later time points. Lastly, CD4 binding tended to improve as disease progressed, but reverted to early infection level after the onset of AIDS.

Conclusion: Envelope gained distinctive biological characteristics as disease progressed. Potentially beneficiary functions could have arisen during early infection for better *invivo* viral fitness. However, some Env properties reverted to pre-AIDS levels in the absence of immune pressure.

Introduction

Despite years of efforts, there is no efficacious vaccine against HIV-1. This impasse is partly due to the highly variable nature of the HIV-1 envelope gene, which enables viral escape from immune surveillance (326). Most of the envelope diversity is within the V1-V5 region, which encompasses multiple crucial functions, such as binding to receptor and co-receptors, and can influence envelope fusion to the cell membrane (108, 205, 383, 419). Being the major surface component of HIV-1 envelope, V1-V5 is also constantly targeted by host humoral responses (322, 405). Given these important roles, the V1-V5 region is frequently targeted for diverse anti-HIV-1 strategies. Understanding the changes of HIV-1 envelopes in vivo will be of tremendous importance. The first step towards achieving this goal is to examine how the biological functions of HIV-1 V1-V5 region evolve during disease progression. Unfortunately, there is no consensus as to what these changes might be, due to the difficulties in following individuals from initial HIV-1 infection throughout disease progression.

To address this question, we have previously shown a strikingly similar molecular evolution of the HIV-1 clade C (HIV-C) envelope during infection in a Zambian infant (1157i) and an infant rhesus macaque (RPn-8) infected by SHIV-1157i, a SHIV expressing the recently transmitted HIV-C envelope of 1157i (387). This finding validated our macaque model for studying envelope evolution during disease progression. Importantly, our macaque model allows studying the longitudinal changes of the biological functions of the V1-V5 region from an infectious molecular clone inoculum over the entire disease course. Moreover, significant mutations were observed within the HIV-C envelope sequences from different disease stages in the infected macaque RPn-8 (387). However, whether these envelope mutations translate into different biological functions remains unanswered. Here, we addressed this question by characterizing the biological properties of the V1-V5 region cloned from RPn-8 during disease progression. Our hypothesis is that envelopes from various disease stages have different biological characteristics, which might confer fitness advantages for the virus.

This study will be of substantial importance since it is the first reported clade C SHIV (SHIV-C) model that documented progression to AIDS. Moreover, the recently transmitted Zambian HIV-C primary isolate we utilized is CCR5 tropic and represents the dominant clade of HIV-1 infection worldwide (69, 92, 158, 298). The observed changes in biological functions in this setting should reflect those occurring during natural disease progression.

Materials and methods

Animal and animal care

Details of animal care and procedures were described (172, 387). Briefly, an infant Indian rhesus macaque (RPn-8) was intravenously inoculated with SHIV-1157i, a SHIV-C expressing the envelope of a recently transmitted Zambian pediatric HIV-C. The infected animal was monitored from inoculation until euthanasia due to AIDS (~5 years). The animal was housed and cared for according to the National Institutes of Health Guidelines on the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals at the Yerkes National Primate Research Center (YNPRC), which is fully accredited by the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International. All animal procedures were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committees of the YNPRC and the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute.

Construction and preparation of viruses

The SHIV-1157i inoculum was prepared as described (172, 358). Genomic DNA was extracted from PBMC samples of RPn-8 collected at 6, 20, 37, 50 and 64 months post-infection (mpi). The V1-V5 region was amplified from genomic DNA and cloned into the envelope expression (pSRH NLA/S/Av) and provirus (pNL4-3 A/S/Av) plasmids as described (387, 440, 441). Thus, both types of plasmids bear a chimeric HIV-1 NL4-3 envelope with its V1-V5 region derived from RPn-8. Infectious virus was generated by transfection of 293T cells with the proviral plasmids, supernatant was collected and filtered at 48 hrs post-transfection (pt). For purified virus, the filtered supernatant was

concentrated by ultracentrifuge and the resulting virus pellet was re-suspended in their respective assay medium.

Envelope Charge analysis

V1-V5 region sequences were obtained from the previous study (387). Charged residues of the envelope were computed using AminoTrackTM (241). The value of +1 was assigned to positively charged arginine and lysine. The value of -1 was assigned to negatively charged aspartic acid and glutamic acid. GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Software) was used for statistical analysis.

Neutralization assay

Pseudotyped viruses were generated by co-transfection of COS-1 cells with the envelope expression and backbone pNL4-3-deltaE-GFP plasmids, supernatants were collected and filtered at 48 hrs pt. Pseudotyped virus encoding NL4-3 and SV-A-MLV envelopes served as controls. Next, $1x10^4$ TZM-bl cells/well were seeded into 96-well plates 24 hrs before the assay. Heat-inactivated plasma samples of RPn-8 were 3-fold serially diluted starting from 1:20. Pooled monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) were prepared by mixing equal concentrations of the mAbs 2F5, 4E10, 2G12 and b12, followed by 3-fold serially dilutions starting from 80 ug/ml (total concentration of all mAbs in the mixture). An inoculum of 300 50% tissue culture infectious doses (TCID₅₀)/ml of pseudotyped viruses was supplemented with 80 ug/ml DEAE-dextran and mixed with an equal volume of either the serially diluted heat-inactivated plasma or pooled mAbs. The mixture was incubated for 1 hr at 37 °C before addition to TZM-bl cells in triplicates.

System reagents (Promega) and its luciferase activity measured by luminometer. The 50% inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) in ug/ml and reciprocal IC₅₀ were calculated using GraphPad Prism 5.

Viral replication kinetics

Infectious viruses bearing the V1-V5 region of RPn-8 were used to infect PBMC from HIV-1-seronegative donors. PHA-stimulated PBMC (3.5×10^5 cells) were infected at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.05 overnight at 37 °C in duplicates. The next day, the infected cells were washed and resuspended in RPMI growth medium containing human interleukin-2 (hIL-2) (Roche Applied Science). Cell-free supernatants were collected every 3 days. The level of reverse transcriptase (RT) activity in 10 µl of collected supernatants was determined in triplicates by the standard RT activity assay and expressed in counts-per-minute (CPM) (162). The experiment was repeated using a different HIV-1-seronegative donor PBMC.

Quantification of virus-associated gp120

The amount of virus-associated HIV-1 surface glycoprotein was measured using ELISA as described (29). Briefly, 96-well plates were coated overnight with anti-gp120 antibody D7324 (Aalto Bio Reagents Ltd), followed by washing with Tris-buffered saline (TBS) and blocked with nonfat-milk solution. Purified virus (100 ng/ml p24 equivalents) was lysed and added to the plates in triplicates for 5 hrs incubation at 37 °C. Unbound proteins were removed by extensive washes. For detecting captured gp120, mAb T43 (NIH) was added at room temperature. Importantly, the mAb T43 epitope lies within the envelope C1 region, which is identical among all our samples. The plates were washed

and captured gp120 was detected by addition of goat anti-mouse horseradish peroxidase (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories) with 1-Step Ultra-TMB-ELISA substrate (Pierce). Gp120 quantity was measured by microplate reader and calculated by comparison with a standard curve generated using serial dilutions of purified HIV-C 1157ip gp120 with a known concentration.

Quantification of cell surface-associated envelope

Labeling of cell-surface proteins with biotin was described (7). Briefly, 293T cells transfected with proviral plasmids were harvested at 48 hrs pt, washed and incubated with 1 mg/ml of EZ-Link Sulfo-NHS-LC-biotin (Thermo Scientific) for 30 min on ice, followed by extensive washes and addition of 1ysis buffer containing proteinase inhibitor cocktail. Cellular debris was removed and the total protein concentration in the cleared lysates was measured using a Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). Equal amounts of total protein were used for HIV-1 envelope immunoprecipitation with HIV-IG (NIH) overnight at 4 °C. The immune complexes were pulled down with Protein A/G Ultra-Link Resin (Thermo Scientific), washed and boiled in 2X SDS-PAGE sample buffers. Resin-free supernatant containing the immunoprecipitated proteins was resolved by Western blot. Biotinylated proteins were detected using streptavidin-conjugated-680 secondary antibody (Li-Cor Biosciences) and visualized by Odyssey infrared imager (Li-Cor Biosciences). Respective band intensity of the cell surface-associated HIV-1 envelope was analyzed using Odyssey application software version 3.0.

In-vitro CD4 binding

Envelope CD4 binding capability was determined by ELISA. Briefly, purified virus (10 ng/ml gp120 equivalents) was lysed and captured with D7324-coated plates in triplicates. Serial dilutions of CD4-IgG2 with known concentrations were added and incubated overnight at room temperature. Unbound CD4-IgG2 was removed by extensive washes. CD4-IgG2 bound to gp120 was detected by addition of goat-anti-human horseradish peroxidase (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) with 1-Step Ultra-TMB-ELISA substrate (Pierce) and measured by microplate reader. Half-maximal binding concentration (ng/ml) of CD4-IgG2 was calculated for each sample.

FRET-based virus-to-cell fusion

The fluorescent resonance energy transfer (FRET)-based virus-to-cell fusion assay was described (53, 54). Briefly, infectious viruses bearing the V1-V5 region of RPn-8 and the β -lactamase HIV-1 Vpr fusion protein (BlaM-Vpr) were generated by cotransfection of 293T cells with the provirus, pAdVantage (Promega) and pMM310 plasmids (NIH). Supernatants were collected at 48 hrs pt and purified as described earlier. The p24 concentration of purified viruses were measured with HIV-1 p24 ELISA (Perkin-Elmer). Then, 2.5x10⁵ SupT1/CCR5 cells (256) were incubated with 50 ng of p24 of the purified viruses for 2 hrs at 37 °C in 96-well plates in triplicates. The infected cells were washed and resuspended in the CCF2-AM loading solution from GeneBLAzer Detection Kits (Invitrogen) for 1 hr at room temperature in the dark. The CCF2-AMloaded cells were washed, resuspended in 10% FBS medium with probenecid and incubated overnight at room temperature in the dark. The next day, CCF2-AM-loaded cells were washed and fixed for flow cytometry. Once the BlaM-Vpr viruses fused with the target cell, β -lactamase will cleave the CCF2-AM dye and alter its fluorescence

Results

Charged residues of the HIV-C V1-V5 region

Charged residues play an important role in protein-protein interactions by affecting the physiological interactions between molecules, and might influence HIV-1 envelope-antibody interaction, receptor binding as well as disease progression (34, 266, 311, 345). Therefore, it was interesting to determine whether the charges of V1-V5 region varied with disease progression in monkey RPn-8.

As shown previously, RPn-8 maintained a high viral load (>1x10⁴ copies/ml) throughout the disease course (387) and the CD4⁺ T-cell counts gradually declined to <200 cells/ul from ~28 mpi onwards. The animal was euthanized at 64 mpi due to severe opportunistic infections (387). Using ~160 sequences collected previously across the entire disease course (387), we analyzed the charged residue distribution within the V1-V5 region. Our analysis showed a significant increase in the net charge of V1-V5 region during early infection (6 mpi) compared to the inoculum (Fig 1A). However, the net charge decreased substantially by 37 mpi when the CD4⁺ T-cell counts fell to <200 cells/ul. Surprisingly, as RPn-8 had advanced AIDS, the net charge of the V1-V5 region recovered to pre-AIDS levels.

This pattern of change was mainly caused by the V1-V3 region. For example, C2 charges reached the lowest levels by 37 mpi but rebounded later (Fig 1B). Other regions, such as V5, contributed towards the recovery of envelope charges during advanced AIDS (Fig 1C).

Neutralization characteristics

To determine the neutralization characteristics of the V1-V5 region, selected envelope clones were tested against naïve, contemporaneous and non-contemporaneous plasma from RPn-8. Envelope selection was based upon fusion capacity and position in the phylogenetic tree to maximize the representation of various branches. About five functional envelope clones per time point were selected for further analysis (387).

We found that neither the naïve nor the contemporaneous plasma could neutralize any of the envelopes tested (data not shown). However, non-contemporaneous plasma was able to neutralize envelopes from earlier time points, but this capability tended to decrease with disease progression (Fig 2A). This was further confirmed by the examination of 6 mpi envelopes against plasma samples from all later time points, where the 64 mpi plasma had the weakest neutralizing ability (Fig 2B).

Since plasma from RPn-8 might contain different neutralizing antibodies, depending on the time points, a reference panel that consisted of pooled mAbs was used to examine the relative neutralization sensitivity among the envelopes. Our data show that envelopes from 6 mpi were mostly sensitive to mAbs (Fig 2C). However, the majority of the envelopes displayed increased mAbs resistance by 37 mpi. Surprisingly, mAbs-sensitive envelopes re-emerged at 64 mpi.

Replication kinetics

To determine if envelopes derived from different disease stages could affect the viral replicative fitness and its relationship with neutralization sensitivity, we examined the replication kinetics of viruses expressing various envelope clones in PBMC. Nine envelope clones were selected from 6 (early infection), 37 (early AIDS) and 64

(advanced AIDS) mpi. Envelope selection was based on the mAbs neutralization results to maximize representation of different neutralization characteristics. As shown in Table 1, viruses with 6 month envelopes (clones #26 and #37) displayed distinctively faster exvivo replication (P = 0.0008) than those with 64 mpi envelopes, averaging ~7 days to reach half-maximal viral replication using PBMC from two human donors. In contrast, viruses bearing envelopes from later time points showed slightly slower *ex-vivo* replication compared to the inoculum over time.

Quantity of envelope on cell surfaces and gp120 on virions

To further examine the possible reasons for faster *ex-vivo* replication of the viruses with early envelopes, we first evaluated the incorporation of envelopes into virions. By measuring the gp120 content on virions using ELISA, we showed that the quantity of surface glycoprotein on virions tended to decline with disease progression. Viruses with 64 mpi envelopes only contained an average ~25% (P < 0.0001) of gp120 content compared with the inoculum SHIV-1157i (Fig 3A).

This decreased level of virion-associated gp120 could be caused by differences in the expression or cleavage of envelope. To eliminate these possibilities, 293T cell surfaces were labeled with biotin, and the quantity of cell surface-associated gp160 and 120 was measured by Western blot. Our data indicated no significant differences in gp160 expression levels between all envelopes (Fig 3B); thereby excluding differences in gp160 expression on cell surfaces as a plausible cause. However, we did observe a decrease in cell surface-associated gp120 levels, which positively correlated with the decline of gp120 content on virions over time (Spearman r = 0.7295, P = 0.0202) (Fig 3C). Therefore, the decreased recruitment of surface glycoprotein onto virions may have been a consequence of having less cell surface-associated gp120, which subsequently caused an increase of the cell surface gp160 to 120 ratio over time (Fig 3D). This was further supported by the negative correlation (Spearman r = -0.8909, P = 0.0011) between the cell surface gp160 to 120 ratio and gp120 quantity on virions (Fig 3D). Together, our data strongly suggest a deficiency in cleavage or trafficking of cleaved envelope to cell surfaces with disease progression.

Envelope binding to CD4

Another possible factor that can influence ex-vivo replication is divergence in the envelope-CD4 binding capacity. To this end, our *in-vitro* CD4 binding assay showed that the CD4 binding proficiency of envelope improved with disease progression. At 37 mpi, the envelopes had significantly enhanced binding to CD4 compared with the inoculum (Fig 4A). Surprisingly, this enhanced CD4 binding capability was not maintained and reverted to pre-AIDS levels during advanced AIDS.

Envelope fusion to target cell

Fusion of viral envelope to target cell is a critical rate-limiting step that could affect ex-vivo replication. A FRET-based virus-to-cell fusion assay was used to examine the fusion efficiency of envelopes from various time points. Our result showed that viruses with 6 mpi envelopes, except #5, had significantly enhanced fusion abilities compared with the inoculum (P = < 0.0001) (Fig 4B). Envelopes isolated from 37 mpi displayed a diverse fusion capability, with 37 month #1 having fusion ability close to the 6 mpi and the rest having lower fusion ability compared to the inoculum (Fig 4B). Additionally, this weak fusion phenotype dominated among envelopes isolates from advanced AIDS (Fig 4B). This suggests that envelope fusion ability increased during early infection, but gradually declined with disease progression.

Discussion

This study showed that the V1-V5 regions of HIV-C envelope underwent significant changes in their biological characteristics throughout disease progression. Envelopes from early infection were more positively charged, neutralization sensitive and had faster ex-vivo replication and enhanced fusion capability. During early AIDS, the envelopes became more negatively charged with diminished functional capabilities ranging from ex-vivo replication to incorporation into virions. However, these envelopes did have significantly improved CD4 binding ability and were more neutralization resistant. Interestingly, the envelopes showed multiple reversions in their biological properties during advanced AIDS. For example, their charge, neutralization sensitivity and CD4 binding efficiency had all reverted to pre-AIDS levels. However, other functions remained relatively poor.

Our results are surprising given the current belief that viral fitness increases over time due to envelope evolution (310, 385). It is possible that the previous studies were unable to capture the early infection in adult HIV-1 patients and used PBMC co-cultured viral quasi-species for biological analysis. Our study represents envelope isolates throughout the disease spectrum, focusing on V1-V5 region changes. At the early infection of 6 mpi, monkey infant RPn-8 had an unambiguously higher CD4⁺ T-cell counts of >2000 cells/ul, which was age-appropriate, and high viral loads compared to reports of other investigators, reflecting acute infection (387). Moreover, having an isogenic backbone allowed us to focus on the V1-V5 region without the influences from other viral genes. Our use of PBMC for *ex-vivo* replication also better represents the *in-vivo* scenario than the cell lines used in previous study (108). Alternatively, the different

maturation state of the immune system between adults and infants during the initial infection might affect the evolutionary pressure placed on the virus.

Our study suggests that during early infection, the host immune system is intact and exerts selective pressures on the viruses, as the relatively early plasma can easily neutralized the early envelopes. To counter this host constraint, the envelope evolved compensatory mutations that resulted in more efficient fusion and faster replication kinetics, increasing the likelihood for the virus to infect new cells before being neutralized by the immune system. This possibility that early envelopes might have better fitness was mathematically predicted previously and observed recently in HIV-1 patients (13, 416). Although the exact mechanism of this outcome is still controversial, the "Red Queen" hypothesis was proposed as a possible explanation, where beneficiary mutations evolved in responses to immune selection resulting in increased fitness of the early envelopes (13, 74, 396).

During early AIDS, some immune pressure persisted as evident by the presence of neutralization-resistant envelopes and was also reported by others (34, 45). Importantly, the appearance of neutralization-resistant phenotypes coincided with a significant drop in the net charges of V1-V5 region. This strongly suggests that variations in net charges could be an escape mechanism employed by the envelope to evade humoral responses beside its glycan shield (405). The high CD4 binding ability of the envelopes at this stage could be another compensatory mutation for more efficient infection in an environment with limited availability of CD4⁺ T cells. Another unexpected finding from our study is that viral fitness linked to the V1-V5 region, as defined by the *ex-vivo* replication of isogenic viruses differing only in their V1-V5 regions, did not improve despite reversion of several envelope properties during advanced AIDS. Importantly, the gp120 content on cell surface and on virion gradually decreased as disease progressed. Additionally, with the exception of the CD4 binding site mutant 6 month #5, decreased levels of gp120 on virion correlated with the decline in fusion ability from early infection to advanced AIDS (Spearman r = 0.7667, P = 0.0214) (graph not shown). These changes could be evasive responses toward immune surveillance and ultimately affected the neutralization sensitivity as suggested earlier (32). The severe depletion of CD4⁺ T cells and absence of immune selection might facilitate the accumulation of deleterious mutations, possibly yielding envelopes with lower fitness reminiscent to the effect of "Muller's ratchet" hypothesis (59, 102, 271, 433).

Despite our analysis of only one animal longitudinally, this is the first study of a SHIV-C-infected macaque that progressed to AIDS. To our knowledge, this is also the first study that demonstrated a decrease of gp120 content on virion with disease progression. Although gp120 shedding might reduce the gp120 content on virion, it was unlikely in our case as suggested by other investigators (66). By focusing on the V1-V5 region, we cannot eliminate the role of other viral genes or envelope regions, such as the signal peptide and gp41, in the overall viral fitness (17). However, our data strongly suggest that V1-V5 region plays a major role in disease progression (214, 238). Also, the presence of mixed population at any time points due to reactivation of latent viral reservoirs cannot be excluded.

Our findings underscore the dynamic interaction between host immune selection and HIV-1 envelope evolution. Our emphasis on the V1-V5 region had shed light on the evolution of its unique properties during disease progression. Moreover, variations in the envelope CD4 binding and fusion ability might suggest some corresponding structural changes with disease progression, which could have substantial implications for the development of vaccines and small molecule inhibitors.

Ackonwledgments

This work was supported by Public Health Service grants, CA75903, TW001429 and the National Institute of Medical Sciences, Center for Biomedical Research Excellence grant P30 GM103509 to C.W; R01 AI076170 to S.L.H; P01 AI48240 to R.M.R., S.L.H and C.W.; American Recovery and Reinvestment Act funding 3P01 AI048240-08S1 to R.M.R., C.W.

Authors' contributions: F.Y.T and L.A. performed experiments and analyzed data. F.Y.T wrote the manuscript. S.L.H. provided reagent and discussions. R.M.R. and C.W. oversaw all aspects of this project. All authors provided critical input on the manuscript.

The following reagent was obtained through the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, NIAID, NIH: pMM310 from Dr. Michael Miller (53, 381); pNL4-3-deltaE-EGFP from Drs. Haili Zhang, Yan Zhou, and Robert Siliciano (442); TZM-bl cells from Drs. John C. Kappes, Xiaoyun Wu and Tranzyme Inc (295); SV-A-MLV-env from Drs. Nathaniel Landau and Dan Littman (221); HIV-1 gp41 mAbs (2F5, 4E10) and gp120 mAb (2G12) from Dr. Hermann Katinger (302, 363, 384); HIV-1 gp120 mAb (IgG1 b12) from Drs. Dennis Burton and Carlos Barbas (313); HIV-IG from NABI and NHLBI. We would like to thank Dr. James A. Hoxie for SupT1/CCR5 cells (256), Drs. Earl Patricia and Bernie Moss for mAb T43. We thank Dr Marielle Cavrois for her advice with the FRET-based virus to cell fusion assay and Dr Francois Villinger for his assistance in manuscript preparation.

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

Figures and Figure Legends





Figure 1. Distribution of charged residues within the V1-V5 envelope region. Each symbol represents one V1-V5 sequence. SHIV-1157i is the inoculum envelope, followed by envelopes from 6, 20, 37, 50 and 64 months pi. (A) Net charge of the V1-V5 region.(B) Charge distribution within the C2 and V5 region respectively.

Figure 2.



Figure 2. Envelope neutralization characteristics. (A) Pseudotyped viruses with envelopes from 20 months pi were tested against non-contemporaneous plasma from 37 months pi, 37 months pi envelope clones against 50 months pi plasma and 50 months pi envelope clones against 64 months pi plasma. Each symbol represents a pseudotyped virus encoding an individual envelope clone from that particular time point. (B) Pseudotyped viruses with envelopes from 6 month pi were tested against plasma of 20, 37, 50 and 64 months pi. (C) Pseudotyped viruses with envelopes from various time points were tested against pooled mAbs. Envelopes from the infectious molecular clone inoculum (SHIV-1157i), murine leukemia virus (MLV) and NL4-3 served as controls. Each symbol represents a pseudotyped virus encoding an individual envelope clone from that particular time point.

Figure 3.



Envelopes
Figure 3. Quantity of envelope on cell surfaces and gp120 on virions. (A) Quantities of gp120 on virions expressing selected V1-V5 region from each time point. (B) Relative levels of 293T cell surface-associated gp160. (C) Correlation between the levels of virion-associated gp120 (black bars) and 293T cell surface-associated gp120 (red dots).
(D) Correlation between the levels of virion-associated gp120 (black bars) and the ratio of 293T cell surface-associated gp160-120 (red dots).

Figure 4.



95

Figure 4. Envelope binding to CD4 and virus fusion with target cells. (A) Purified viruses, expressing selected V1-V5 regions from each time point, were tested with *in-vitro* CD4 binding assay to determine their half maximum binding to CD4-IgG2. Each symbol for individual envelope clones represents an independent experiment. "*" represent statistical significant compare to the inoculum, SHIV-1157i. The value of 6 month #5 may not reflect the actual data since it falls beyond the maximum range of our assay. (B) Envelope fusion with target cells was measured using FRET-based virus-to-cell fusion assay. An example for the detection of fluoresce emission shift from green (fusion negative) to blue (fusion positive) by flow cytometry was shown above the graph. The graph shows percentage of fusion-positive cells for individual envelope clones from each time point relative to the inoculum, SHIV-1157i. All differences were statistically significant compared to the inoculum.

Table 1: Ex-vivo replication of infectious viruses, expressing varies V1-V5 region, inPBMC.

	Half-time of maxim (da	nal viral replication ys)
Envelopes	Donor 1	Donor 2
SHIV-1157i	9.739	8.951
6 month #5	10.032	10.798
* 6 month #26	7.099	7.083
* 6 month #37	6.510	6.315
37 month #1	10.555	10.813
37 month #11	8.998	9.797
37 month #S1	11.207	12.258
64 month #13	11.922	15.105
64 month #30	9.880	11.130
64 month #46	10.414	12.496
*Denote statistical significances	(P = 0.0008) in comparison with	the 64 month envelopes.

97

Chapter 4

Dynamics of Envelope Evolution in Clade C SHIV-infected Pig-tailed Macaques during Disease Progression Analyzed by Ultra-deep Pyrosequencing

For Yue Tso^{1,‡}, Damien C. Tully^{1,†,‡}, Sandra Gonzalez¹, Christopher Quince⁶, On Ho², Patricia Polacino³, Ruth M. Ruprecht^{4,5}, Shiu-Lok Hu^{2,3} and Charles Wood^{1*}

¹Nebraska Center for Virology and the School of Biological Sciences, University of

Nebraska-Lincoln, Nebraska, USA; ²Department of Pharmaceutics, ³The Washington

National Primate Research Center, University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, USA;

⁴Dana-Farber Cancer Institute and ⁵Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts,

USA; ⁶School of Engineering, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, Scotland, UK.

‡ Equal contribution

*Corresponding author

Mailing address: Nebraska Center for Virology and School of Biological Sciences, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Morrison Center, 4240 Fair Street, Lincoln, NE 68583-0900

Phone: (402) 472-4550; Fax: (402) 472-3323; E-mail: cwood@unlnotes.unl.edu

† Present address: Ragon Institute of MGH, MIT and Harvard, Boston

Data from this chapter was published in PLoS One 2012; 7(3): e32827

Abstract

Understanding the evolution of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) envelope during disease progression can provide tremendous insights for vaccine development, and simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) infection of nonhuman primate provides an ideal platform for such studies. A newly developed clade C SHIV, SHIV-1157 pd3N4, which was able to infect rhesus macaques, closely resembled primary HIV-1 in transmission and pathogenesis, was used to infect several pig-tailed macaques. One of the infected animals subsequently progressed to AIDS, whereas one remained a nonprogressor. The viral envelope evolution in the infected animals during disease progression was analyzed by a bioinformatics approach using ultra-deep pyrosequencing. Our results showed substantial envelope variations emerging in the progressor animal after the onset of AIDS. These envelope variations impacted the length of the variable loops and charges of different envelope regions. Additionally, multiple mutations were located at the CD4 and CCR5 binding sites, potentially affecting receptor binding affinity, viral fitness and they might be selected at late stages of disease. More importantly, these envelope mutations are not random since they had repeatedly been observed in a rhesus macaque and a human infant infected by either SHIV or HIV-1, respectively, carrying the parental envelope of the infectious molecular clone SHIV-1157ipd3N4. Moreover, similar mutations were also observed from other studies on different clades of envelopes regardless of the host species. These recurring mutations in different envelopes suggest that there may be a common evolutionary pattern and selection pathway for the HIV-1 envelope during disease progression.

Introduction

The envelope gene of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) is the most genetically diverse among all HIV-1 genes. The vital role of HIV-1 envelope in determining cell tropism of the virus and escape from host immune surveillance made it a logical choice as the main focus for vaccine development. Thus, a better understanding of how the envelope evolves during disease progression could aid in designing better vaccines. Several envelope mutations, such as increases in the length of V1V2 variable loops and number of potential N-glycosylation sites (PNGS), have been linked with disease progression in humans (44, 80, 322). Since these mutations were observed in envelopes from different clades, it would suggest that the envelope might tend to follow a certain evolutionary pattern during disease progression. Infection of non-human primates with simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) would be an ideal platform for investigating such HIV-1 envelope evolution during disease progression.

SHIV strains have been a significant tool in studying the role of HIV-1 envelope in pathogenesis and the development of AIDS vaccines for over a decade. Since their inception, SHIV constructs have undergone dramatic improvements to recapitulate many of the features of primary HIV-1 infection when used to infect rhesus macaques. One such design, SHIV-1157ipd3N4, expresses an R5 tropic HIV-1 clade C envelope isolated from a Zambian infant (358). In addition, SHIV-1157ipd3N4 is pathogenic and fully capable of mucosal transmission through multiple routes (65, 358). These properties closely resemble those of recently transmitted HIV-1 isolates, which are mostly R5 tropic and transmitted via mucosal routes (69, 92, 279, 298). The fact that SHIV-1157ipd3N4 carries an HIV-1 clade C envelope makes this SHIV an important model to study transmission and pathogenesis of HIV-1 infection in humans: because more than fifty percent of all HIV-1 infections worldwide are caused by HIV-1 clade C (158, 315).

Until recently, SHIV-1157ipd3N4 had only been utilized to infect rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta), a popular animal model for studying HIV pathogenesis and AIDS vaccine development. However, there is now a heightened interest in the pig-tailed macaque (Macaca nemestrina) model. In comparison to rhesus macaques, pig-tailed macaques are unique as they express a defective host restriction factor TRIM5 α and hence are susceptible to infection by simian-tropic HIV-1 strains (38, 153, 173, 377). Given this recent focus on the pig-tailed macaque animal model, it will be important to examine the relationship between disease progression and envelope evolution in pigtailed macaques infected by SHIV-1157ipd3N4. Moreover, this study will help to determine whether envelope changes observed in a human and in a rhesus macaque during disease progression are present in this pig-tailed model. In an earlier report, Ho et al. demonstrated that SHIV-1157ipd3N4 was able to infect pig-tailed macaques by intrarectal inoculation and to cause AIDS in the infected animal (161). We procured samples from these infected pig-tailed macaques and employed 454 ultra-deep pyrosequencing (UDPS) to characterize the HIV-1 clade C envelope changes as the infected animal progressed to AIDS.

UDPS is a high-throughput sequencing technology that can rapidly generate a vast amount of sequencing data in a costeffective manner. The high sensitivity of this technology in detecting minor populations makes it an ideal approach for our study. UDPS has been used by several groups to study minor drug resistance mutations, cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CTL) escape pathways and small envelope region such as V3 (12, 27, 47, 81, 157, 320). To our knowledge, this is the first study to use UDPS to resolve HIV-1 clade C envelope evolution in infected pig-tailed macaques during disease progression which is marked by a consistent decline in CD4⁺ T-cell count and the present of high plasma viral load. AIDS is established when the $CD4^+$ T-cell count falls to <200 cells/ul. By using UDPS, we were able to quantitatively assess the emergence and outgrowth of minor variants in the infected animals as the disease progressed and provide a detailed genetic analysis of such variants. Interestingly, we found several gp120 mutations that evolved in parallel with disease progression. In addition, we compared the mutations observed in the pig-tailed macaque with published data on the evolution of the precursor envelope of SHIV-1157ipd3N4 in a rhesus macaque and the Zambian infant, from whom the viral envelope was originally isolated (387, 438). Our analysis showed that several shared gp120 mutations were prevalent in the infected human, rhesus and pig-tailed macaques throughout disease progression. This study suggests that the HIV-1 clade C envelope may follow a comparable evolutionary pattern and host selective pressure during disease progression in infected hosts, regardless of the host species.

Materials and methods

Animals and viral stocks

All animals used in this study were housed and cared for according to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals at the Washington National Primate Research Center (WaNPRC), an Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International accredited institution. The animal quarters are maintained at 75–78°F with controlled air humidity and quality. The home cages of the animals are steam cleaned bimonthly and the waste pans are cleaned daily. Commercial monkey chow is fed to the animals once daily and drinking water is available at all times. Daily examination and any medical care of the animals are provided by the veterinary staff of WaNPRC in consultation with the clinical veterinarian. The experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (2370-20) at the University of Washington and conducted in compliance with the Public Health Services Policy on Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (http://grants.nih.gov/grants/olaw/references/PHSPolicyLabAnimals.pdf). The animals were kept under deep sedation during all procedures with ketamine HCl at the dose of 10–15 mg/kg intramuscularly to alleviate any pain and discomfort. The animals were monitored by the Animal Technician or Veterinary Technologist while under sedation.

The construction of the infectious molecular clone, SHIV-1157ipd3N4, and the preparation of the viral stock were described previously (358). All animal procedures and immunological analysis have also been published (161). Briefly, four juvenile pig-tailed macaques were inoculated with SHIV-1157ipd3N4 intrarectally. Infected animals were

monitored over a period of 84 weeks postinoculation. Peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) and tissue samples were collected from the infected animals periodically.

PCR amplification and amplicon library preparation for UDPS

Genomic DNA from PBMC and gut tissue samples was extracted following standard protocols. For amplicon library preparation, the full envelope was amplified from the samples with first round PCR primers positioned outside the envelope gene. The envelope from each sample was further amplified into 6 amplicons with six pairs of primers during the second round PCR. The envelope regions amplified by these primer pairs were V1V2C2 by primers env1, C2V3C3 by primers env2, V3C3V4C4 by primers env3, C4V5C5-gp41 by primers env4, C5-gp41 by primers env5 and gp41 by primers env6. Each sample was barcoded with a specific 10-nucleotides multiplex identifier (MID) and only primers containing the forward adaptor sequences were barcoded (Table 3). Two additional primers, env3_F_control and env3_R_control, were designed to amplify the envelope of an infectious HIV-1 clade C construct (1084ic) which served as a control (149). Primer env1 F was modified to env1 F a for amplifying the 65 and 84 weeks post-inoculation samples from J02185. Sequences of these primers are presented in Table 3. The PCR conditions used for amplicon amplification were 1 cycle of 95°C for 2 min, 35 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec, 60°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 30 sec and a final extension of 72°C for 4 min. All PCR was carried out with the FastStart High Fidelity PCR system (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). PCR products were isolated with the E.Z.N.A. Gel Extraction Kit (Omega Bio-Tech, Norcross, GA) and purified by the Agencourt AMPure magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter Genomics, Danvers, MA) following the conditions recommended for the Titanium amplicon library preparation (Roche/454 Life

Sciences, Branford, CT). Purified amplicons were quantitated using the Quant-iT PicoGreen assay kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and pooled in equimolar concentration according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The pooled amplicons were then processed and sequenced on a Genome Sequencer FLX (Roche/454 Life Sciences, Branford, CT) at the Environmental Genomics Core facility (Engencore), Innovista Research District, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC.

UDPS bioinformatics analysis

The initial sequence reactions yielding 574,225 reads that were processed to ensure high quality reads to reduce the typical sequencing errors from 454/Roche pyrosequencing. The data were cleaned by a set of scripts including the following criteria: (i) a perfect match to both the barcode and forward primer, (ii) >100 bases in length, and (iii) no undetermined bases (N). The 454 reads were then separated into samples by amplicons. The flowgrams corresponding to these reads were extracted, truncated at the first noisy signal (174), and then filtered to remove any read where this occurred in the first half of the flowgram. We then applied the AmpliconNoise pipeline to these samples separately using default parameters for GSFLX Titanium data (304). The flowgrams were clustered with the PyroNoise program to remove 454 sequencing errors (303). The forward primer and barcodes were removed from the resulting sequences, prior to their truncation to 400 bp. These were clustered with the SeqNoise program to remove PCR errors (304). Finally, the Perseus *de novo* chimera classifier was applied to screen the sequences for chimeric PCR products which were then removed, giving denoised chimera checked sequences that were used in the following analysis. Alignments were generated and manually inspected to ensure any remaining variants

with frameshifts or stop codons were removed. After the automated cleanup, a small number of problematic sequences remained that were associated with indels in homopolymer tracts. We modified these errors by deleting the extra base or adding a missing base relative to the inoculum sequence. As a control for 454 sequencing errors, a plasmid containing a subtype C envelope, 1084ic, was amplified and processed in parallel to the samples.

Sequence diversity and divergence of intra-host virus populations

Diversity of viral sequences for each time point within each monkey was calculated using the Shannon Diversity Index. As follows

$$H' = -\sum_{i=1}^{R} p_i \log p_i$$

where H' is the Shannon Diversity Index, R is the total number of species encountered and Pi represents the fraction of the entire population made up of species i (348). Divergence of viral sequences for each time point within each monkey was calculated as the genetic distance between each sequence and the inoculum strain as calculated in MEGA v5.0 (373).

Envelope charge analysis

The charge of the envelope was calculated with AminoTrackTM (241). Briefly, arginine and lysine have a charge of +1, while aspartic acid and glutamic acid have a charge of -1. Statistical analysis was calculated using GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA).

Results

Infection of pig-tailed macaques with SHIV-1157ipd3N4

Detailed examination of the immunological responses of the infected pig-tailed macaques has been conducted previously (161). Briefly, after intrarectal inoculation of SHIV-1157ipd3N4, systemic infection was achieved in all four juvenile pig-tailed macaques with an average peak plasma viral RNA load $>7x10^6$ copies/ml by 2 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 1B). However, two infected animals (M04123 and L03165) died due to unrelated causes during sampling procedures at 2 and 48 weeks post-inoculation, respectively (data not shown). The remaining animals (K03135 and J02185) were monitored over a period of 84 weeks. The plasma viral loads of macaque K03135 increased while its CD4⁺ T-cell counts declined as disease progressed (Fig. 1A and B). Macaque K03135 developed AIDS with a CD4⁺ T-cell count consistently <200 cells/ul from 20 weeks post-inoculation onwards. Therefore, macaque K03135 was classified as a progressor. Meanwhile, macaque J02185 had normal CD4⁺ T-cell counts over the entire study period (Fig. 1A). Plasma viral loads of macaque J02185 fell below the detection limit at 2 weeks after peak viremia and remained low over the next 82 weeks (Fig. 1B). Macaque J02185 was still healthy at the end of the study and was classified as a nonprogressor. Both animals maintained a detectable but gradually declining PBMC proviral DNA load throughout the course of the disease (Fig. 1C).

Macaque sample selection and ultra-deep pyrosequencing of viral envelope

In order to gain a better picture of the envelope changes throughout disease progression, only animals that underwent a full 84 week course of observation were included for UDPS. For this purpose, PBMC samples from 5 time points of the progressor macaque K03135 (2, 16, 44, 64 and 83 weeks post-inoculation) and non-progressor macaque J02185 (2, 16, 44, 65 and 84 weeks post-inoculation) were selected for UDPS. In addition, it was reported previously that there was an unexpected peak of viral load in the duodenum sample from K03135 at 16 weeks postinoculation (161). The cause for this sudden elevated viral load in the gut tissue was unclear. To investigate if there was any unique viral population residing within the gut tissue at this time point, additional gut tissue samples from both animals at 16 weeks postinoculation were also included for UDPS. Lastly, the two animals (M04123 and L03165) that died due to unrelated causes during sampling procedures were excluded for analysis as it would be impossible to extrapolate the data from these animals to disease progression.

The current read length on the GS FLX Titanium series is approximately 400 bp. In order to cover the regions of interest in our study, we designed six overlapping PCR amplicons to capture the viral envelope regions (Fig. 2). Using this approach, we were able to sequence almost the entire gp120 and through the transmembrane domain of gp41. From the UDPS, we obtained a total of 574,225 reads with a median of 43,601 (range 13,964 to 81,666) reads from each sample. The UDPS data were cleaned to remove reads with PCR and UDPS artifacts while attempting to retain as many highquality sequences as possible (see Materials and Methods). During the initial procedure, a median of 26% (range 23%–30%) reads were discarded from each sample. However, after the application of the AmpliconNoise algorithm, this number increased to a median of 43% (range 34%–47%). While this number may seem excessively high, there were still on average 18,000 reads per sample, ensuring sufficiently high coverage across the envelope to detect minor variants.

Sequence diversity and divergence of intra-host viral populations

Selective pressures imposed by the host immune system are the main driving forces shaping the evolutionary dynamics of the viral envelope. To examine the effect of immune selection on envelope evolution, we quantified the levels of diversity and divergence for each amplicon over time in both animals. The non-progressor macaque J02185 had a relatively low level of diversity in the entire envelope throughout the course of observation, with a maximum Shannon diversity index of only 0.72 in amplicon 5 beginning at 16 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 3A). On the contrary, diversity for the progressor macaque K03135 began to increase at 44 weeks post-inoculation. It reached a peak of 2.05 in amplicon 1 and 2.71 in amplicon 3 by 64 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 3A). The amplicons that showed a high level of diversity mainly comprised gp120. A relatively low level of diversity occurred within the gp41 in both animals. Similar to the levels of diversity, the nonprogressor macaque J02185 had low divergence, showing that its viral populations did not deviate significantly from the inoculum strain over time, with a highest p-distance of only 0.007 in amplicon 1 at 65 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 3B). The divergence of progressor macaque K03135 had a pattern similar to its diversity, with a progressively elevated p-distance from 44 weeks post-inoculation onwards. Amplicons 1 and 3 of the progressor macaque K03135 showed a high level of deviation from the inoculum strain, reaching a p-distance of 0.034 and 0.025, respectively, by 84 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 3B). Additionally, the gp41 of K03135 developed a slightly higher divergence than the other envelope regions at 44 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 3B).

109

Mutations in this region might have evolved in response to the host immune pressure or selection of viral fitness, but there is no evidence or literature to support these possibilities. Lastly, the accumulation of minor mutations in gp41 of K03135 did increase its divergence despite a rather homogenous population over time as shown in the diversity. For the plasmid control, each of the six amplicons showed no diversity and a single population was present.

Envelope evolution through disease progression

In order to further demonstrate the progressive nature of the diversification of envelope throughout disease progression, we aligned the amplicons from different time points with their corresponding reference sequence of the inoculum envelope. Furthermore, to highlight the similarities of some mutations observed in the infected pigtailed macaque with other species, we included previous sequence data from a study involving the infected human and rhesus macaque for comparison (387). In agreement with the diversity and divergence analysis, alignment of the amplicons from nonprogressor macaque J02185 revealed extremely low variations within each time point and from the inoculum envelope (Fig. S1).

C1 region

Contrary to J02185, substantially more mutations were observed in the progressor macaque K03135 as this animal progressed to AIDS. Among the mutations in K03135 was S124P, which evolved from being the minor population at 44 weeks postinoculation to becoming the majority variant by 64 weeks postinoculation (Fig. 4A). S124P is adjacent to the CD4 binding site and a proline mutation at this position might affect the

CD4 binding site structure. Interestingly, the parental envelope of SHIV-1157ipd3N4 also contains a proline at position 124 (172). Besides S124P, we also observed the emergence of K130N from 64 weeks post-inoculation onwards (Fig. 4A). K130N resulted in an additional PNGS and its appearance in the main viral population coincided with a consistently low CD4 count and the development of AIDS. More importantly, this identical mutation was also observed in the human and rhesus macaque during disease progression (Fig. 5A and Table 1) (387). In addition, the same mutation also developed during disease progression in a rhesus macaque infected with a clade B SHIV (165).

V1V2 loops

14% and 6.2% of the viral populations contained deletions and insertions in the V1 loop, respectively, at 64 weeks postinoculation (Fig. 4A). By 83 weeks, >80% of the viral populations contained an insertion in V1 but only 18.3% contained deletions. Deletions and insertions in the V1 loop are also common in human and rhesus macaque (Fig. 5A and Table 1) (387). While insertions in the V1 loop usually involved PNGS, many of the mutations in the V1V2 region comprised of charged amino acids. The net charge of the V1V2 region for K03135 decreased significantly over time (P<0.0001) and was strikingly similar to those observed in the rhesus macaque (Fig. 6A). This charge reduction in V1V2 region was only observed as the animals progressed to AIDS.

C2 region

Unlike the highly variable V1V2 region, only 3 non-transient mutations evolved within C2 region of Env. Among these mutations, G262E and D273N represent merely 0.9% of the viral populations at 44 weeks post-inoculation, but subsequently emerged as

the dominant viral population by 64 weeks postinoculation (Fig. 4B). These two mutations had also been observed in the rhesus macaque during disease progression (Fig. 5B, Table 1). Interestingly, D273N locates within the CD4 binding site and mutation at this position may affect envelope binding to CD4. More importantly, these mutations occurred only after the onset of AIDS in both the pig-tailed and rhesus macaques.

V3 loop

The V3 loop of Env was relatively conserved in K03135, except for S302H that emerged at 44 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 4B). Histidine at this position is extremely rare, 0 out of 756 sequences, in HIV-1 clade C envelope in the HIV sequence database. It is more commonly found in envelopes from other clades, such as A, B and D. So far, we had only observed 1 out of 18 HIV-1 clade C infected patients from a Zambian cohort with histidine at this position (unpublished data). Since small changes in this region of the V3 loop could disturb the stability of the envelope trimeric structure of and affect CCR5 binding, mutations at this position could be important (371, 427). Surprisingly, we detected a minor population of 7.4% in the gut tissue of K03135 at 16 weeks postinoculation that contained a large deletion comprising the regions of C2V3C3 (Fig. 4B). It was determined that this was not as result of PCR or UDPS, given that it has passed our strict quality control procedure and contained an intact open reading frame. At this point, it is not clear whether this viral population is functional. However, it was reported previously that an envelope with truncation in V3 can still be functional (8, 277). In addition, given that this population was unique to the gut tissue, it might serve as another example of HIV-1 compartmentalization (394).

C3 region

The high degree of genetic polymorphism in the α 2-helix of C3 had been noted previously in several studies involving human and rhesus macaque (Fig. 5C) (264, 387, 430). The identical region is also highly variable in K03135 from 64 weeks postinoculation onwards (Fig. 4C). Similar to the V1V2 region, mutations in this region frequently involved charged amino acids. A comparison of the net charge of C3 revealed a close similarity between the pigtailed and rhesus macaques, with a significant (P<0.0001) decrease in the C3 charge occurring near the late stage of disease (Fig. 6B).

V4 loop

85% of the viral populations carried deletions in V4 by 64 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 4C). Deletions in V4 had been reported in pig-tailed macaque infected with a different SHIV (361). In our study, the V4 deletions focused on the methionine located at the tip of V4, which was also progressively eliminated over time in the precursor envelope sequences of SHIV-1157ipd3N4 (Fig. 5C, Table 2) (387). Surprisingly, deletions in V4 were presented at 16.5% of the viral populations from the non-progressor macaque J02185 at 65 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. S1).

C4 region

Despite a high sequence homology in the C4 region of Env, E415Q and E426A in K03135 emerged from 64 weeks postinoculation onwards (Fig. 4C). E415Q is a significant mutation since this position is involved in CD4 binding. Surprisingly, the identical position was also mutated to glutamine over time in rhesus macaque infected with another SHIV (165). Similarly, E426A, a CCR5 binding site, was observed in pig-

tailed macaques, rhesus macaques and human as the disease progressed (Fig. 5C, Table 2). Since glutamic acid is a negatively charged amino acid, mutations at these two positions increased the overall charge of C4 (P<0.0001) as the disease progressed in K03135 (Fig. 6C). In addition, this pattern of increasing the charge of C4 resembled that observed in rhesus macaque during disease progression (Fig. 6C).

V5 loop and gp41 region

91.6% of the viral populations in K03135 contained deletions in V5 at 83 weeks post-inoculation (Fig. 7A). Similar deletions were also observed in rhesus macaque and human over time (Fig. 5D, Table 2). Lastly, the genetic variability of the envelope decreased sharply after the V5 loop. We did not find any mutations in the C5 region of the envelope and only few mutations were detected in gp41 (Fig. 7B and C). However, 1.2% of the viral populations in the gut tissue of K03135 contained deletions in the heptad repeat 1 of gp41 (Fig. 7C). Given that this deletion happened at such low frequency and localized in the gut tissue only, the impact of this mutation had on the overall disease progression could be minimal.

Discussion

In this study, we provided a comprehensive view of the HIV-1 clade C envelope diversifications during disease progression between progressor and non-progressor pigtailed macaques. Despite an extremely low level of diversity and divergence from the inoculum, we were still able to detect minor envelope variants in the non-progressor macaque J02185 over time, demonstrating the value of UDPS. However, there was clearly a mechanism by which J02185 was able to keep its infection well controlled. The fact that J02185 had envelope binding antibodies but no neutralizing antibodies against SHIV-1157ipd3N4, as reported in the previous study, indicated that neutralizing antibody responses are not the main mechanism behind its control over the virus (161). In addition, the gradual reduction of PBMC proviral load occurred in J02185 without any significant decreases in its CD4⁺ T-cell counts, suggesting that this reduction was not due to a lack of target cells. This differs from the observation in the progressor macaque K03135, whose reduction of PBMC proviral load coincided with low CD4⁺ T-cell counts. Together, the data strongly suggests that cell-mediated immunity, such as cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses, may be responsible for suppressing viral replication in J02185. However, due to a lack of information on the MHC class and CTL response analysis of J02185, we can only postulate that this was the main mechanism for viral control in this animal, which led to a reduction in virus production and the number of infected cells. Since mutations occur more frequently during viral replication, a diminished virus production will minimize the level of viral genetic variation, thus explaining the lack of envelope diversity and divergence in J02185 during the course of observation.

On the contrary, our data showed a very different picture for the progressor macaque K03135. The high plasma viral RNA load, PBMC proviral DNA load and decreasing CD4⁺ T-cell counts before the development of AIDS, indicated a lack of viral control by K03135 host responses. Similar to J02185, there were envelope binding antibodies but no neutralizing antibodies against SHIV-1157ipd3N4 present in K03135 (161). Given this lack of neutralizing antibody responses, there may have been a lack of selective pressure resulting in rapid envelope evolution during the early phase of infection, thus explaining the low level of envelope diversity and divergence in K03135 before the development of AIDS. At the late stage of the disease, perhaps due to the combined effects of an ablated cellular immune system and natural selection for viral fitness, there was then a sharp increase in the envelope diversity and divergence in K03135. The notion that viral fitness was the main component for natural selection at the late stage of disease is supported by our observation that the distribution of envelope variations is not random; with mutations frequently occurring at specific regions or hotspots throughout the envelope that are proximal to important receptor binding sites over time, suggesting the presence of an active selection process.

In our study, we also observed that the envelope tended to follow a certain evolutionary pattern that correlated with disease progression. The majority of the envelope mutations were observed after the onset of AIDS. The most common mutations involved the addition of PNGS, which usually takes place in highly variable regions such as V1V2, α 2-helix of C3, V4 and V5, and PNGS have been shown to play an important role in immune evasion (70, 405). However, since the infected animals in our study had no neutralizing antibodies against the homologous virus, we believe these mutations evolved in response to the presence of high levels of non-neutralizing antibodies (161). Although non-neutralizing antibodies cannot inhibit viral infection directly, they might still exert a selective pressure on the viral envelope through antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), as suggested recently during SIV infection (370).

Changes in the length of envelope had been associated with immune escape and disease progression (80, 392). Our data show that V1 accounted for the largest increase in length over time, and coincided with late stages of disease in the infected animals. There is a close relationship between the higher percentages of viral populations containing deletions in V4 and V5 with late stages of disease as well. Furthermore, our study observed a close association of changes in the envelope charges with disease progression. For example, the net charge in V1V2 and C3 tended to increase, while there was a decrease in C4 charges as the disease progressed. Variations in the charge of envelope had been suggested to affect viral fitness and were associated with disease progression (311). The high number of charged amino acids in the α 2-helix of C3 and its close proximity to the V4 loop suggest that it could be under heavy selective pressure from the non-neutralizing antibodies (146, 264, 265). More importantly, charged amino acid mutations such as D273N, E415Q and E426A might affect the receptors binding ability of the envelope. Interestingly, similar mutations had been observed with clade A envelope as well (96).

In our study, we have demonstrated that the use of SHIV-1157ipd3N4 in pigtailed macaque model can mimic the primary HIV-1 infection and disease progression in the human. Due to samples availability, we only analyzed PBMC vDNA. While plasma vRNA is derived from actively replicating virus population, infected PBMC contain incoming or newly synthesized vRNA in addition to integrated and unintegrated vDNA. Thus, studying PBMC allows us to document the complete HIV quasispecies repertoire which consists of actively replicating and archived viruses. Moreover, the use of UDPS in this study allowed us to detect and quantify minority variants that would have gone unnoticed using conventional sequencing technology. However, a major challenge with UDPS is its inherent errors that arise during the pyrosequencing process and those introduced by PCR amplification. Such errors are typically localized to homopolymers (397). Therefore, careful filtering and control is essential to minimize the possibility of erroneous sequences. We implemented a carefully designed clean-up strategy to minimize the impact of 454 sequencing errors on interpreting our data. Our denoising approach removed most pyrosequencing errors due to sporadic base changes introduced during PCR while attempting to retain true biological sequence variation. The success of this approach is measured by our control plasmid amplicons as they were reduced to a single variant population.

In summary, UDPS has shown a strong association between the mutational dynamics of envelope and disease progression in the infected animals. In addition, we found a temporal relationship between the numbers of mutations occurring with little genetic variation before AIDS and more genetic variation afterwards. Such changes are likely due to a lack of immune surveillance in the early phase and selection for better viral fitness at the late stage of disease. Additionally, our data suggest that although nonneutralizing antibodies cannot inhibit the virus directly, they might still contribute to the evolution of envelope. More importantly, a majority of the mutations and evolutionary patterns of the envelope witnessed in SHIV-1157ipd3N4-infected pig-tailed

macaques were also common in infected rhesus macaques and human, thus, suggesting a common selection pathway for the virus irrespective of the species studied.

Ackowledgments

We thank Ben Bimber and Bette Korber for useful discussions on the 454 analysis.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: FYT DCT CW. Performed the experiments: SG OH PP. Analyzed the data: FYT DCT CQ. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: SLH RMR. Wrote the paper: FYT DCT.

Figures and Figure Legends





Figure 1. CD4⁺ T-cell counts, plasma and PBMC viral loads from infected pig-tailed macaques. (A) Total CD4⁺ T-cell counts (B) viral RNA loads in plasma and (C) proviral cDNA loads in PBMC. A scale break (//) representing 8 weeks post-inoculation was insert into the x-axis to show the early stage of infection. A cross (+) represents death of the animal due to AIDS.

Figure 2.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the envelope regions covered by each amplicon (in reference to Env of the infectious molecular clone, SHIV-1157ipd3N4).

Figure 3.



Figure 3. Phylogenetic analysis. (A) Shannon diversity. Longitudinal trends in sequence diversity analyzed using the Shannon Index. Time post-inoculation is shown on the x-axis and Shannon Diversity Index values are shown on the y-axis. All data shown are for AmpliconNoise processed amplicons. (B) Divergence. Longitudinal trends in sequence divergence from the time of inoculation. For direct comparison of sequences the mean Hamming distance at each time point was measured. Divergence was based on the Hamming distances to the SHIV-1157ipd3N4 inoculum for each amplicon. Time post-inoculation is shown on the x-axis and Hamming distance values are shown on the y-axis. Data for each amplicon are shown separately with macaque J02185 in red and macaque K03135 in blue, respectively.

A (Amplicon 1)

		123		133	136 I	137 I	146 I	156	166	17	6 186 I	196	206	216	226 1	
SHIV-1157ipd3N4	OSLKPCV	KLT SL	LCVTIK	CSN F.		KSNVTYK	GDM EVK	NCSFNVT	TEIRDKKOKV	YALFYRLDIT	PLDDNSSEY1	LINCNSSTIT	QACPKVNFDP	IPIHYCAPAG	YAILKCNNKT F	
K2wks_0 (10	0%)	-		-												
K16wks_0 (10	0%)	-	-													
K16wks_gut_0 (10	0%)	-	-	-												
K44wks_0 (84	.2%)	-		-			-									
K44wks_1 (15	. 8%)	<u>р</u> і														
K64wks_0 (15	. 8%)	М. Р.		U		B			R A				D			
K64wks_1 (14	8) G	<u>р</u> і	N	i !			E GI.		ΑΑ				D			
K64wks 11 (5.	2%)	р.	N		. KSSNFTG	Ξ	0		К.				D			
K64wks_12 (1.	9%) .G	р С	N	н Н П		H	E		ΑΑ				D			
K64wks_13 (0.	78)	<u>р</u>	N			NE	5		K.				D			
K64wks 17 (2.	3%)	сı					5						D			
K64wks_19 (0.	1%) .G	сı	N				.E.	Ъ					:			
K64wks 2 (6.	7%)	Сı	N			U	В 		R. A				D			
K64wks_21 (1%	(Сı Сı	N		KSSNFTR	DR	-1		A				D			
K64wks 22 (0.	3%)	M.		8		J. NR	-1		I				Q			
K64wks 26 (0.	1%) G	р _і	N			NR NR	-		R. A				E			
K64wks 27 (4.	2%)	Сı	N			L.D.	5		К.				D			
K64wks_3 (38	. 6%)	Сı	N	-	.R		EE I.		Κ.	ν.			D			
K64wks_32 (1.	3%) G	р.	N	-		NNR			A				D			
K64wks_36 (0.	8%) .G	р,	N		.R	Ξ	-i		R. A				D			
K64wks_4 (5.	98)	р.	N			DR	-i		ΑΑ				D			
K64wks_6 (1.	2%) .G	р.		8		D. HR	-i		AA				D			
K83wks 0 (37	.3%) .G.	сı	N	- I - I - I	KSNDTGE	DR			R. A				D			
K83wks_1 (18	. 6%) .G	<u>р</u>	N	. F	. KSNDTGE	DR	-i		RA				D			
K83wks 2 (18	.3%)	М. Р	N	н 			EG L.		R. A				D			
K83wks_3 (25	.4%) G.	М.	N		. KSNDTGE	D R	-1		R. A				D			
K83wks 4 (0.	1%) .G	р,	N			NE	U		R. A				О			
K83wks_5 (0.	2%)	<u>р</u>	N				В. Т G						D			
												-				
		5			-	۲		_		72				5 C		





ប

ŝ

ប

(Amplicon	3)	322	33.	3	142	352 36	62 37	.2 .382	392	402	412	422	432	442	45
SHIV-1157ipd	3N4 GL	DIIGDIROA	HCNISKENWN	KTLOWVRGK	L KEHFPNKTI	V FKPSSGGDLE	I ITHSFNCRG	EFFYCNTSKL	FNSTDNSTHM	GTENNTITI	PCRIKOIINM V	DEVCRAMYA P	P IECNITCK	SNITGLLLVR	DGGWDNSTND
K2wks_0	(100%)														
K16wks_0	(100%)														
K16wks_gut_0	(100%)												-		
K44wks_0	(78.8%)												-		
K44wks_1	(21.2%)												A		
K64wks_11	(5%)		D	R								0	A		
K64wks_14	(2.1%)	.ν.	д	R.K.					9	DV		0	A		
K64wks_16	(1.5%)		GS.D	R									A		
K64wks_32	(6.2%)			ER								0	A		
K64wks_40	(0.7%)		EKD.S	R.G					Λ			0	A		
K64wks_17	(0.5%)		GS.D	R					A						
K64wks_18	(3.2%)		GS.D	R						S		0	A		
K64wks_19	(20.9%)			R						S		0	A		
K64wks_4	(21.8%)		О							S			A		
K64wks_15	(2%)			ΕR						A					
K64wks_22	(5.2%)		GS	۳						A			A		
K64wks_47	(5.9%)		S.	TGE.				Δ							
K64wks_48	(11.8%)			NR				3							
K64wks_53	(0.8%)		EKD.S	R.G				IATHONC							
K64wks_67	(10.5%)		D	RG					:						
K64wks_20	(1.8%)		GS.D	R.K						A			A		:
K83wks_0	(1.7%)		S	T G. E						:					
K83wks_1	(4.1%)		ER	T R.K.						ST			A		
K83wks_2	(73.7%)		S	T G. E						ST			A		
K83wks_4	(1.3%)		ER	TR.K.					AG	DT		0	A		
K83wks_5	(17.5%)		S	дG				R.							
K83wks_6	(0.9%)		GS.D	<mark>ں</mark>						AT			<u>A</u>		
K83wks_7	(0.3%)		ER.	TR.K					GA	DS.T			A	:	
K83wks_8	(0.3%)		GS.D	0											
K83wks_11	(0.2%)		Ξ.	R R	Ξ.				AG	DT			A		
	I	5			۲ ۲								2		
		5	-		3			-	44		_		¢		

ပ

128

Figure 4. Amino acid alignments of the envelope from infected pig-tailed macaque K03135 as represented by "K". (A) Amplicon 1, (B) Amplicon 2 and (C) Amplicon 3. Weeks post-inoculation is represented by "wks". The value after "_" shows the population number. Deletions in the alignments are shown as "-". The amount of the particular viral population at that time point is represented as percentage. Point mutations described in the text are highlighted by red color box.
A (1157i and RPn-8 examples for Amplicon 1)

1157i 00wks_1-01	TIKCSDFNGT	R	<u>EG</u>	KGEMAN	CSFNV TTEIRDKKQK	VNALFYRLDI TPL	DE-NSNN SSE	YRLINCN S	STITQACPK VNFDPIP	IHY CAPAGYA	VLK CNNKT
1157i 26wks 1-02	N		····· XL AN	.EUNVN	U						
1157i125wks 01		К	Y.G	QENKVK.			N				Ι
1157i125wks_17	N	SNV	THNDNGTR S-NVTY.D.C	.DCKVK.		.YP	GS.		V		Π
1157i155wks 1-25			····TUV	.EDKVK.		S	NSNI		V		Π
1157i155wks 1-29		NN	TR-STVTY.D.C	.DCKVK.		Y. P.	N		Υ		Π
1157i 206wks 2-23		KSVNDN	TIKY.D.C	NDCKVK.		.YKP	.GS. P		V		Π
1157i 206wks 2-29		0VNG	TSG.NVTY.D.C	RDCKVK.	R	Y P	.GSK.				Π
1157i 288wks 13		KKVNGTQG SNGTYGTQTV	NGTQG.NGTY.D.C	.DCKVS.	0	AYKVI	GGS		.I		Π
1157i288wks 16	TN		D YTVV	.EDKVK.			N				TD.
SHIV-1157i			·····	.EDKVK.			N				Π
RPn-8 26wks 1			D	.EDRVK.	N	Р	N				Π
RPn-886wks 4			S	REG.DTVK.			D	I.			Π
RPn-8 159wks 1				D.DTVK.		Υ	.D	I.			Π
RPn-8 215wks 1		K	, R, A.R	EEG.DTVK.		.Y	D D.				Π
RPn-8 215wks 2	NNL.A.		SNL.A.R	EEG.DTVK.		.YK	d.	. I			Π
RPn-8 275wks 1	NNL.T.	НВ	NA THGSNLQ	GEK.		MY	NOS				I
	<u>دا</u>		۷۱			V2		╞		5	

B (1157i and RPn-8 examples for Amplicon 2)

AHCMISKENW NKTLQWVKEK LEEHFPNKTI VFKPSSGGDL EITTHS		T. ~~HE.RKG.		TRS. TQR.EKK EP	Y NKR. T. G.T. Y NK T. R. TK K. A. O.P.		RG	RGR	GD	T.T.E.G.GK	Т. Е	
CENTRESS RECORDERS FOR TEDILODIRO	S	9	Q. T	Q.ТV МN	Q.T. V. M.N.		;	×	SLI.	SL I SL I	SLA.	V3
IIIRSENL TDNVKTIIVH LNESVEINCT	K		R .I				[Eq.]	H 24 E4	E	V F K VT	MV	
NUKTFNGTG PCHNVSTVQC THGIKPVVST QLLLNGSLAE RE	M	K. N	K. N. S. K.	S	N	D					3	C2
1157i 00wks_1-01 CN 1157i 26wks_1-01	1157i 26wks_1-02 1157i 125wks 01	1157i 125wks 17	1157i 155wks_1-25 1157i 155wks_1-29	1157i 206wks_2-23 .	1157i 206wks_2-29 . 1157i 288wks 13	1157i 288wks 16	SHIV-1157i	RPn-8 26wks_1 RPn-8 86wks 4	RPn-8 159wks 1	RPn-8 215wks 1 RPn-8 215wks 2	RPn-8 275wks 1	

Figure 5.

C (1157i and RPn-8 examples for Amplicon 3)

SLLLVRD G																	
TCKS NIT								N. S								R.	
P IEGNI		A	A		A.K.	A. Q.	A.K.	A 0.		-	-	-	VA	A	A	.va	5
GRAMYAP																	
NMW QEV				-								-			-	.	
CRIKQII						54	54										
TVITIP								64					E.	I.	I.	$(-,,\mathbf{I})$	
TGND	:	:			×	····	×	AE KE.G	:	:	:	:		י יי	י ט	;	
THMD							THTS	Δ	R.								
-GTDN S				-DN	-S	-S	-S	-S	-S				-S	-S I	SN	NS	۷4
L FN			:		:	:	1		:	:	:	:	:	:	DTG	DTG	
FYCNTSK													A				_
NCRG EF																	
ITTHSF												S					
SSGGDLE						Р.	Ъ	Р.									
TIV FKP		A	A	A		E		AQ.			-	-		. Е . В	E	M	ខ
EEHFPNK		К				К		K				D		GK.		К	
WVKEKL	RK.	U	E.RK.	R	E	R.EK	G. I.	R. TK	-	RG	RG	RGR.	D H	ی ۲		U	
WN KTLQ				8		.T Q	E								E	M	
CNISKEN		М-	.TH	K	.TKK	.TRS	T.N.KR	NK					8	R .S	T. T.	Ξ.	
DIRQA H						N											V3
1 GDIIG	- ~		י ט	25	29	23	29 .N				Υ.				.ν.	Α.	
Wks_1-0	6wks_1-0	25wks 01	25wks 17	55wks 1	55wks 1-	06wks 2-	06wks 2-	38wks 13	88wks 16	57i	6wks_1	5wks 4	59wks_1	15wks 1	15wks 2	75wks_1	
1 15 7i 0(1157i 24	1157i 1:	1157i 12	1157i 1	1157i 1	1157i 2(1157i 2(1157i 28	1157i 28	SHIV-11	RPn-8 24	RPn-8 8t	RPn-8 1!	RPn-8 2.	RPn-8 2.	RPn-8 2'	

۵

(1157i and RPn8 examples for V5 loop)

TFRPG																	
GQDNSTNNTE					I.	T		L. R. T.				.RQD	.RET		.RGDN. D	.EG.NT	
1157i 00wks_1-01	1157i 26wks_1-U1	1157i 125wks 01	1157i 125wks 17	1157i 155wks 1-25	1157i 155wks 1-29	1157i 206wks 2-23	1157i 206wks 2-29	1157i 288wks ¹ 3	1157i 288wks_16	SHIV-1157i	RPn-8 26wks 1	RPn-8 86wks 4	RPn-8 159wks_1	RPn-8 215wks 1	RPn-8 215wks 2	RPn-8 275wks 1	

Figure 5. Amino acid alignments of the envelope from infected human (1157i) and rhesus macaque (RPn-8). 1157i and RPn-8 examples for (A) Amplicon 1, (B) Amplicon 2, (C) Amplicon 3 and (D) V5 loop. The inoculum for RPn-8 was SHIV-1157i (the initial infectious molecular clone). Weeks post-inoculation or infection is represented by "wks". Sequences presented here are examples from each time point. These are not consensus sequences and do not represent all the sequence data from both the infected human and rhesus macaque. Point mutations described in the text are highlighted by red color box.

Figure 6.



Time points post-inoculation

Figure 6. Comparison of envelope charges between the infected pig-tailed macaque (K03135) and rhesus macaque (RPn-8). (A) V1V2 regions, (B) C3 region and (C) C4 region. Time points are represented in weeks post-inoculation (wpi). The inoculum SHIV strain for K03135 was SHIV-1157ipd3N4 and SHIV-1157i for RPn-8. Each icon represents one envelope sequence.

Figure 7.

	4
	con
	mpli
◄	R

	42	8	8	940				- 100	ř –	0	ō, —	0	r —	0	one –	
57ipd3N4	AMYAPPIEGN	ITCKSNITG	LURDG	S NON S	TNDTET	- <mark>8</mark> -	GGDMRDNI	WR SEL	XXXKVVE	VKPL	GIAPTK	AKRR	VEREK	RAVGI	GAVFL	GFLGAAG
(100%)					-	-				-				-		
(100%)				-		-		:		-						
put_0 (100%)						-		:		-						
(13.7%)	A.			-		-										
(86.3%)						-										
(100%)	Α			R.D.		-										
(8.4%)	Α			.0.D	ت	-						-				
(47.5%)	Α			Н Н		-				-						
(44.1%)	A.			R	ت	-		:		-				-		
					1									┝		
		5	-		\$2 2		_			S				_	db	Ŧ





(Amplicon 5)	47	- 48(5 - 49 -	- 50 -		16 526 -	536	546	556	566 -	576	586 -	
SHIV-1157ipd3N4	WRSELYKYKV	VEVKPLGIAP	TKAKRRVVER	EKRAVGIGAV	V FLGFLGAAG	S TMGAASITLT	VQARQLLSGI	VQQQDNLLRA	IEAQQHMLQL	TVWGIKQLQA	RVLAIERYLQ 1	DOOLLGIWGC	SGKLICTTZ
K2wks_0 (100%)													
K16wks_0 (100%)													
K16wks_gut_0 (98.8%)													:
K16wks_gut_1 (1.2%)													
K44wks_0 (2.6%)							E4						
K44wks_1 (59%)								N			V	M	
K44wks_2 (38.4%)													-
K64wks_0 (5.7%)								N			V	M	:
K64wks_1 (93.6%)								N			V	M	
K64wks_2 (0.7%)								N					
K83wks_0 (54.1%)								N			ν	M	
K83wks_1 (45.9%)								N			V	M	:
		C5						ap41					
								5					

C (Amplicon 6)

	574	584	55	94 6	04	614 bi	54	634	644	500	604	6/4	20	
		_	_				_				_	_		
SHIV-1157ipd3N4	QARVLAIERY	LQDQQLLGIW	CCSGKLICT	AVPWNDSWS	N KSQTDIWE	NM TWMQWDREI	S RHTDTIYF	RLL EDSQNQC	EKN EKDL	ALDSW KN	LWNWESIT	RWLWYIKIFI	MIVGGLIGLR	IIFA
K2wks_0 (100	8)													-
K16wks_0 (100	8)													
K16wks_gut_0 (100	8)													-
K44wks_2 (0.1	8)	M.												
X44wks_0 (38.	1%)													
X44wks_1 (61.	7%)V	Μ.			Q		K							-
%64wks_0 (100	8)V	M.			Q	I	. K							
X83wks_0 (99.	8%)V	M.			Q		. KN							
X83wks 1 (0.2	8) V	M			Q		. K. N.				S			

gp41

Figure 7. Amino acid alignments of the envelope from infected pig-tailed macaque K03135 as represented by "K". (A) Amplicon 4, (B) Amplicon 5 and (C) Amplicon 6. Weeks post-inoculation is represented by "wks". The value after "_" shows the population number. Deletions in the alignments are shown as "-". The amount of the particular viral population at that time point is represented as percentage.

Time points (post inoculation or infection)	Amino acid position 124 (C1)	Amino acid position 130 (C1)	Deletion (V1)	Insertion (V1)	Amino acid position 262 (C2)	Amino acid position 273 (C2)	Amino acid position 302 (V3)
SHIV-1157ipd3N4	S (100%)	K (100%)	%0	0%	G (100%)	D (100%)	S (100%)
K03135 2 weeks	S (100%)	K (100%)	%0	%0	G (100%)	D (100%)	S (100%)
K03135 16 weeks	S (100%)	K (100%)	%0	%0	G (100%)	D (100%)	S (100%)
K03135 16 weeks gut	S (100%)	K (100%)	0%	%0	G (100%)	D (92.6%)	S (92.6%)
K03135 44 weeks	S (84.2%)/P (15.8%)	K (100%)	%0	%0	G (99.1%)/E (0.9%)	D (99.1%)/N (0.9%)	H (41.6%)
K03135 64 weeks	P (100%)	K (19.5%)/N (80.5%)	14%	6.2%	G (2.9%)/E (97.1%)	D (2.9%)/N (97.1%)	H (100%)
K03135 83 weeks	P (100%)	N (100%)	18.3%	81.3%	E (100%)	N (100%)	H (100%)
1157i 0 week	I	K (100%)	%0	%0	R (96.8%)/W (3.2%)	D (100%)	R (100%)
1157i 26 weeks	I	K (82.7%)/N (6.8%)	37.9%	55.1%	R (100%)	D (100%)	R (100%)
1157i 125 weeks	I	K (19.2%)/N (46.1%)	%0	100%	R (26.9%)/G (73.1%)	D (100%)	R (100%)
1157i 155 weeks	I	K (13.6%)/N (81.8%)	9%	81.8%	R (4.5%)/G (95.5%)	D (100%)	R (100%)
1157i 206 weeks	I	N (100%)	%0	100%	G (100%)	D (100%)	R (100%)
1157i 288 weeks	1	K (15.6%)/ N (18.7%)/T (65.7%)	%0	100%	R (81.2%)/ G (18.8%)	D (100%)	R (65.6%)/K (31.2%)/G (3.1%)
SHIV-1157i	P (100%)	K (100%)	%0	%0	R (100%)	D (100%)	R (100%)
RPn8 26 weeks	I	K (100%)	%0	%0	R (100%)	D (100%)	R (100%)
RPn8 86 weeks	I	K (100%)	64.5%	%0	R (100%)	D (96.8%)/ G (3.2%)	R (80.6%)/A (16.1%)/S (3.2%)
RPn8 159 weeks	1	K (100%)	3.3%	0%	R (23.3%)/ G (26.7%)/E (50%)	D (100%)	S (100%)
RPn8 215 weeks	I	K (10%)/N (86.6%)	60%	33.3%	K (3.3%)/ G (3.3%)/E (93.3%)	D (40%)/N (60%)	S (100%)
RPn8 275 weeks	1	N (88.8%)	0%0	100%	E (100%)	D (2.8%)/N (97.2%)	S (100%)
Notes:	Adjacent to CD4 binding site	PNGS and charges	PNGS and charges	PNGS and charges		CD4 binding site	

Amino acid positions are in reference to the SHIV-1157ipd3N4 envelope. Percentage of viral population containing a particular mutation is shown. "-"represent no information.

Table 1: Comparison of HIV-1 clade C Env mutations between infected pig-tailed

Time points (post inoculation or infection)	Deletion (C2V3C3)	α2-helix (C3)	Deletion (V4)	Amino acid position 415 (C4)	Amino acid position 426 (C4)	Deletion (V5)	Deletion (gp41)
SHIV-1157ipd3N4	0%	Non variable	0%	E (100%)	E (100%)	0%	0%0
K03135 2 weeks	%0	Non variable	0%	E (100%)	E (100%)	%0	0%0
K03135 16 weeks	%0	Non variable	%0	E (100%)	E (100%)	%0	0%0
K03135 16 weeks gut	7.4%	Non variable	0%	E (100%)	E (100%)	%0	1.2%
K03135 44 weeks	%0	Non variable	%0	E (78.8%)/Q (21.2%)	E (86.3%)/A (13.7%)	%0	0%0
K03135 64 weeks	%0	Variable	85%	E (2.3%)/Q (97.7%)	A (100%)	%0	%0
K03135 83 weeks	%0	Variable	100%	Q (100%)	A (100%)	91.6%	0%0
1157i 0 week	%0	Non variable	%0	E (100%)	E (100%)	0%0	I
1157i 26 weeks	%0	Non variable	37.9%	E (96.6%)/G (3.4%)	E (100%)	%0	I
1157i 125 weeks	%0	Variable	46.2%	E (100%)	E (26.9%)/A (73.1%)	0%	I
1157i 155 weeks	%0	Variable	95.5%	E (100%)	E (59.1%)/A (40.9%)	%0	I
1157i 206 weeks	%0	Variable	84.6%	E (100%)	E (15.4%)/A (84.6%)	23.1%	I
1157i 288 weeks	%0	Variable	12.5%	E (100%)	E (59.4%)/A (40.6%)	15.6%	I
SHIV-1157i	%0	Non variable	%0	E (100%)	E (100%)	%0	I
RPn8 26 weeks	%0	Non variable	%0	E (100%)	E (100%)	%0	I
RPn8 86 weeks	%0	Non variable	%0	E (100%)	E (29%)/A (71%)	%0	I
RPn8 159 weeks	%0	Variable	60.0%	E (100%)	A (100%)	6.7%	I
RPn8 215 weeks	%0	Variable	10.0%	E (100%)	A (100%)	83.3%	I
RPn8 275 weeks	%0	Variable	88.9%	E (100%)	A (100%)	25.0%	I
Notes:		PNGS and charges	PNGS	CD4 binding site	CCR5 binding site	PNGS and charges	Heptad Repeat 1
Amino acid positions are in Percentage of viral populati	reference to the ion containing a	SHIV-1157ipd3N4 enve particular mutation is sl	lope. 10wn. ''-''represe	ent no information.			

Table 2. Comparison of HIV-1 clade C Env mutations between infected pig-tailed(K03135), rhesus macaque (RPn-8) and human (1157i).

139

Primer	Sequence (5 ^{, -} 3') ^a	Genome location
env1_F	cgtatcgcctccctcgcgccatcag-MID-GATGCATGAGGATATAATCAGTTTATGGGA	309–338 ^b
env1_F_a	cgtatcgcctccctcgcgccatcag-MID-CCGGGAAGAGAGATGTTACCTACAAAGGG	404–432 ^b
env1_R	ctatgcgccttgccagcccgctcag-ACATTATGGCATGGTCCTGTCCCA	684–707 ^b
env2_F	cgtatcgcctccctcgcgccatcag-MID-CCTGCTGGTTATGCGATTCTAAA	640–662 ^b
env2_R	<pre>ctatgcgccttgccagctcag-CAATAGAAAATTCTCCTCTACAATTAAA</pre>	1102–1130 ^b
env3_F	cgtatcgcctccctcgcgccatcag-MID-ACCAGGACAAGCAATCTATGCCAC	912-935 ^b
env3_R	ctatgcgccttgccagcccgctcag-TCCTCCAGGCCTGAATGTTTCTGT	1357–1380 ^b
env3_F_control	cgtatcgcctccctcgcgccatcag-MID-ATGAGGATAGGACCAGGACAAGCA	892–915 ^c
env3_R_control	ctatgcgccttgccagcccgctcag-TCCTCCCGGTCTGAATATCTCTGT	1321–1344 ^c
env4_F	cgtatcgcctccctcgcgccatcag-MID-TAAACATGTGGCAGGAGGTAGGAC	1229–1252 ^b
env4_R	<pre>ctatgcgccttgccagctcag-ATTGATGCTGCGCCCATAGTGCT</pre>	1546–1568 ^b
env5_F	cgtatcgcctccctcgcgccatcag-MID-TGGAGGAGGAGAGATATGAGGGGACAA	1374–1397 ^b
env5_R	ctatgcgccttgccagcccgctcag-TACTCCAACTGTCCAAGGCA	1787–1810 ^b
env6_F	cgtatcgcctccctcgcgccatcag-MID-TGGGGCATTAAGCAGCTC	1675–1692 ^b
env6_R	ctatgcgccttgccagcccgctcag-CGATAATGGTGAGTATCCCTGCCT	2089–2112 ^b
^a lower-case letters: 5' extensic ^b In reference to the envelope ^c In reference to the envelope	ons for forward and reverse adaptor sequences; MID: 10-bp multiplex identifier; capital letters: env of the infectious molecular clone SHIV-1157ipd3N4 (GenBank: DQ779174.1). of the HIV-1 isolate HIV1084i (GenBank: AY805330.1).	elope specific sequences.

Table 3. Primers used for ultradeep-pyrosequencing library preparation.



Supporting Figure 1.





Supporting Figure 1. Amino acid alignments of the envelope from infected pig-tailed macaque J02185 as represented by "J". (A) Amplicon 1, (B) Amplicon 2, (C) Amplicon 3, (D) Amplicon 4, (E) Amplicon 5 and (F) Amplicon 6. Weeks post-inoculation is represented by "wks". The value after "_" shows the population number. Deletions in the alignments are shown as "-". The amount of the particular viral population at that time point is represented as percentage.

Chapter 5

Concluding remarks

In summary, our studies have validated the experimental infection of macaques with SHIV-C as a useful and valid animal model for studying HIV-1 envelope evolution during disease progression. This is supported by our data in chapter two, which has demonstrated that the genetic evolution of HIV-1 envelope V1-V5 region and its disease progression in the SHIV-C infected animal are comparable to those of the HIV-1 infected patient. To further support this conclusion, evidence from chapter four showed similar envelope mutations and evolution in the pig-tailed macaque infected by a closely related SHIV-C. Together, these studies suggest that the HIV-1 envelope V1-V5 region follows a similar evolutionay pattern during disease progression in three different host species.

Although we had observed numerous envelope mutations in chapters two and four based on sequence analysis, the question of whether these mutations had actually affected the envelope functions remained unclear. To address this issue, we examined changes in biological functions of the HIV-1 envelope during disease progression in chapter three. By using the SHIV-C model, we have demonstrated the close relationship between changes in the envelope functions and disease progression. Importantly, we believe are the first to report the occurrence of a reduction in the virion-associated gp120 content as the disease progresses. Moreover, our data also underscored the emergence of mAb neutralization resistance phenotypes with variations in charged residues of the HIV-1 envelope over the disease course. These observations might represent another facet of the viral escape mechanisms aside from the previously proposed glycan shield theory (405). In addition, data from chapter three suggests that the current notion that the late virus might have a higher fitness in comparison to the early viruses may not necessarily be occurring in all cases during disease progression (310, 385). In contrast with other studies, our results suggest that viruses encoding envelopes from the late disease course could also have relatively lower replicative fitness compare to those viruses with early envelopes. This could be a result of accumulated mutations during disease progression, which may have provided some *in-vivo* survival advantages but at the cost of viral fitness in the late envelopes.

Further studies are warranted to confirm these observations using SHIV encoding other HIV-1 envelope strains. It will be ideal to study these envelope functional changes in HIV-1 patients during disease progression. However, it is infeasible to follow HIV-1 patients over extended period of time from the establishment of infection to the development of AIDS. The current antiretroviral drugs are effective in preventing the disease progression and improving the quality of life in most HIV-1 infected individuals. However, the availability of HAART also presented a major challenge for enrolling drugtreatment naïve patients. These issues represent some of the difficulties in conducting such studies in patients and underscored the importance of non-human primate models for HIV-1 research.

As mentioned in the literature review, there are other envelope functions that we have not investigated. These functions, such as the cytotoxicity and by-stander killing effects, will be interesting to investigate since they might affect the viral pathogenesis. Also, future studies should consider examining the full HIV-1 gp160 instead of only the V1-V5 region, since other envelope regions, such as the signal peptide and gp41, as well

as other viral structural and regulatory gene products might influence the viral fitness and disease progression (17).

Additionally, it is important to note that we cannot exclude the possibility that our observed changes in the HIV-1 envelope over time as an adaptational consequence of infecting non-human primates. A recent study had indeed reported mutations of the HIV-1 clade A envelope that are associated with adaptation during infection of monkey cell lines (173). Lastly, the age of the host during establishment of infection might impact viral evolution as well. The immature immune system of the infants might had exerted less selective pressure during the establishment of infection, in comparison to the adults with mature immune system, resulting in different outcome of selection.

In conclusion, our findings have provided strong evidence that the HIV-1 envelope V1-V5 region follows a similar evolutionary pattern in two different nonhuman primate species and is closely associated with disease progression in the infected patient, contributing to a better overall understanding of HIV-1 envelope evolution during disease progression.

References

- 1. 1983. Epidemiologic notes and reports immunodeficiency among female sexual partners of males with Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS) New York. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep **31:**697-8
- 2. 2010. Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic: 2010, December 2010 ed. UN Joint Programme on HIV/AIDS.
- 3. 2012. Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic: 2012, November 2012 ed. UN Joint Programme on HIV/AIDS.
- 4. 1981. Kaposi's sarcoma and Pneumocystis pneumonia among homosexual men--New York City and California. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep **30:**305-8.
- 5. 1982. Unexplained immunodeficiency and opportunistic infections in infants--New York, New Jersey, California. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep **31:**665-7.
- Abrahams, M. R., J. A. Anderson, E. E. Giorgi, C. Seoighe, K. Mlisana, L. H. Ping, G. S. Athreya, F. K. Treurnicht, B. F. Keele, N. Wood, J. F. Salazar-Gonzalez, T. Bhattacharya, H. Chu, I. Hoffman, S. Galvin, C. Mapanje, P. Kazembe, R. Thebus, S. Fiscus, W. Hide, M. S. Cohen, S. A. Karim, B. F. Haynes, G. M. Shaw, B. H. Hahn, B. T. Korber, R. Swanstrom, and C. Williamson. 2009. Quantitating the multiplicity of infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C reveals a non-poisson distribution of transmitted variants. J Virol 83:3556-67.
- 7. Abrahamyan, L. G., R. M. Markosyan, J. P. Moore, F. S. Cohen, and G. B. Melikyan. 2003. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Env with an intersubunit disulfide bond engages coreceptors but requires bond reduction after engagement to induce fusion. J Virol 77:5829-36.
- Agrawal-Gamse, C., F. H. Lee, B. Haggarty, A. P. Jordan, Y. Yi, B. Lee, R. G. Collman, J. A. Hoxie, R. W. Doms, and M. M. Laakso. 2009. Adaptive mutations in a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein with a truncated V3 loop restore function by improving interactions with CD4. J Virol 83:11005-15.
- Alter, G., M. P. Martin, N. Teigen, W. H. Carr, T. J. Suscovich, A. Schneidewind, H. Streeck, M. Waring, A. Meier, C. Brander, J. D. Lifson, T. M. Allen, M. Carrington, and M. Altfeld. 2007. Differential natural killer cellmediated inhibition of HIV-1 replication based on distinct KIR/HLA subtypes. J Exp Med 204:3027-36.
- Anoje, C., B. Aiyenigba, C. Suzuki, T. Badru, K. Akpoigbe, M. Odo, S. Odafe, O. Adedokun, K. Torpey, and O. N. Chabikuli. 2012. Reducing mother-to-child transmission of HIV: findings from an early infant diagnosis program in south-south region of Nigeria. BMC Public Health 12:184.
- Apetrei, C., B. Sumpter, S. Souquiere, A. Chahroudi, M. Makuwa, P. Reed, R. M. Ribeiro, I. Pandrea, P. Roques, and G. Silvestri. 2011. Immunovirological analyses of chronically simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmnd-1- and SIVmnd-2-infected mandrills (Mandrillus sphinx). J Virol 85:13077-87.

- Archer, J., A. Rambaut, B. E. Taillon, P. R. Harrigan, M. Lewis, and D. L. Robertson. 2010. The evolutionary analysis of emerging low frequency HIV-1 CXCR4 using variants through time--an ultra-deep approach. PLoS Comput Biol 6:e1001022.
- Arnott, A., D. Jardine, K. Wilson, P. R. Gorry, K. Merlin, P. Grey, M. G. Law, E. M. Dax, A. D. Kelleher, D. E. Smith, and D. A. McPhee. 2010. High viral fitness during acute HIV-1 infection. PLoS One 5.
- 14. **Arya, S. K., C. Guo, S. F. Josephs, and F. Wong-Staal.** 1985. Trans-activator gene of human T-lymphotropic virus type III (HTLV-III). Science **229:**69-73.
- 15. Asaoka, K., K. Ikeda, T. Hishinuma, K. Horie-Inoue, S. Takeda, and S. Inoue. 2005. A retrovirus restriction factor TRIM5alpha is transcriptionally regulated by interferons. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **338**:1950-6.
- Asjo, B., L. Morfeldt-Manson, J. Albert, G. Biberfeld, A. Karlsson, K. Lidman, and E. M. Fenyo. 1986. Replicative capacity of human immunodeficiency virus from patients with varying severity of HIV infection. Lancet 2:660-2.
- 17. Asmal, M., I. Hellmann, W. Liu, B. F. Keele, A. S. Perelson, T. Bhattacharya, S. Gnanakaran, M. Daniels, B. F. Haynes, B. T. Korber, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and N. L. Letvin. 2011. A signature in HIV-1 envelope leader peptide associated with transition from acute to chronic infection impacts envelope processing and infectivity. PLoS One 6:e23673.
- Back, N. K., L. Smit, J. J. De Jong, W. Keulen, M. Schutten, J. Goudsmit, and M. Tersmette. 1994. An N-glycan within the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 V3 loop affects virus neutralization. Virology 199:431-8.
- Bailes, E., F. Gao, F. Bibollet-Ruche, V. Courgnaud, M. Peeters, P. A. Marx, B. H. Hahn, and P. M. Sharp. 2003. Hybrid origin of SIV in chimpanzees. Science 300:1713.
- 20. Ballweber, L., B. Robinson, A. Kreger, M. Fialkow, G. Lentz, M. J. McElrath, and F. Hladik. 2011. Vaginal langerhans cells nonproductively transporting HIV-1 mediate infection of T cells. J Virol 85:13443-7.
- 21. **Baltimore, D.** 1970. RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of RNA tumour viruses. Nature **226**:1209-11.
- Bar, K. J., H. Li, A. Chamberland, C. Tremblay, J. P. Routy, T. Grayson, C. Sun, S. Wang, G. H. Learn, C. J. Morgan, J. E. Schumacher, B. F. Haynes, B. F. Keele, B. H. Hahn, and G. M. Shaw. 2010. Wide variation in the multiplicity of HIV-1 infection among injection drug users. J Virol 84:6241-7.
- 23. Barre-Sinoussi, F., J. C. Chermann, F. Rey, M. T. Nugeyre, S. Chamaret, J. Gruest, C. Dauguet, C. Axler-Blin, F. Vezinet-Brun, C. Rouzioux, W. Rozenbaum, and L. Montagnier. 1983. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science 220:868-71.
- 24. **Beaumont, T., A. van Nuenen, S. Broersen, W. A. Blattner, V. V. Lukashov, and H. Schuitemaker.** 2001. Reversal of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 IIIB to a neutralization-resistant phenotype in an accidentally infected laboratory worker with a progressive clinical course. J Virol **75**:2246-52.

- 25. Berger, E. A., P. M. Murphy, and J. M. Farber. 1999. Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. Annu Rev Immunol 17:657-700.
- 26. Berger, G., S. Durand, G. Fargier, X. N. Nguyen, S. Cordeil, S. Bouaziz, D. Muriaux, J. L. Darlix, and A. Cimarelli. 2011. APOBEC3A is a specific inhibitor of the early phases of HIV-1 infection in myeloid cells. PLoS Pathog 7:e1002221.
- 27. Bimber, B. N., B. J. Burwitz, S. O'Connor, A. Detmer, E. Gostick, S. M. Lank, D. A. Price, A. Hughes, and D. O'Connor. 2009. Ultradeep pyrosequencing detects complex patterns of CD8+ T-lymphocyte escape in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Virol 83:8247-53.
- 28. **Binette, J., M. Dube, J. Mercier, D. Halawani, M. Latterich, and E. A. Cohen.** 2007. Requirements for the selective degradation of CD4 receptor molecules by the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein in the endoplasmic reticulum. Retrovirology **4:**75.
- Binley, J. M., P. J. Klasse, Y. Cao, I. Jones, M. Markowitz, D. D. Ho, and J. P. Moore. 1997. Differential regulation of the antibody responses to Gag and Env proteins of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 71:2799-809.
- 30. Binley, J. M., E. A. Lybarger, E. T. Crooks, M. S. Seaman, E. Gray, K. L. Davis, J. M. Decker, D. Wycuff, L. Harris, N. Hawkins, B. Wood, C. Nathe, D. Richman, G. D. Tomaras, F. Bibollet-Ruche, J. E. Robinson, L. Morris, G. M. Shaw, D. C. Montefiori, and J. R. Mascola. 2008. Profiling the specificity of neutralizing antibodies in a large panel of plasmas from patients chronically infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtypes B and C. J Virol 82:11651-68.
- 31. Blay, W. M., S. Gnanakaran, B. Foley, N. A. Doria-Rose, B. T. Korber, and N. L. Haigwood. 2006. Consistent patterns of change during the divergence of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope from that of the inoculated virus in simian/human immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Virol 80:999-1014.
- 32. Blay, W. M., T. Kasprzyk, L. Misher, B. A. Richardson, and N. L. Haigwood. 2007. Mutations in envelope gp120 can impact proteolytic processing of the gp160 precursor and thereby affect neutralization sensitivity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 pseudoviruses. J Virol **81**:13037-49.
- 33. **Bogerd, H. P., B. P. Doehle, H. L. Wiegand, and B. R. Cullen.** 2004. A single amino acid difference in the host APOBEC3G protein controls the primate species specificity of HIV type 1 virion infectivity factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**:3770-4.
- Borggren, M., J. Repits, J. Sterjovski, H. Uchtenhagen, M. J. Churchill, A. Karlsson, J. Albert, A. Achour, P. R. Gorry, E. M. Fenyo, and M. Jansson. 2011. Increased sensitivity to broadly neutralizing antibodies of end-stage disease R5 HIV-1 correlates with evolution in Env glycosylation and charge. PLoS One 6:e20135.
- 35. **Bosco, D. A., E. Z. Eisenmesser, S. Pochapsky, W. I. Sundquist, and D. Kern.** 2002. Catalysis of cis/trans isomerization in native HIV-1 capsid by human cyclophilin A. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **99:**5247-52.

- 36. Bosinger, S. E., Q. Li, S. N. Gordon, N. R. Klatt, L. Duan, L. Xu, N. Francella, A. Sidahmed, A. J. Smith, E. M. Cramer, M. Zeng, D. Masopust, J. V. Carlis, L. Ran, T. H. Vanderford, M. Paiardini, R. B. Isett, D. A. Baldwin, J. G. Else, S. I. Staprans, G. Silvestri, A. T. Haase, and D. J. Kelvin. 2009. Global genomic analysis reveals rapid control of a robust innate response in SIV-infected sooty mangabeys. J Clin Invest 119:3556-72.
- 37. Bouzar, A. B., S. Villet, T. Morin, A. Rea, L. Genestier, F. Guiguen, C. Garnier, J. F. Mornex, O. Narayan, and Y. Chebloune. 2004. Simian immunodeficiency virus Vpr/Vpx proteins kill bystander noninfected CD4+ T-lymphocytes by induction of apoptosis. Virology 326:47-56.
- 38. **Brennan, G., Y. Kozyrev, T. Kodama, and S. L. Hu.** 2007. Novel TRIM5 isoforms expressed by Macaca nemestrina. J Virol **81:**12210-7.
- Briggs, J. A., T. Wilk, R. Welker, H. G. Krausslich, and S. D. Fuller. 2003. Structural organization of authentic, mature HIV-1 virions and cores. EMBO J 22:1707-15.
- 40. **Brown, H. J., W. H. McBride, J. A. Zack, and R. Sun.** 2005. Prostratin and bortezomib are novel inducers of latent Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. Antivir Ther **10**:745-51.
- 41. **Bryant, M., and L. Ratner.** 1990. Myristoylation-dependent replication and assembly of human immunodeficiency virus 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **87:**523-7.
- 42. Buckley, K. A., P. L. Li, A. H. Khimani, R. Hofmann-Lehmann, V. Liska, D. C. Anderson, H. M. McClure, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2003. Convergent evolution of SIV env after independent inoculation of rhesus macaques with infectious proviral DNA. Virology **312**:470-80.
- 43. Bukrinsky, M. I., S. Haggerty, M. P. Dempsey, N. Sharova, A. Adzhubel, L. Spitz, P. Lewis, D. Goldfarb, M. Emerman, and M. Stevenson. 1993. A nuclear localization signal within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of non-dividing cells. Nature 365:666-9.
- 44. **Bunnik, E. M., L. Pisas, A. C. van Nuenen, and H. Schuitemaker.** 2008. Autologous neutralizing humoral immunity and evolution of the viral envelope in the course of subtype B human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol **82:**7932-41.
- 45. Bunnik, E. M., M. J. van Gils, M. S. Lobbrecht, L. Pisas, A. C. van Nuenen, and H. Schuitemaker. 2009. Changing sensitivity to broadly neutralizing antibodies b12, 2G12, 2F5, and 4E10 of primary subtype B human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants in the natural course of infection. Virology 390:348-55.
- 46. Bushman, F. D., A. Engelman, I. Palmer, P. Wingfield, and R. Craigie. 1993. Domains of the integrase protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 responsible for polynucleotidyl transfer and zinc binding. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:3428-32.
- Cale, E. M., P. Hraber, E. E. Giorgi, W. Fischer, T. Bhattacharya, T. Leitner, W. W. Yeh, C. Gleasner, L. D. Green, C. S. Han, B. Korber, and N. L. Letvin. 2011. Epitope-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes cross-recognize mutant simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) sequences but fail to contain very early

evolution and eventual fixation of epitope escape mutations during SIV infection. J Virol **85:**3746-57.

- 48. Cameron, P. U., M. G. Lowe, S. M. Crowe, U. O'Doherty, M. Pope, S. Gezelter, and R. M. Steinman. 1994. Susceptibility of dendritic cells to HIV-1 infection in vitro. J Leukoc Biol **56**:257-65.
- 49. **Campbell, T. B., K. Schneider, T. Wrin, C. J. Petropoulos, and E. Connick.** 2003. Relationship between in vitro human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication rate and virus load in plasma. J Virol **77:**12105-12.
- 50. Carlson, J. M., J. Listgarten, N. Pfeifer, V. Tan, C. Kadie, B. D. Walker, T. Ndung'u, R. Shapiro, J. Frater, Z. L. Brumme, P. J. Goulder, and D. Heckerman. 2012. Widespread impact of HLA restriction on immune control and escape pathways of HIV-1. J Virol 86:5230-43.
- 51. Carrington, M., G. W. Nelson, M. P. Martin, T. Kissner, D. Vlahov, J. J. Goedert, R. Kaslow, S. Buchbinder, K. Hoots, and S. J. O'Brien. 1999. HLA and HIV-1: heterozygote advantage and B*35-Cw*04 disadvantage. Science 283:1748-52.
- Carter, C. C., A. Onafuwa-Nuga, L. A. McNamara, J. t. Riddell, D. Bixby, M. R. Savona, and K. L. Collins. 2010. HIV-1 infects multipotent progenitor cells causing cell death and establishing latent cellular reservoirs. Nat Med 16:446-51.
- 53. **Cavrois, M., C. De Noronha, and W. C. Greene.** 2002. A sensitive and specific enzyme-based assay detecting HIV-1 virion fusion in primary T lymphocytes. Nat Biotechnol **20:**1151-4.
- Cavrois, M., J. Neidleman, M. Bigos, and W. C. Greene. 2004. Fluorescence resonance energy transfer-based HIV-1 virion fusion assay. Methods Mol Biol 263:333-44.
- 55. Centlivre, M., P. Sommer, M. Michel, R. Ho Tsong Fang, S. Gofflo, J.
 Valladeau, N. Schmitt, F. Thierry, B. Hurtrel, S. Wain-Hobson, and M. Sala.
 2005. HIV-1 clade promoters strongly influence spatial and temporal dynamics of viral replication in vivo. J Clin Invest 115:348-58.
- 56. **Chackerian, B., L. M. Rudensey, and J. Overbaugh.** 1997. Specific N-linked and O-linked glycosylation modifications in the envelope V1 domain of simian immunodeficiency virus variants that evolve in the host alter recognition by neutralizing antibodies. J Virol **71:**7719-27.
- 57. Chahroudi, A., S. E. Bosinger, T. H. Vanderford, M. Paiardini, and G. Silvestri. 2012. Natural SIV hosts: showing AIDS the door. Science **335**:1188-93.
- 58. Chang, H. C., F. Samaniego, B. C. Nair, L. Buonaguro, and B. Ensoli. 1997. HIV-1 Tat protein exits from cells via a leaderless secretory pathway and binds to extracellular matrix-associated heparan sulfate proteoglycans through its basic region. AIDS **11**:1421-31.
- 59. Chao, L. 1990. Fitness of RNA virus decreased by Muller's ratchet. Nature 348:454-5.
- 60. Chasela, C. S., M. G. Hudgens, D. J. Jamieson, D. Kayira, M. C.
 Hosseinipour, A. P. Kourtis, F. Martinson, G. Tegha, R. J. Knight, Y. I.
 Ahmed, D. D. Kamwendo, I. F. Hoffman, S. R. Ellington, Z. Kacheche, A.
 Soko, J. B. Wiener, S. A. Fiscus, P. Kazembe, I. A. Mofolo, M. Chigwenembe,

D. S. Sichali, and C. M. van der Horst. 2010. Maternal or infant antiretroviral drugs to reduce HIV-1 transmission. N Engl J Med **362**:2271-81.

- 61. Chen, B., E. M. Vogan, H. Gong, J. J. Skehel, D. C. Wiley, and S. C. Harrison. 2005. Structure of an unliganded simian immunodeficiency virus gp120 core. Nature **433**:834-41.
- 62. **Chen, B. K., R. T. Gandhi, and D. Baltimore.** 1996. CD4 down-modulation during infection of human T cells with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 involves independent activities of vpu, env, and nef. J Virol **70**:6044-53.
- 63. Chen, Z., A. Gettie, D. D. Ho, and P. A. Marx. 1998. Primary SIVsm isolates use the CCR5 coreceptor from sooty mangabeys naturally infected in west Africa: a comparison of coreceptor usage of primary SIVsm, HIV-2, and SIVmac. Virology **246**:113-24.
- 64. Cheng-Mayer, C., D. Seto, M. Tateno, and J. A. Levy. 1988. Biologic features of HIV-1 that correlate with virulence in the host. Science **240**:80-2.
- 65. Chenine, A. L., N. B. Siddappa, V. G. Kramer, G. Sciaranghella, R. A. Rasmussen, S. J. Lee, M. Santosuosso, M. C. Poznansky, V. Velu, R. R. Amara, C. Souder, D. C. Anderson, F. Villinger, J. G. Else, F. J. Novembre, E. Strobert, S. P. O'Neil, W. E. Secor, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2010. Relative transmissibility of an R5 clade C simian-human immunodeficiency virus across different mucosae in macaques parallels the relative risks of sexual HIV-1 transmission in humans via different routes. J Infect Dis 201:1155-63.
- 66. Chertova, E., J. W. Bess, Jr., B. J. Crise, I. R. Sowder, T. M. Schaden, J. M. Hilburn, J. A. Hoxie, R. E. Benveniste, J. D. Lifson, L. E. Henderson, and L. O. Arthur. 2002. Envelope glycoprotein incorporation, not shedding of surface envelope glycoprotein (gp120/SU), Is the primary determinant of SU content of purified human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and simian immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 76:5315-25.
- 67. Chertova, E., O. Chertov, L. V. Coren, J. D. Roser, C. M. Trubey, J. W. Bess, Jr., R. C. Sowder, 2nd, E. Barsov, B. L. Hood, R. J. Fisher, K. Nagashima, T. P. Conrads, T. D. Veenstra, J. D. Lifson, and D. E. Ott. 2006. Proteomic and biochemical analysis of purified human immunodeficiency virus type 1 produced from infected monocyte-derived macrophages. J Virol 80:9039-52.
- 68. **Chitnis, A., D. Rawls, and J. Moore.** 2000. Origin of HIV type 1 in colonial French Equatorial Africa? AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **16:**5-8.
- Choe, H., M. Farzan, Y. Sun, N. Sullivan, B. Rollins, P. D. Ponath, L. Wu, C. R. Mackay, G. LaRosa, W. Newman, N. Gerard, C. Gerard, and J. Sodroski. 1996. The beta-chemokine receptors CCR3 and CCR5 facilitate infection by primary HIV-1 isolates. Cell 85:1135-48.
- 70. Chohan, B., D. Lang, M. Sagar, B. Korber, L. Lavreys, B. Richardson, and J. Overbaugh. 2005. Selection for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycosylation variants with shorter V1-V2 loop sequences occurs during transmission of certain genetic subtypes and may impact viral RNA levels. J Virol 79:6528-31.
- 71. **Choisy, M., C. H. Woelk, J. F. Guegan, and D. L. Robertson.** 2004. Comparative study of adaptive molecular evolution in different human immunodeficiency virus groups and subtypes. J Virol **78:**1962-70.

- 72. Chomont, N., M. El-Far, P. Ancuta, L. Trautmann, F. A. Procopio, B. Yassine-Diab, G. Boucher, M. R. Boulassel, G. Ghattas, J. M. Brenchley, T. W. Schacker, B. J. Hill, D. C. Douek, J. P. Routy, E. K. Haddad, and R. P. Sekaly. 2009. HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. Nat Med 15:893-900.
- 73. Cicala, C., E. Martinelli, J. P. McNally, D. J. Goode, R. Gopaul, J. Hiatt, K. Jelicic, S. Kottilil, K. Macleod, A. O'Shea, N. Patel, D. Van Ryk, D. Wei, M. Pascuccio, L. Yi, L. McKinnon, P. Izulla, J. Kimani, R. Kaul, A. S. Fauci, and J. Arthos. 2009. The integrin alpha4beta7 forms a complex with cell-surface CD4 and defines a T-cell subset that is highly susceptible to infection by HIV-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:20877-82.
- 74. Clarke, D. K., E. A. Duarte, S. F. Elena, A. Moya, E. Domingo, and J. Holland. 1994. The red queen reigns in the kingdom of RNA viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:4821-4.
- 75. Clavel, F., D. Guetard, F. Brun-Vezinet, S. Chamaret, M. A. Rey, M. O. Santos-Ferreira, A. G. Laurent, C. Dauguet, C. Katlama, C. Rouzioux, and et al. 1986. Isolation of a new human retrovirus from West African patients with AIDS. Science 233:343-6.
- 76. **Coffin JM, H. S., Varmus HE (ed.).** 1997. Retroviruses. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor (NY).
- 77. **Coffin, J. M., S. H. Hughes, and H. E. Varmus.** 1997. The Interactions of Retroviruses and their Hosts.
- 78. Coren, L. V., J. A. Thomas, E. Chertova, R. C. Sowder, 2nd, T. D. Gagliardi, R. J. Gorelick, and D. E. Ott. 2007. Mutational analysis of the C-terminal gag cleavage sites in human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 81:10047-54.
- 79. **Craigie, R., and F. D. Bushman.** 2012. HIV DNA Integration. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med **2**:a006890.
- 80. Curlin, M. E., R. Zioni, S. E. Hawes, Y. Liu, W. Deng, G. S. Gottlieb, T. Zhu, and J. I. Mullins. 2010. HIV-1 envelope subregion length variation during disease progression. PLoS Pathog 6:e1001228.
- 81. D'Aquila, R. T., A. M. Geretti, J. H. Horton, E. Rouse, A. Kheshti, S. Raffanti, K. Oie, K. Pappa, and L. L. Ross. 2010. Tenofovir (TDF)-selected or abacavir (ABC)-selected low-frequency HIV type 1 subpopulations during failure with persistent viremia as detected by ultradeep pyrosequencing. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 27:201-9.
- 82. Daniel, M. D., N. L. Letvin, N. W. King, M. Kannagi, P. K. Sehgal, R. D. Hunt, P. J. Kanki, M. Essex, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1985. Isolation of T-cell tropic HTLV-III-like retrovirus from macaques. Science **228**:1201-4.
- 83. **Daugherty, M. D., B. Liu, and A. D. Frankel.** 2010. Structural basis for cooperative RNA binding and export complex assembly by HIV Rev. Nat Struct Mol Biol **17:**1337-42.
- 84. **De Clercq, E.** 1992. HIV inhibitors targeted at the reverse transcriptase. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **8**:119-34.
- 85. De Cock, K. M., M. G. Fowler, E. Mercier, I. de Vincenzi, J. Saba, E. Hoff, D. J. Alnwick, M. Rogers, and N. Shaffer. 2000. Prevention of mother-to-child

HIV transmission in resource-poor countries: translating research into policy and practice. JAMA **283**:1175-82.

- 86. **De Jong, J. J., A. De Ronde, W. Keulen, M. Tersmette, and J. Goudsmit.** 1992. Minimal requirements for the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V3 domain to support the syncytium-inducing phenotype: analysis by single amino acid substitution. J Virol **66**:6777-80.
- de Marco, A., B. Muller, B. Glass, J. D. Riches, H. G. Krausslich, and J. A. Briggs. 2010. Structural analysis of HIV-1 maturation using cryo-electron tomography. PLoS Pathog 6:e1001215.
- 88. **de Silva, T. I., M. Cotten, and S. L. Rowland-Jones.** 2008. HIV-2: the forgotten AIDS virus. Trends Microbiol **16:**588-95.
- 89. Deacon, N. J., A. Tsykin, A. Solomon, K. Smith, M. Ludford-Menting, D. J. Hooker, D. A. McPhee, A. L. Greenway, A. Ellett, C. Chatfield, V. A. Lawson, S. Crowe, A. Maerz, S. Sonza, J. Learmont, J. S. Sullivan, A. Cunningham, D. Dwyer, D. Dowton, and J. Mills. 1995. Genomic structure of an attenuated quasi species of HIV-1 from a blood transfusion donor and recipients. Science 270:988-91.
- 90. Debouck, C., J. G. Gorniak, J. E. Strickler, T. D. Meek, B. W. Metcalf, and M. Rosenberg. 1987. Human immunodeficiency virus protease expressed in Escherichia coli exhibits autoprocessing and specific maturation of the gag precursor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:8903-6.
- 91. Delchambre, M., D. Gheysen, D. Thines, C. Thiriart, E. Jacobs, E. Verdin, M. Horth, A. Burny, and F. Bex. 1989. The GAG precursor of simian immunodeficiency virus assembles into virus-like particles. EMBO J 8:2653-60.
- 92. Deng, H., R. Liu, W. Ellmeier, S. Choe, D. Unutmaz, M. Burkhart, P. Di Marzio, S. Marmon, R. E. Sutton, C. M. Hill, C. B. Davis, S. C. Peiper, T. J. Schall, D. R. Littman, and N. R. Landau. 1996. Identification of a major coreceptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. Nature 381:661-6.
- 93. Derdeyn, C. A., J. M. Decker, F. Bibollet-Ruche, J. L. Mokili, M. Muldoon, S. A. Denham, M. L. Heil, F. Kasolo, R. Musonda, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, B. T. Korber, S. Allen, and E. Hunter. 2004. Envelope-constrained neutralization-sensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission. Science 303:2019-22.
- 94. Dewhurst, S., J. E. Embretson, D. C. Anderson, J. I. Mullins, and P. N. Fultz. 1990. Sequence analysis and acute pathogenicity of molecularly cloned SIVSMM-PBj14. Nature 345:636-40.
- 95. **Di Marzio, P., S. Choe, M. Ebright, R. Knoblauch, and N. R. Landau.** 1995. Mutational analysis of cell cycle arrest, nuclear localization and virion packaging of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J Virol **69:**7909-16.
- 96. **Dieltjens, T., N. Loots, K. Vereecken, K. Grupping, L. Heyndrickx, E. Bottieau, G. Vanham, D. Davis, and W. Janssens.** 2009. HIV type 1 subtype A envelope genetic evolution in a slow progressing individual with consistent broadly neutralizing antibodies. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **25**:1165-9.
- 97. DiMattia, M. A., N. R. Watts, S. J. Stahl, C. Rader, P. T. Wingfield, D. I. Stuart, A. C. Steven, and J. M. Grimes. 2010. Implications of the HIV-1 Rev dimer structure at 3.2 A resolution for multimeric binding to the Rev response element. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:5810-4.

- 98. Doria-Rose, N. A., R. M. Klein, M. M. Manion, S. O'Dell, A. Phogat, B. Chakrabarti, C. W. Hallahan, S. A. Migueles, J. Wrammert, R. Ahmed, M. Nason, R. T. Wyatt, J. R. Mascola, and M. Connors. 2009. Frequency and phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus envelope-specific B cells from patients with broadly cross-neutralizing antibodies. J Virol 83:188-99.
- 99. Dorr, P., M. Westby, S. Dobbs, P. Griffin, B. Irvine, M. Macartney, J. Mori, G. Rickett, C. Smith-Burchnell, C. Napier, R. Webster, D. Armour, D. Price, B. Stammen, A. Wood, and M. Perros. 2005. Maraviroc (UK-427,857), a potent, orally bioavailable, and selective small-molecule inhibitor of chemokine receptor CCR5 with broad-spectrum anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **49:**4721-32.
- 100. **Dosekun, O., and J. Fox.** 2010. An overview of the relative risks of different sexual behaviours on HIV transmission. Curr Opin HIV AIDS **5**:291-7.
- 101. **du Bois, R. M., M. A. Branthwaite, J. R. Mikhail, and J. C. Batten.** 1981. Primary Pneumocystis carinii and cytomegalovirus infections. Lancet **2**:1339.
- 102. **Duarte, E., D. Clarke, A. Moya, E. Domingo, and J. Holland.** 1992. Rapid fitness losses in mammalian RNA virus clones due to Muller's ratchet. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **89:**6015-9.
- 103. Dupont, S., N. Sharova, C. DeHoratius, C. M. Virbasius, X. Zhu, A. G. Bukrinskaya, M. Stevenson, and M. R. Green. 1999. A novel nuclear export activity in HIV-1 matrix protein required for viral replication. Nature 402:681-5.
- 104. Duverger, A., F. Wolschendorf, M. Zhang, F. Wagner, B. Hatcher, J. Jones, R. Q. Cron, R. M. van der Sluis, R. E. Jeeninga, B. Berkhout, and O. Kutsch. 2012. An AP-1 binding site in the enhancer/core element of the HIV-1 promoter controls the ability of HIV-1 to establish latent infection. J Virol.
- 105. Dyda, F., A. B. Hickman, T. M. Jenkins, A. Engelman, R. Craigie, and D. R. Davies. 1994. Crystal structure of the catalytic domain of HIV-1 integrase: similarity to other polynucleotidyl transferases. Science 266:1981-6.
- 106. Eastman, D., A. Piantadosi, X. Wu, D. N. Forthal, G. Landucci, J. T. Kimata, and J. Overbaugh. 2008. Heavily glycosylated, highly fit SIVMne variants continue to diversify and undergo selection after transmission to a new host and they elicit early antibody dependent cellular responses but delayed neutralizing antibody responses. Virol J 5:90.
- 107. Edmonson, P., M. Murphey-Corb, L. N. Martin, C. Delahunty, J. Heeney, H. Kornfeld, P. R. Donahue, G. H. Learn, L. Hood, and J. I. Mullins. 1998. Evolution of a simian immunodeficiency virus pathogen. J Virol 72:405-14.
- 108. Etemad, B., A. Fellows, B. Kwambana, A. Kamat, Y. Feng, S. Lee, and M. Sagar. 2009. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V1-to-V5 envelope variants from the chronic phase of infection use CCR5 and fuse more efficiently than those from early after infection. J Virol 83:9694-708.
- 109. Ewart, G. D., T. Sutherland, P. W. Gage, and G. B. Cox. 1996. The Vpu protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 forms cation-selective ion channels. J Virol **70:**7108-15.
- 110. Fischl, M. A., D. D. Richman, M. H. Grieco, M. S. Gottlieb, P. A. Volberding, O. L. Laskin, J. M. Leedom, J. E. Groopman, D. Mildvan, R. T. Schooley, and et al. 1987. The efficacy of azidothymidine (AZT) in the treatment of

patients with AIDS and AIDS-related complex. A double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. N Engl J Med **317:**185-91.

- Flynn, N. M., D. N. Forthal, C. D. Harro, F. N. Judson, K. H. Mayer, and M. F. Para. 2005. Placebo-controlled phase 3 trial of a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine to prevent HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 191:654-65.
- 112. Fowke, K. R., N. J. Nagelkerke, J. Kimani, J. N. Simonsen, A. O. Anzala, J. J. Bwayo, K. S. MacDonald, E. N. Ngugi, and F. A. Plummer. 1996. Resistance to HIV-1 infection among persistently seronegative prostitutes in Nairobi, Kenya. Lancet 348:1347-51.
- 113. **Freed, E. O., and M. A. Martin.** 1995. Virion incorporation of envelope glycoproteins with long but not short cytoplasmic tails is blocked by specific, single amino acid substitutions in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix. J Virol **69:**1984-9.
- 114. **Freed, E. O., D. J. Myers, and R. Risser.** 1991. Identification of the principal neutralizing determinant of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 as a fusion domain. J Virol **65:**190-4.
- 115. Friedrich, B. M., N. Dziuba, G. Li, M. A. Endsley, J. L. Murray, and M. R. Ferguson. 2011. Host factors mediating HIV-1 replication. Virus Res 161:101-14.
- 116. Friedrich, T. C., L. E. Valentine, L. J. Yant, E. G. Rakasz, S. M. Piaskowski, J. R. Furlott, K. L. Weisgrau, B. Burwitz, G. E. May, E. J. Leon, T. Soma, G. Napoe, S. V. Capuano, 3rd, N. A. Wilson, and D. I. Watkins. 2007. Subdominant CD8+ T-cell responses are involved in durable control of AIDS virus replication. J Virol 81:3465-76.
- 117. Fujita, M., M. Otsuka, M. Nomaguchi, and A. Adachi. 2010. Multifaceted activity of HIV Vpr/Vpx proteins: the current view of their virological functions. Rev Med Virol 20:68-76.
- 118. Fung, M. S., C. R. Sun, W. L. Gordon, R. S. Liou, T. W. Chang, W. N. Sun, E. S. Daar, and D. D. Ho. 1992. Identification and characterization of a neutralization site within the second variable region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120. J Virol 66:848-56.
- Gabuzda, D. H., K. Lawrence, E. Langhoff, E. Terwilliger, T. Dorfman, W. A. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1992. Role of vif in replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Virol 66:6489-95.
- Gallo, R. C. 2002. Historical essay. The early years of HIV/AIDS. Science 298:1728-30.
- 121. Gallo, R. C., S. Z. Salahuddin, M. Popovic, G. M. Shearer, M. Kaplan, B. F. Haynes, T. J. Palker, R. Redfield, J. Oleske, B. Safai, and et al. 1984. Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. Science 224:500-3.
- 122. Gallo, R. C., P. S. Sarin, E. P. Gelmann, M. Robert-Guroff, E. Richardson, V. S. Kalyanaraman, D. Mann, G. D. Sidhu, R. E. Stahl, S. Zolla-Pazner, J. Leibowitch, and M. Popovic. 1983. Isolation of human T-cell leukemia virus in acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science 220:865-7.

- 123. Gallo, S. A., C. M. Finnegan, M. Viard, Y. Raviv, A. Dimitrov, S. S. Rawat, A. Puri, S. Durell, and R. Blumenthal. 2003. The HIV Env-mediated fusion reaction. Biochim Biophys Acta 1614:36-50.
- 124. Gamble, T. R., F. F. Vajdos, S. Yoo, D. K. Worthylake, M. Houseweart, W. I. Sundquist, and C. P. Hill. 1996. Crystal structure of human cyclophilin A bound to the amino-terminal domain of HIV-1 capsid. Cell 87:1285-94.
- 125. Gamble, T. R., S. Yoo, F. F. Vajdos, U. K. von Schwedler, D. K. Worthylake, H. Wang, J. P. McCutcheon, W. I. Sundquist, and C. P. Hill. 1997. Structure of the carboxyl-terminal dimerization domain of the HIV-1 capsid protein. Science 278:849-53.
- 126. Gao, F., E. Bailes, D. L. Robertson, Y. Chen, C. M. Rodenburg, S. F. Michael, L. B. Cummins, L. O. Arthur, M. Peeters, G. M. Shaw, P. M. Sharp, and B. H. Hahn. 1999. Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. Nature 397:436-41.
- Gardner, M. B., and P. A. Luciw. 1989. Animal models of AIDS. FASEB J 3:2593-606.
- 128. Garrity, R. R., G. Rimmelzwaan, A. Minassian, W. P. Tsai, G. Lin, J. J. de Jong, J. Goudsmit, and P. L. Nara. 1997. Refocusing neutralizing antibody response by targeted dampening of an immunodominant epitope. J Immunol 159:279-89.
- 129. Garten, W., S. Hallenberger, D. Ortmann, W. Schafer, M. Vey, H. Angliker, E. Shaw, and H. D. Klenk. 1994. Processing of viral glycoproteins by the subtilisin-like endoprotease furin and its inhibition by specific peptidylchloroalkylketones. Biochimie 76:217-25.
- 130. Gaschen, B., J. Taylor, K. Yusim, B. Foley, F. Gao, D. Lang, V. Novitsky, B. Haynes, B. H. Hahn, T. Bhattacharya, and B. Korber. 2002. Diversity considerations in HIV-1 vaccine selection. Science 296:2354-60.
- 131. Gautam, R., Y. Nishimura, W. R. Lee, O. Donau, A. Buckler-White, M. Shingai, R. Sadjadpour, S. D. Schmidt, C. C. LaBranche, B. F. Keele, D. Montefiori, J. R. Mascola, and M. A. Martin. 2012. Pathogenicity and mucosal transmissibility of the R5-tropic simian/human immunodeficiency virus SHIV(AD8) in rhesus macaques: implications for use in vaccine studies. J Virol 86:8516-26.
- 132. **Gelderblom, H. R.** 1991. Assembly and morphology of HIV: potential effect of structure on viral function. AIDS **5**:617-37.
- 133. Geyer, H., C. Holschbach, G. Hunsmann, and J. Schneider. 1988. Carbohydrates of human immunodeficiency virus. Structures of oligosaccharides linked to the envelope glycoprotein 120. J Biol Chem 263:11760-7.
- 134. **Giacca, M.** 2005. HIV-1 Tat, apoptosis and the mitochondria: a tubulin link? Retrovirology **2:**7.
- 135. Gibbs, J. S., A. A. Lackner, S. M. Lang, M. A. Simon, P. K. Sehgal, M. D. Daniel, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1995. Progression to AIDS in the absence of a gene for vpr or vpx. J Virol 69:2378-83.
- 136. Gibbs, R. A., J. Rogers, M. G. Katze, R. Bumgarner, G. M. Weinstock, E. R. Mardis, K. A. Remington, R. L. Strausberg, J. C. Venter, R. K. Wilson, M. A. Batzer, C. D. Bustamante, E. E. Eichler, M. W. Hahn, R. C. Hardison, K.

D. Makova, W. Miller, A. Milosavljevic, R. E. Palermo, A. Siepel, J. M. Sikela, T. Attaway, S. Bell, K. E. Bernard, C. J. Buhay, M. N. Chandrabose, M. Dao, C. Davis, K. D. Delehaunty, Y. Ding, H. H. Dinh, S. Dugan-Rocha, L. A. Fulton, R. A. Gabisi, T. T. Garner, J. Godfrey, A. C. Hawes, J. Hernandez, S. Hines, M. Holder, J. Hume, S. N. Jhangiani, V. Joshi, Z. M. Khan, E. F. Kirkness, A. Cree, R. G. Fowler, S. Lee, L. R. Lewis, Z. Li, Y. S. Liu, S. M. Moore, D. Muzny, L. V. Nazareth, D. N. Ngo, G. O. Okwuonu, G. Pai, D. Parker, H. A. Paul, C. Pfannkoch, C. S. Pohl, Y. H. Rogers, S. J. Ruiz, A. Sabo, J. Santibanez, B. W. Schneider, S. M. Smith, E. Sodergren, A. F. Svatek, T. R. Utterback, S. Vattathil, W. Warren, C. S. White, A. T. Chinwalla, Y. Feng, A. L. Halpern, L. W. Hillier, X. Huang, P. Minx, J. O. Nelson, K. H. Pepin, X. Qin, G. G. Sutton, E. Venter, B. P. Walenz, J. W. Wallis, K. C. Worley, S. P. Yang, S. M. Jones, M. A. Marra, M. Rocchi, J. E. Schein, R. Baertsch, L. Clarke, M. Csuros, J. Glasscock, R. A. Harris, P. Havlak, A. R. Jackson, H. Jiang, et al. 2007. Evolutionary and biomedical insights from the rhesus macaque genome. Science 316:222-34.

- 137. Gilbert, P. B., M. L. Peterson, D. Follmann, M. G. Hudgens, D. P. Francis, M. Gurwith, W. L. Heyward, D. V. Jobes, V. Popovic, S. G. Self, F. Sinangil, D. Burke, and P. W. Berman. 2005. Correlation between immunologic responses to a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine and incidence of HIV-1 infection in a phase 3 HIV-1 preventive vaccine trial. J Infect Dis 191:666-77.
- 138. Gnanakaran, S., D. Lang, M. Daniels, T. Bhattacharya, C. A. Derdeyn, and B. Korber. 2007. Clade-specific differences between human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clades B and C: diversity and correlations in C3-V4 regions of gp120. J Virol 81:4886-91.
- 139. Goff, S. P. 1992. Genetics of retroviral integration. Annu Rev Genet 26:527-44.
- 140. **Gomez, C., and T. J. Hope.** 2005. The ins and outs of HIV replication. Cell Microbiol **7:**621-6.
- 141. **Goncalves, J., P. Jallepalli, and D. H. Gabuzda.** 1994. Subcellular localization of the Vif protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol **68:**704-12.
- 142. Goonetilleke, N., M. K. Liu, J. F. Salazar-Gonzalez, G. Ferrari, E. Giorgi, V. V. Ganusov, B. F. Keele, G. H. Learn, E. L. Turnbull, M. G. Salazar, K. J. Weinhold, S. Moore, N. Letvin, B. F. Haynes, M. S. Cohen, P. Hraber, T. Bhattacharya, P. Borrow, A. S. Perelson, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, B. T. Korber, and A. J. McMichael. 2009. The first T cell response to transmitted/founder virus contributes to the control of acute viremia in HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 206:1253-72.
- 143. Gottlieb, G. S., L. Heath, D. C. Nickle, K. G. Wong, S. E. Leach, B. Jacobs, S. Gezahegne, A. B. van 't Wout, L. P. Jacobson, J. B. Margolick, and J. I. Mullins. 2008. HIV-1 variation before seroconversion in men who have sex with men: analysis of acute/early HIV infection in the multicenter AIDS cohort study. J Infect Dis 197:1011-5.
- 144. **Goulder, P. J., and D. I. Watkins.** 2004. HIV and SIV CTL escape: implications for vaccine design. Nat Rev Immunol **4:**630-40.
- 145. Gram, G. J., A. Hemming, A. Bolmstedt, B. Jansson, S. Olofsson, L. Akerblom, J. O. Nielsen, and J. E. Hansen. 1994. Identification of an N-linked

glycan in the V1-loop of HIV-1 gp120 influencing neutralization by anti-V3 antibodies and soluble CD4. Arch Virol **139:**253-61.

- 146. Gray, E. S., M. A. Moody, C. K. Wibmer, X. Chen, D. Marshall, J. Amos, P. L. Moore, A. Foulger, J. S. Yu, B. Lambson, S. Abdool Karim, J. Whitesides, G. D. Tomaras, B. F. Haynes, L. Morris, and H. X. Liao. 2011. Isolation of a monoclonal antibody that targets the alpha-2 helix of gp120 and represents the initial autologous neutralizing-antibody response in an HIV-1 subtype C-infected individual. J Virol 85:7719-29.
- 147. Greenier, J. L., K. K. Van Rompay, D. Montefiori, P. Earl, B. Moss, and M. L. Marthas. 2005. Simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) envelope quasispecies transmission and evolution in infant rhesus macaques after oral challenge with uncloned SIVmac251: increased diversity is associated with neutralizing antibodies and improved survival in previously immunized animals. Virol J 2:11.
- 148. Grenfell, B. T., O. G. Pybus, J. R. Gog, J. L. Wood, J. M. Daly, J. A. Mumford, and E. C. Holmes. 2004. Unifying the epidemiological and evolutionary dynamics of pathogens. Science 303:327-32.
- 149. Grisson, R. D., A. L. Chenine, L. Y. Yeh, J. He, C. Wood, G. J. Bhat, W. Xu, C. Kankasa, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2004. Infectious molecular clone of a recently transmitted pediatric human immunodeficiency virus clade C isolate from Africa: evidence of intraclade recombination. J Virol 78:14066-9.
- 150. Groenink, M., R. A. Fouchier, S. Broersen, C. H. Baker, M. Koot, A. B. van't Wout, H. G. Huisman, F. Miedema, M. Tersmette, and H. Schuitemaker. 1993. Relation of phenotype evolution of HIV-1 to envelope V2 configuration. Science 260:1513-6.
- 151. Haggerty, S., M. P. Dempsey, M. I. Bukrinsky, L. Guo, and M. Stevenson. 1991. Posttranslational modifications within the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein which restrict virus assembly and CD4-dependent infection. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 7:501-10.
- 152. Harouse, J. M., A. Gettie, T. Eshetu, R. C. Tan, R. Bohm, J. Blanchard, G. Baskin, and C. Cheng-Mayer. 2001. Mucosal transmission and induction of simian AIDS by CCR5-specific simian/human immunodeficiency virus SHIV(SF162P3). J Virol 75:1990-5.
- 153. Hatziioannou, T., Z. Ambrose, N. P. Chung, M. Piatak, Jr., F. Yuan, C. M. Trubey, V. Coalter, R. Kiser, D. Schneider, J. Smedley, R. Pung, M. Gathuka, J. D. Estes, R. S. Veazey, V. N. KewalRamani, J. D. Lifson, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2009. A macaque model of HIV-1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4425-9.
- 154. Hatziioannou, T., M. Princiotta, M. Piatak, Jr., F. Yuan, F. Zhang, J. D. Lifson, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2006. Generation of simian-tropic HIV-1 by restriction factor evasion. Science **314:**95.
- Hauber, J., M. H. Malim, and B. R. Cullen. 1989. Mutational analysis of the conserved basic domain of human immunodeficiency virus tat protein. J Virol 63:1181-7.
- 156. **Hayami, M., and T. Igarashi.** 1997. SIV/HIV-1 chimeric viruses having HIV-1 env gene: a new animal model and a candidate for attenuated live vaccine. Leukemia **11 Suppl 3:**95-7.

- 157. Hedskog, C., M. Mild, J. Jernberg, E. Sherwood, G. Bratt, T. Leitner, J. Lundeberg, B. Andersson, and J. Albert. 2010. Dynamics of HIV-1 quasispecies during antiviral treatment dissected using ultra-deep pyrosequencing. PLoS One 5:e11345.
- 158. Hemelaar, J., E. Gouws, P. D. Ghys, and S. Osmanov. 2011. Global trends in molecular epidemiology of HIV-1 during 2000-2007. AIDS 25:679-89.
- 159. Hickman-Miller, H. D., W. Bardet, A. Gilb, A. D. Luis, K. W. Jackson, D. I. Watkins, and W. H. Hildebrand. 2005. Rhesus macaque MHC class I molecules present HLA-B-like peptides. J Immunol 175:367-75.
- 160. Hirsch, V. M., M. E. Sharkey, C. R. Brown, B. Brichacek, S. Goldstein, J. Wakefield, R. Byrum, W. R. Elkins, B. H. Hahn, J. D. Lifson, and M. Stevenson. 1998. Vpx is required for dissemination and pathogenesis of SIV(SM) PBj: evidence of macrophage-dependent viral amplification. Nat Med 4:1401-8.
- 161. Ho, O., K. Larsen, P. Polacino, Y. Li, D. Anderson, R. Song, R. M. Ruprecht, and S. L. Hu. 2009. Pathogenic infection of Macaca nemestrina with a CCR5tropic subtype-C simian-human immunodeficiency virus. Retrovirology **6**:65.
- Hoffman, A. D., B. Banapour, and J. A. Levy. 1985. Characterization of the AIDS-associated retrovirus reverse transcriptase and optimal conditions for its detection in virions. Virology 147:326-35.
- 163. **Hoffman, T. L., E. B. Stephens, O. Narayan, and R. W. Doms.** 1998. HIV type I envelope determinants for use of the CCR2b, CCR3, STRL33, and APJ coreceptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**:11360-5.
- 164. Hofmann-Lehmann, R., R. K. Swenerton, V. Liska, C. M. Leutenegger, H. Lutz, H. M. McClure, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2000. Sensitive and robust one-tube real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction to quantify SIV RNA load: comparison of one- versus two-enzyme systems. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 16:1247-57.
- 165. Hofmann-Lehmann, R., J. Vlasak, A. L. Chenine, P. L. Li, T. W. Baba, D. C. Montefiori, H. M. McClure, D. C. Anderson, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2002. Molecular evolution of human immunodeficiency virus env in humans and monkeys: similar patterns occur during natural disease progression or rapid virus passage. J Virol 76:5278-84.
- 166. Holl, V., M. Peressin, T. Decoville, S. Schmidt, S. Zolla-Pazner, A. M. Aubertin, and C. Moog. 2006. Nonneutralizing antibodies are able to inhibit human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in macrophages and immature dendritic cells. J Virol 80:6177-81.
- 167. Hostomsky, Z., Z. Hostomska, T. B. Fu, and J. Taylor. 1992. Reverse transcriptase of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: functionality of subunits of the heterodimer in DNA synthesis. J Virol 66:3179-82.
- 168. Hourioux, C., D. Brand, P. Y. Sizaret, F. Lemiale, S. Lebigot, F. Barin, and P. Roingeard. 2000. Identification of the glycoprotein 41(TM) cytoplasmic tail domains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 that interact with Pr55Gag particles. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 16:1141-7.
- 169. **Hrecka, K., T. Swigut, M. Schindler, F. Kirchhoff, and J. Skowronski.** 2005. Nef proteins from diverse groups of primate lentiviruses downmodulate CXCR4

to inhibit migration to the chemokine stromal derived factor 1. J Virol **79:**10650-9.

- 170. Huang, J., Z. Liang, B. Yang, H. Tian, J. Ma, and H. Zhang. 2007. Derepression of microRNA-mediated protein translation inhibition by apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G) and its family members. J Biol Chem 282:33632-40.
- 171. **Huang, M., J. M. Orenstein, M. A. Martin, and E. O. Freed.** 1995. p6Gag is required for particle production from full-length human immunodeficiency virus type 1 molecular clones expressing protease. J Virol **69:**6810-8.
- 172. Humbert, M., R. A. Rasmussen, R. Song, H. Ong, P. Sharma, A. L. Chenine, V. G. Kramer, N. B. Siddappa, W. Xu, J. G. Else, F. J. Novembre, E. Strobert, S. P. O'Neil, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2008. SHIV-1157i and passaged progeny viruses encoding R5 HIV-1 clade C env cause AIDS in rhesus monkeys. Retrovirology 5:94.
- Humes, D., and J. Overbaugh. 2011. Adaptation of subtype a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope to pig-tailed macaque cells. J Virol 85:4409-20.
- Huse, S. M., J. A. Huber, H. G. Morrison, M. L. Sogin, and D. M. Welch.
 2007. Accuracy and quality of massively parallel DNA pyrosequencing. Genome Biol 8:R143.
- 175. Hussain, A., C. Wesley, M. Khalid, A. Chaudhry, and S. Jameel. 2008. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein interacts with CD74 and modulates major histocompatibility complex class II presentation. J Virol 82:893-902.
- 176. Hutter, G., D. Nowak, M. Mossner, S. Ganepola, A. Mussig, K. Allers, T. Schneider, J. Hofmann, C. Kucherer, O. Blau, I. W. Blau, W. K. Hofmann, and E. Thiel. 2009. Long-term control of HIV by CCR5 Delta32/Delta32 stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med 360:692-8.
- 177. Hwang, S., N. Tamilarasu, K. Kibler, H. Cao, A. Ali, Y. H. Ping, K. T. Jeang, and T. M. Rana. 2003. Discovery of a small molecule Tat-trans-activationresponsive RNA antagonist that potently inhibits human immunodeficiency virus-1 replication. J Biol Chem **278**:39092-103.
- 178. **Hwang, S. S., T. J. Boyle, H. K. Lyerly, and B. R. Cullen.** 1991. Identification of the envelope V3 loop as the primary determinant of cell tropism in HIV-1. Science **253:**71-4.
- 179. Hymes, K. B., T. Cheung, J. B. Greene, N. S. Prose, A. Marcus, H. Ballard, D. C. William, and L. J. Laubenstein. 1981. Kaposi's sarcoma in homosexual men-a report of eight cases. Lancet 2:598-600.
- 180. Igarashi, T., R. Iyengar, R. A. Byrum, A. Buckler-White, R. L. Dewar, C. E. Buckler, H. C. Lane, K. Kamada, A. Adachi, and M. A. Martin. 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 derivative with 7% simian immunodeficiency virus genetic content is able to establish infections in pig-tailed macaques. J Virol 81:11549-52.
- 181. Isaka, Y., A. Sato, S. Miki, S. Kawauchi, H. Sakaida, T. Hori, T. Uchiyama, A. Adachi, M. Hayami, T. Fujiwara, and O. Yoshie. 1999. Small amino acid

changes in the V3 loop of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 determines the coreceptor usage for CXCR4 and CCR5. Virology **264:**237-43.

- 182. Iwabu, Y., H. Fujita, M. Kinomoto, K. Kaneko, Y. Ishizaka, Y. Tanaka, T. Sata, and K. Tokunaga. 2009. HIV-1 accessory protein Vpu internalizes cell-surface BST-2/tetherin through transmembrane interactions leading to lysosomes. J Biol Chem 284:35060-72.
- 183. **Iwai, S., C. Pritchard, D. A. Mann, J. Karn, and M. J. Gait.** 1992. Recognition of the high affinity binding site in rev-response element RNA by the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 rev protein. Nucleic Acids Res **20:**6465-72.
- 184. Jacks, T., M. D. Power, F. R. Masiarz, P. A. Luciw, P. J. Barr, and H. E. Varmus. 1988. Characterization of ribosomal frameshifting in HIV-1 gag-pol expression. Nature 331:280-3.
- 185. Jacobo-Molina, A., J. Ding, R. G. Nanni, A. D. Clark, Jr., X. Lu, C. Tantillo, R. L. Williams, G. Kamer, A. L. Ferris, P. Clark, and et al. 1993. Crystal structure of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase complexed with double-stranded DNA at 3.0 A resolution shows bent DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:6320-4.
- 186. Jacquelin, B., V. Mayau, B. Targat, A. S. Liovat, D. Kunkel, G. Petitjean, M. A. Dillies, P. Roques, C. Butor, G. Silvestri, L. D. Giavedoni, P. Lebon, F. Barre-Sinoussi, A. Benecke, and M. C. Muller-Trutwin. 2009. Nonpathogenic SIV infection of African green monkeys induces a strong but rapidly controlled type I IFN response. J Clin Invest 119:3544-55.
- 187. Jia, B., R. Serra-Moreno, W. Neidermyer, A. Rahmberg, J. Mackey, I. B. Fofana, W. E. Johnson, S. Westmoreland, and D. T. Evans. 2009. Speciesspecific activity of SIV Nef and HIV-1 Vpu in overcoming restriction by tetherin/BST2. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000429.
- 188. Joos, B., M. Fischer, H. Kuster, S. K. Pillai, J. K. Wong, J. Boni, B. Hirschel, R. Weber, A. Trkola, and H. F. Gunthard. 2008. HIV rebounds from latently infected cells, rather than from continuing low-level replication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:16725-30.
- 189. Kamada, K., T. Igarashi, M. A. Martin, B. Khamsri, K. Hatcho, T. Yamashita, M. Fujita, T. Uchiyama, and A. Adachi. 2006. Generation of HIV-1 derivatives that productively infect macaque monkey lymphoid cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:16959-64.
- 190. Kao, S. Y., A. F. Calman, P. A. Luciw, and B. M. Peterlin. 1987. Antitermination of transcription within the long terminal repeat of HIV-1 by tat gene product. Nature **330**:489-93.
- 191. **Kaplan, A. H., M. Manchester, and R. Swanstrom.** 1994. The activity of the protease of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is initiated at the membrane of infected cells before the release of viral proteins and is required for release to occur with maximum efficiency. J Virol **68**:6782-6.
- 192. Karlsson, G. B., M. Halloran, J. Li, I. W. Park, R. Gomila, K. A. Reimann, M. K. Axthelm, S. A. Iliff, N. L. Letvin, and J. Sodroski. 1997. Characterization of molecularly cloned simian-human immunodeficiency viruses causing rapid CD4+ lymphocyte depletion in rhesus monkeys. J Virol 71:4218-25.

- 193. Karpel, R. L., L. E. Henderson, and S. Oroszlan. 1987. Interactions of retroviral structural proteins with single-stranded nucleic acids. J Biol Chem 262:4961-7.
- 194. Kaslow, R. A., M. Carrington, R. Apple, L. Park, A. Munoz, A. J. Saah, J. J. Goedert, C. Winkler, S. J. O'Brien, C. Rinaldo, R. Detels, W. Blattner, J. Phair, H. Erlich, and D. L. Mann. 1996. Influence of combinations of human major histocompatibility complex genes on the course of HIV-1 infection. Nat Med 2:405-11.
- 195. Keckesova, Z., L. M. Ylinen, and G. J. Towers. 2004. The human and African green monkey TRIM5alpha genes encode Ref1 and Lv1 retroviral restriction factor activities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:10780-5.
- 196. Keele, B. F., E. E. Giorgi, J. F. Salazar-Gonzalez, J. M. Decker, K. T. Pham, M. G. Salazar, C. Sun, T. Grayson, S. Wang, H. Li, X. Wei, C. Jiang, J. L. Kirchherr, F. Gao, J. A. Anderson, L. H. Ping, R. Swanstrom, G. D. Tomaras, W. A. Blattner, P. A. Goepfert, J. M. Kilby, M. S. Saag, E. L. Delwart, M. P. Busch, M. S. Cohen, D. C. Montefiori, B. F. Haynes, B. Gaschen, G. S. Athreya, H. Y. Lee, N. Wood, C. Seoighe, A. S. Perelson, T. Bhattacharya, B. T. Korber, B. H. Hahn, and G. M. Shaw. 2008. Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:7552-7.
- 197. Kerkau, T., I. Bacik, J. R. Bennink, J. W. Yewdell, T. Hunig, A. Schimpl, and U. Schubert. 1997. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) Vpu protein interferes with an early step in the biosynthesis of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules. J Exp Med 185:1295-305.
- 198. Kim, J. H., J. D. Mosca, M. T. Vahey, R. J. McLinden, D. S. Burke, and R. R. Redfield. 1993. Consequences of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 superinfection of chronically infected cells. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 9:875-82.
- 199. Kimata, J. T., J. J. Gosink, V. N. KewalRamani, L. M. Rudensey, D. R. Littman, and J. Overbaugh. 1999. Coreceptor specificity of temporal variants of simian immunodeficiency virus Mne. J Virol 73:1655-60.
- 200. Kimata, J. T., L. Kuller, D. B. Anderson, P. Dailey, and J. Overbaugh. 1999. Emerging cytopathic and antigenic simian immunodeficiency virus variants influence AIDS progression. Nat Med 5:535-41.
- 201. Kimura, F., S. Suzu, Y. Nakamura, Y. Nakata, M. Yamada, N. Kuwada, T. Matsumura, T. Yamashita, T. Ikeda, K. Sato, and K. Motoyoshi. 2003. Cloning and characterization of a novel RING-B-box-coiled-coil protein with apoptotic function. J Biol Chem 278:25046-54.
- 202. Kondo, E., and H. G. Gottlinger. 1996. A conserved LXXLF sequence is the major determinant in p6gag required for the incorporation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J Virol **70**:159-64.
- 203. Korber, B. T., K. MacInnes, R. F. Smith, and G. Myers. 1994. Mutational trends in V3 loop protein sequences observed in different genetic lineages of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 68:6730-44.

- 204. Kosakovsky Pond, S. L., and S. D. Frost. 2005. Not so different after all: a comparison of methods for detecting amino acid sites under selection. Mol Biol Evol 22:1208-22.
- 205. Kozak, S. L., E. J. Platt, N. Madani, F. E. Ferro, Jr., K. Peden, and D. Kabat. 1997. CD4, CXCR-4, and CCR-5 dependencies for infections by primary patient and laboratory-adapted isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 71:873-82.
- 206. Krachmarov, C., A. Pinter, W. J. Honnen, M. K. Gorny, P. N. Nyambi, S. Zolla-Pazner, and S. C. Kayman. 2005. Antibodies that are cross-reactive for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clade a and clade B v3 domains are common in patient sera from Cameroon, but their neutralization activity is usually restricted by epitope masking. J Virol **79**:780-90.
- 207. Krachmarov, C. P., W. J. Honnen, S. C. Kayman, M. K. Gorny, S. Zolla-Pazner, and A. Pinter. 2006. Factors determining the breadth and potency of neutralization by V3-specific human monoclonal antibodies derived from subjects infected with clade A or clade B strains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 80:7127-35.
- 208. Kraft, Z., N. R. Derby, R. A. McCaffrey, R. Niec, W. M. Blay, N. L. Haigwood, E. Moysi, C. J. Saunders, T. Wrin, C. J. Petropoulos, M. J. McElrath, and L. Stamatatos. 2007. Macaques infected with a CCR5-tropic simian/human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) develop broadly reactive anti-HIV neutralizing antibodies. J Virol 81:6402-11.
- 209. Kroner, B. L., P. S. Rosenberg, L. M. Aledort, W. G. Alvord, and J. J. Goedert. 1994. HIV-1 infection incidence among persons with hemophilia in the United States and western Europe, 1978-1990. Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 7:279-86.
- 210. Kuiken C, F. B., Leitner T, Apetrei C, Hahn B, Mizrachi I, Mullins J, Rambaut A, Wolinsky S, and Korber B (ed.). 2010. HIV sequence compendium. Theoretical Biology and Biophysics Group, Los Alamos National Laboratory, NM, LA-UR 10-03684.
- 211. Kuiken C, F. B., Leitner T, Apetrei C, Hahn B, Mizrachi I, Mullins J, Rambaut A, Wolinsky S, and Korber B (ed.). 2012. HIV sequence compendium. Theoretical Biology and Biophysics Group, Los Alamos National Laboratory, NM, LA-UR 12-24653.
- 212. Kulkosky, J., D. M. Culnan, J. Roman, G. Dornadula, M. Schnell, M. R. Boyd, and R. J. Pomerantz. 2001. Prostratin: activation of latent HIV-1 expression suggests a potential inductive adjuvant therapy for HAART. Blood 98:3006-15.
- 213. Kuppuswamy, M., T. Subramanian, A. Srinivasan, and G. Chinnadurai. 1989. Multiple functional domains of Tat, the trans-activator of HIV-1, defined by mutational analysis. Nucleic Acids Res 17:3551-61.
- 214. **Kwa, D., J. Vingerhoed, B. Boeser, and H. Schuitemaker.** 2003. Increased in vitro cytopathicity of CC chemokine receptor 5-restricted human immunodeficiency virus type 1 primary isolates correlates with a progressive clinical course of infection. J Infect Dis **187:**1397-403.

- 215. Kwong, P. D., R. Wyatt, J. Robinson, R. W. Sweet, J. Sodroski, and W. A. Hendrickson. 1998. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. Nature 393:648-59.
- 216. LaBonte, J., J. Lebbos, and P. Kirkpatrick. 2003. Enfuvirtide. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2:345-6.
- 217. Laguette, N., N. Rahm, B. Sobhian, C. Chable-Bessia, J. Munch, J. Snoeck, D. Sauter, W. M. Switzer, W. Heneine, F. Kirchhoff, F. Delsuc, A. Telenti, and M. Benkirane. 2012. Evolutionary and functional analyses of the interaction between the myeloid restriction factor SAMHD1 and the lentiviral Vpx protein. Cell Host Microbe 11:205-17.
- 218. Laguette, N., B. Sobhian, N. Casartelli, M. Ringeard, C. Chable-Bessia, E. Segeral, A. Yatim, S. Emiliani, O. Schwartz, and M. Benkirane. 2011. SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. Nature 474:654-7.
- 219. Lakhashe, S. K., W. Wang, N. B. Siddappa, G. Hemashettar, P. Polacino, S. L. Hu, F. Villinger, J. G. Else, F. J. Novembre, J. K. Yoon, S. J. Lee, D. C. Montefiori, R. M. Ruprecht, and R. A. Rasmussen. 2011. Vaccination against heterologous R5 clade C SHIV: prevention of infection and correlates of protection. PLoS One 6:e22010.
- 220. Lama, J., A. Mangasarian, and D. Trono. 1999. Cell-surface expression of CD4 reduces HIV-1 infectivity by blocking Env incorporation in a Nef- and Vpu-inhibitable manner. Curr Biol 9:622-31.
- 221. Landau, N. R., K. A. Page, and D. R. Littman. 1991. Pseudotyping with human T-cell leukemia virus type I broadens the human immunodeficiency virus host range. J Virol 65:162-9.
- 222. Laurent-Crawford, A. G., B. Krust, Y. Riviere, C. Desgranges, S. Muller, M. P. Kieny, C. Dauguet, and A. G. Hovanessian. 1993. Membrane expression of HIV envelope glycoproteins triggers apoptosis in CD4 cells. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 9:761-73.
- 223. Lemey, P., O. G. Pybus, B. Wang, N. K. Saksena, M. Salemi, and A. M. Vandamme. 2003. Tracing the origin and history of the HIV-2 epidemic. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:6588-92.
- 224. Leonard, C. K., M. W. Spellman, L. Riddle, R. J. Harris, J. N. Thomas, and T. J. Gregory. 1990. Assignment of intrachain disulfide bonds and characterization of potential glycosylation sites of the type 1 recombinant human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein (gp120) expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem 265:10373-82.
- 225. Letvin, N. L., M. D. Daniel, P. K. Sehgal, R. C. Desrosiers, R. D. Hunt, L. M. Waldron, J. J. MacKey, D. K. Schmidt, L. V. Chalifoux, and N. W. King. 1985. Induction of AIDS-like disease in macaque monkeys with T-cell tropic retrovirus STLV-III. Science 230:71-3.
- 226. Letvin, N. L., J. Li, M. Halloran, M. P. Cranage, E. W. Rud, and J. Sodroski. 1995. Prior infection with a nonpathogenic chimeric simian-human immunodeficiency virus does not efficiently protect macaques against challenge with simian immunodeficiency virus. J Virol **69**:4569-71.
- 227. Levy, D. N., G. M. Aldrovandi, O. Kutsch, and G. M. Shaw. 2004. Dynamics of HIV-1 recombination in its natural target cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:4204-9.
- 228. Lewis, P., R. Nduati, J. K. Kreiss, G. C. John, B. A. Richardson, D. Mbori-Ngacha, J. Ndinya-Achola, and J. Overbaugh. 1998. Cell-free human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in breast milk. J Infect Dis **177:**34-9.
- 229. Li, X., Y. Quan, E. J. Arts, Z. Li, B. D. Preston, H. de Rocquigny, B. P. Roques, J. L. Darlix, L. Kleiman, M. A. Parniak, and M. A. Wainberg. 1996. Human immunodeficiency virus Type 1 nucleocapsid protein (NCp7) directs specific initiation of minus-strand DNA synthesis primed by human tRNA(Lys3) in vitro: studies of viral RNA molecules mutated in regions that flank the primer binding site. J Virol **70**:4996-5004.
- 230. Li, Y., B. Cleveland, I. Klots, B. Travis, B. A. Richardson, D. Anderson, D. Montefiori, P. Polacino, and S. L. Hu. 2008. Removal of a single N-linked glycan in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 results in an enhanced ability to induce neutralizing antibody responses. J Virol 82:638-51.
- 231. Li, Y., A. K. Kar, and J. Sodroski. 2009. Target cell type-dependent modulation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid disassembly by cyclophilin A. J Virol 83:10951-62.
- 232. Lifson, J. D., M. A. Nowak, S. Goldstein, J. L. Rossio, A. Kinter, G. Vasquez, T. A. Wiltrout, C. Brown, D. Schneider, L. Wahl, A. L. Lloyd, J. Williams, W. R. Elkins, A. S. Fauci, and V. M. Hirsch. 1997. The extent of early viral replication is a critical determinant of the natural history of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. J Virol 71:9508-14.
- 233. Lindback, S., A. C. Karlsson, J. Mittler, A. Blaxhult, M. Carlsson, G. Briheim, A. Sonnerborg, and H. Gaines. 2000. Viral dynamics in primary HIV-1 infection. Karolinska Institutet Primary HIV Infection Study Group. AIDS 14:2283-91.
- 234. Liu, B., P. T. Sarkis, K. Luo, Y. Yu, and X. F. Yu. 2005. Regulation of Apobec3F and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif by Vif-Cul5-ElonB/C E3 ubiquitin ligase. J Virol 79:9579-87.
- 235. Liu, H., X. Wu, M. Newman, G. M. Shaw, B. H. Hahn, and J. C. Kappes. 1995. The Vif protein of human and simian immunodeficiency viruses is packaged into virions and associates with viral core structures. J Virol **69**:7630-8.
- 236. Liu, R., W. A. Paxton, S. Choe, D. Ceradini, S. R. Martin, R. Horuk, M. E. MacDonald, H. Stuhlmann, R. A. Koup, and N. R. Landau. 1996. Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. Cell 86:367-77.
- 237. Loffredo, J. T., J. Maxwell, Y. Qi, C. E. Glidden, G. J. Borchardt, T. Soma, A. T. Bean, D. R. Beal, N. A. Wilson, W. M. Rehrauer, J. D. Lifson, M. Carrington, and D. I. Watkins. 2007. Mamu-B*08-positive macaques control simian immunodeficiency virus replication. J Virol 81:8827-32.
- Loomis-Price, L. D., J. H. Cox, J. R. Mascola, T. C. VanCott, N. L. Michael, T. R. Fouts, R. R. Redfield, M. L. Robb, B. Wahren, H. W. Sheppard, and D. L. Birx. 1998. Correlation between humoral responses to human

immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope and disease progression in early-stage infection. J Infect Dis **178:**1306-16.

- 239. Luciw, P. A., C. P. Mandell, S. Himathongkham, J. Li, T. A. Low, K. A. Schmidt, K. E. Shaw, and C. Cheng-Mayer. 1999. Fatal immunopathogenesis by SIV/HIV-1 (SHIV) containing a variant form of the HIV-1SF33 env gene in juvenile and newborn rhesus macaques. Virology 263:112-27.
- 240. Luciw, P. A., E. Pratt-Lowe, K. E. Shaw, J. A. Levy, and C. Cheng-Mayer. 1995. Persistent infection of rhesus macaques with T-cell-line-tropic and macrophage-tropic clones of simian/human immunodeficiency viruses (SHIV). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **92**:7490-4.
- 241. **Mahalanabis M, J. B., and N. L. Haigwood.** 2006. Presented at the Proceedings of the 2006 International Conference on Bioinformatics and Computational Biology (BIOCOMP'06), Las Vegas, NV.
- 242. Majumder, B., M. L. Janket, E. A. Schafer, K. Schaubert, X. L. Huang, J. Kan-Mitchell, C. R. Rinaldo, Jr., and V. Ayyavoo. 2005. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr impairs dendritic cell maturation and T-cell activation: implications for viral immune escape. J Virol 79:7990-8003.
- 243. **Malim, M. H., J. Hauber, S. Y. Le, J. V. Maizel, and B. R. Cullen.** 1989. The HIV-1 rev trans-activator acts through a structured target sequence to activate nuclear export of unspliced viral mRNA. Nature **338**:254-7.
- 244. Mangeat, B., P. Turelli, G. Caron, M. Friedli, L. Perrin, and D. Trono. 2003. Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. Nature 424:99-103.
- 245. Mann, D. A., I. Mikaelian, R. W. Zemmel, S. M. Green, A. D. Lowe, T. Kimura, M. Singh, P. J. Butler, M. J. Gait, and J. Karn. 1994. A molecular rheostat. Co-operative rev binding to stem I of the rev-response element modulates human immunodeficiency virus type-1 late gene expression. J Mol Biol 241:193-207.
- 246. **Mao, Y., L. Wang, C. Gu, A. Herschhorn, S. H. Xiang, H. Haim, X. Yang, and J. Sodroski.** 2012. Subunit organization of the membrane-bound HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein trimer. Nat Struct Mol Biol **19:**893-9.
- 247. Margottin, F., S. P. Bour, H. Durand, L. Selig, S. Benichou, V. Richard, D. Thomas, K. Strebel, and R. Benarous. 1998. A novel human WD protein, hbeta TrCp, that interacts with HIV-1 Vpu connects CD4 to the ER degradation pathway through an F-box motif. Mol Cell 1:565-74.
- 248. Mariani, R., D. Chen, B. Schrofelbauer, F. Navarro, R. Konig, B. Bollman, C. Munk, H. Nymark-McMahon, and N. R. Landau. 2003. Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. Cell **114:**21-31.
- Marin, M., K. M. Rose, S. L. Kozak, and D. Kabat. 2003. HIV-1 Vif protein binds the editing enzyme APOBEC3G and induces its degradation. Nat Med 9:1398-403.
- 250. Markham, R. B., W. C. Wang, A. E. Weisstein, Z. Wang, A. Munoz, A. Templeton, J. Margolick, D. Vlahov, T. Quinn, H. Farzadegan, and X. F. Yu. 1998. Patterns of HIV-1 evolution in individuals with differing rates of CD4 T cell decline. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:12568-73.

- 251. Mascola, J. R., A. Sambor, K. Beaudry, S. Santra, B. Welcher, M. K. Louder, T. C. Vancott, Y. Huang, B. K. Chakrabarti, W. P. Kong, Z. Y. Yang, L. Xu, D. C. Montefiori, G. J. Nabel, and N. L. Letvin. 2005. Neutralizing antibodies elicited by immunization of monkeys with DNA plasmids and recombinant adenoviral vectors expressing human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proteins. J Virol 79:771-9.
- 252. Masur, H., M. A. Michelis, J. B. Greene, I. Onorato, R. A. Stouwe, R. S. Holzman, G. Wormser, L. Brettman, M. Lange, H. W. Murray, and S. Cunningham-Rundles. 1981. An outbreak of community-acquired Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia: initial manifestation of cellular immune dysfunction. N Engl J Med 305:1431-8.
- 253. Matsui, M., R. J. Warburton, P. C. Cogswell, A. S. Baldwin, Jr., and J. A. Frelinger. 1996. Effects of HIV-1 Tat on expression of HLA class I molecules. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 11:233-40.
- 254. **McCaffrey, R. A., C. Saunders, M. Hensel, and L. Stamatatos.** 2004. N-linked glycosylation of the V3 loop and the immunologically silent face of gp120 protects human immunodeficiency virus type 1 SF162 from neutralization by anti-gp120 and anti-gp41 antibodies. J Virol **78**:3279-95.
- 255. McClure, H. M., D. C. Anderson, P. N. Fultz, A. A. Ansari, T. Jehuda-Cohen, F. Villinger, S. A. Klumpp, W. Switzer, E. Lockwood, A. Brodie, and et al. 1991. Maternal transmission of SIVsmm in rhesus macaques. J Med Primatol 20:182-7.
- 256. Means, R. E., T. Matthews, J. A. Hoxie, M. H. Malim, T. Kodama, and R. C. Desrosiers. 2001. Ability of the V3 loop of simian immunodeficiency virus to serve as a target for antibody-mediated neutralization: correlation of neutralization sensitivity, growth in macrophages, and decreased dependence on CD4. J Virol 75:3903-15.
- 257. Mehle, A., B. Strack, P. Ancuta, C. Zhang, M. McPike, and D. Gabuzda. 2004. Vif overcomes the innate antiviral activity of APOBEC3G by promoting its degradation in the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. J Biol Chem **279:**7792-8.
- 258. Melikyan, G. B., R. M. Markosyan, H. Hemmati, M. K. Delmedico, D. M. Lambert, and F. S. Cohen. 2000. Evidence that the transition of HIV-1 gp41 into a six-helix bundle, not the bundle configuration, induces membrane fusion. J Cell Biol 151:413-23.
- 259. Mellors, J. W., L. A. Kingsley, C. R. Rinaldo, Jr., J. A. Todd, B. S. Hoo, R. P. Kokka, and P. Gupta. 1995. Quantitation of HIV-1 RNA in plasma predicts outcome after seroconversion. Ann Intern Med 122:573-9.
- 260. Michel, N., I. Allespach, S. Venzke, O. T. Fackler, and O. T. Keppler. 2005. The Nef protein of human immunodeficiency virus establishes superinfection immunity by a dual strategy to downregulate cell-surface CCR5 and CD4. Curr Biol **15:**714-23.
- 261. Miller, C. J., N. J. Alexander, S. Sutjipto, A. A. Lackner, A. Gettie, A. G. Hendrickx, L. J. Lowenstine, M. Jennings, and P. A. Marx. 1989. Genital mucosal transmission of simian immunodeficiency virus: animal model for heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 63:4277-84.

- 262. Miller, C. J., Q. Li, K. Abel, E. Y. Kim, Z. M. Ma, S. Wietgrefe, L. La Franco-Scheuch, L. Compton, L. Duan, M. D. Shore, M. Zupancic, M. Busch, J. Carlis, S. Wolinsky, and A. T. Haase. 2005. Propagation and dissemination of infection after vaginal transmission of simian immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 79:9217-27.
- Montagnier, L. 2002. Historical essay. A history of HIV discovery. Science 298:1727-8.
- 264. Moore, P. L., E. S. Gray, I. A. Choge, N. Ranchobe, K. Mlisana, S. S. Abdool Karim, C. Williamson, and L. Morris. 2008. The c3-v4 region is a major target of autologous neutralizing antibodies in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. J Virol 82:1860-9.
- 265. Moore, P. L., N. Ranchobe, B. E. Lambson, E. S. Gray, E. Cave, M. R. Abrahams, G. Bandawe, K. Mlisana, S. S. Abdool Karim, C. Williamson, and L. Morris. 2009. Limited neutralizing antibody specificities drive neutralization escape in early HIV-1 subtype C infection. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000598.
- 266. Morikis, D., A. K. Rizos, D. A. Spandidos, and E. Krambovitis. 2007. Electrostatic modeling of peptides derived from the V3-loop of HIV-1 gp120: implications of the interaction with chemokine receptor CCR5. Int J Mol Med 19:343-51.
- Morrison, H. G., F. Kirchhoff, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1995. Effects of mutations in constant regions 3 and 4 of envelope of simian immunodeficiency virus. Virology 210:448-55.
- 268. **Moulard, M., S. Hallenberger, W. Garten, and H. D. Klenk.** 1999. Processing and routage of HIV glycoproteins by furin to the cell surface. Virus Res **60**:55-65.
- 269. **Mowat, A. M., and J. L. Viney.** 1997. The anatomical basis of intestinal immunity. Immunol Rev **156**:145-66.
- 270. Muller, B., M. Anders, H. Akiyama, S. Welsch, B. Glass, K. Nikovics, F. Clavel, H. M. Tervo, O. T. Keppler, and H. G. Krausslich. 2009. HIV-1 Gag processing intermediates trans-dominantly interfere with HIV-1 infectivity. J Biol Chem 284:29692-703.
- 271. **Muller, H. J.** 1964. The Relation of Recombination to Mutational Advance. Mutat Res **106:**2-9.
- 272. **Mumbauer, A., A. Gettie, J. Blanchard, and C. Cheng-Mayer.** 2012. Efficient mucosal transmissibility but limited pathogenicity of R5 SHIVSF162P3N in Chinese origin rhesus macaques. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.
- 273. Navia, M. A., P. M. Fitzgerald, B. M. McKeever, C. T. Leu, J. C. Heimbach, W. K. Herber, I. S. Sigal, P. L. Darke, and J. P. Springer. 1989. Threedimensional structure of aspartyl protease from human immunodeficiency virus HIV-1. Nature 337:615-20.
- 274. Neil, S. J., V. Sandrin, W. I. Sundquist, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2007. An interferon-alpha-induced tethering mechanism inhibits HIV-1 and Ebola virus particle release but is counteracted by the HIV-1 Vpu protein. Cell Host Microbe 2:193-203.
- 275. Neil, S. J., T. Zang, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2008. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature 451:425-30.

- 276. Nishimura, Y., M. Shingai, R. Willey, R. Sadjadpour, W. R. Lee, C. R. Brown, J. M. Brenchley, A. Buckler-White, R. Petros, M. Eckhaus, V. Hoffman, T. Igarashi, and M. A. Martin. 2010. Generation of the pathogenic R5-tropic simian/human immunodeficiency virus SHIVAD8 by serial passaging in rhesus macaques. J Virol 84:4769-81.
- 277. Nolan, K. M., A. P. Jordan, and J. A. Hoxie. 2008. Effects of partial deletions within the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V3 loop on coreceptor tropism and sensitivity to entry inhibitors. J Virol 82:664-73.
- 278. **Ohgimoto, S., T. Shioda, K. Mori, E. E. Nakayama, H. Hu, and Y. Nagai.** 1998. Location-specific, unequal contribution of the N glycans in simian immunodeficiency virus gp120 to viral infectivity and removal of multiple glycans without disturbing infectivity. J Virol **72**:8365-70.
- 279. Ometto, L., M. Zanchetta, M. Mainardi, G. L. De Salvo, M. C. Garcia-Rodriguez, L. Gray, M. L. Newell, L. Chieco-Bianchi, and A. De Rossi. 2000. Co-receptor usage of HIV-1 primary isolates, viral burden, and CCR5 genotype in mother-to-child HIV-1 transmission. AIDS 14:1721-9.
- 280. **Ono, A., and E. O. Freed.** 2001. Plasma membrane rafts play a critical role in HIV-1 assembly and release. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **98**:13925-30.
- 281. **Orentas, R. J., and J. E. Hildreth.** 1993. Association of host cell surface adhesion receptors and other membrane proteins with HIV and SIV. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **9**:1157-65.
- 282. Pacyniak, E., M. L. Gomez, L. M. Gomez, E. R. Mulcahy, M. Jackson, D. R. Hout, B. J. Wisdom, and E. B. Stephens. 2005. Identification of a region within the cytoplasmic domain of the subtype B Vpu protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) that is responsible for retention in the golgi complex and its absence in the Vpu protein from a subtype C HIV-1. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 21:379-94.
- 283. **Page, K. A., S. M. Stearns, and D. R. Littman.** 1992. Analysis of mutations in the V3 domain of gp160 that affect fusion and infectivity. J Virol **66:**524-33.
- 284. Page, M., R. Stebbings, N. Berry, R. Hull, D. Ferguson, L. Davis, L. Duffy, W. Elsley, J. Hall, C. Ham, M. Hassall, B. Li, E. T. Mee, R. Quartey-Papafio, N. J. Rose, N. Mathy, G. Voss, E. J. Stott, and N. Almond. 2012. Heterologous protection elicited by candidate monomeric recombinant HIV-1 gp120 vaccine in the absence of cross neutralising antibodies in a macaque model. Retrovirology 9:56.
- 285. Pahar, B., W. L. Gray, K. Phelps, E. S. Didier, E. deHaro, P. A. Marx, and V. L. Traina-Dorge. 2012. Increased cellular immune responses and CD4+ T-cell proliferation correlate with reduced plasma viral load in SIV challenged recombinant simian varicella virus simian immunodeficiency virus (rSVV-SIV) vaccinated rhesus macaques. Virol J 9:160.
- 286. **Pantophlet, R., and D. R. Burton.** 2006. GP120: target for neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies. Annu Rev Immunol **24:**739-69.
- 287. Parent, L. J., R. P. Bennett, R. C. Craven, T. D. Nelle, N. K. Krishna, J. B. Bowzard, C. B. Wilson, B. A. Puffer, R. C. Montelaro, and J. W. Wills. 1995. Positionally independent and exchangeable late budding functions of the Rous

sarcoma virus and human immunodeficiency virus Gag proteins. J Virol **69:5**455-60.

- 288. Pauza, C. D., P. Emau, M. S. Salvato, P. Trivedi, D. MacKenzie, M. Malkovsky, H. Uno, and K. T. Schultz. 1993. Pathogenesis of SIVmac251 after atraumatic inoculation of the rectal mucosa in rhesus monkeys. J Med Primatol 22:154-61.
- 289. Pegu, P., M. Vaccari, S. Gordon, B. F. Keele, M. Doster, Y. Guan, G. Ferrari, R. Pal, M. G. Ferrari, S. Whitney, L. Hudacik, E. Billings, M. Rao, D. Montefiori, G. Tomaras, S. M. Alam, C. Fenizia, J. D. Lifson, D. Stablein, J. Tartaglia, N. Michael, J. Kim, D. Venzon, and G. Franchini. 2012. Antibodies with High Avidity to the gp120 Envelope Protein in Protection from Simian Immunodeficiency Virus SIVmac251 Acquisition in an Immunization Regimen That Mimics the RV-144 Thai Trial. J Virol 87:1708-19.
- 290. Perkins, N. D., N. L. Edwards, C. S. Duckett, A. B. Agranoff, R. M. Schmid, and G. J. Nabel. 1993. A cooperative interaction between NF-kappa B and Sp1 is required for HIV-1 enhancer activation. EMBO J 12:3551-8.
- 291. Pettit, S. C., M. D. Moody, R. S. Wehbie, A. H. Kaplan, P. V. Nantermet, C. A. Klein, and R. Swanstrom. 1994. The p2 domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag regulates sequential proteolytic processing and is required to produce fully infectious virions. J Virol 68:8017-27.
- 292. Pettit, S. C., J. Simsic, D. D. Loeb, L. Everitt, C. A. Hutchison, 3rd, and R. Swanstrom. 1991. Analysis of retroviral protease cleavage sites reveals two types of cleavage sites and the structural requirements of the P1 amino acid. J Biol Chem 266:14539-47.
- 293. Pinter, A., W. J. Honnen, Y. He, M. K. Gorny, S. Zolla-Pazner, and S. C. Kayman. 2004. The V1/V2 domain of gp120 is a global regulator of the sensitivity of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates to neutralization by antibodies commonly induced upon infection. J Virol 78:5205-15.
- 294. Pitisuttithum, P., P. Gilbert, M. Gurwith, W. Heyward, M. Martin, F. van Griensven, D. Hu, J. W. Tappero, and K. Choopanya. 2006. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled efficacy trial of a bivalent recombinant glycoprotein 120 HIV-1 vaccine among injection drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. J Infect Dis **194:**1661-71.
- 295. Platt, E. J., K. Wehrly, S. E. Kuhmann, B. Chesebro, and D. Kabat. 1998. Effects of CCR5 and CD4 cell surface concentrations on infections by macrophagetropic isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 72:2855-64.
- 296. **Poignard, P., E. O. Saphire, P. W. Parren, and D. R. Burton.** 2001. gp120: Biologic aspects of structural features. Annu Rev Immunol **19:**253-74.
- 297. **Pollard, S. R., M. D. Rosa, J. J. Rosa, and D. C. Wiley.** 1992. Truncated variants of gp120 bind CD4 with high affinity and suggest a minimum CD4 binding region. EMBO J **11**:585-91.
- 298. **Pope, M., and A. T. Haase.** 2003. Transmission, acute HIV-1 infection and the quest for strategies to prevent infection. Nat Med **9:**847-52.

- 299. **Popov, S., M. Rexach, L. Ratner, G. Blobel, and M. Bukrinsky.** 1998. Viral protein R regulates docking of the HIV-1 preintegration complex to the nuclear pore complex. J Biol Chem **273:**13347-52.
- 300. **Popovic, M., M. G. Sarngadharan, E. Read, and R. C. Gallo.** 1984. Detection, isolation, and continuous production of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and pre-AIDS. Science **224**:497-500.
- 301. **Preston, B. D., B. J. Poiesz, and L. A. Loeb.** 1988. Fidelity of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. Science **242**:1168-71.
- 302. Purtscher, M., A. Trkola, G. Gruber, A. Buchacher, R. Predl, F. Steindl, C. Tauer, R. Berger, N. Barrett, A. Jungbauer, and et al. 1994. A broadly neutralizing human monoclonal antibody against gp41 of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 10:1651-8.
- 303. Quince, C., A. Lanzen, T. P. Curtis, R. J. Davenport, N. Hall, I. M. Head, L. F. Read, and W. T. Sloan. 2009. Accurate determination of microbial diversity from 454 pyrosequencing data. Nat Methods 6:639-41.
- 304. Quince, C., A. Lanzen, R. J. Davenport, and P. J. Turnbaugh. 2011. Removing noise from pyrosequenced amplicons. BMC Bioinformatics 12:38.
- 305. Rasmussen, R. A., H. Ong, R. Song, A. L. Chenine, M. Ayash-Rashkovsky, S. L. Hu, P. Polacino, J. G. Else, F. J. Novembre, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2007. Efficacy of a multigenic protein vaccine containing multimeric HIV gp160 against heterologous SHIV clade C challenges. AIDS 21:1841-8.
- 306. Ratner, L., W. Haseltine, R. Patarca, K. J. Livak, B. Starcich, S. F. Josephs, E. R. Doran, J. A. Rafalski, E. A. Whitehorn, K. Baumeister, and et al. 1985. Complete nucleotide sequence of the AIDS virus, HTLV-III. Nature 313:277-84.
- 307. Reimann, K. A., J. T. Li, R. Veazey, M. Halloran, I. W. Park, G. B. Karlsson, J. Sodroski, and N. L. Letvin. 1996. A chimeric simian/human immunodeficiency virus expressing a primary patient human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate env causes an AIDS-like disease after in vivo passage in rhesus monkeys. J Virol 70:6922-8.
- 308. Reimann, K. A., J. T. Li, G. Voss, C. Lekutis, K. Tenner-Racz, P. Racz, W. Lin, D. C. Montefiori, D. E. Lee-Parritz, Y. Lu, R. G. Collman, J. Sodroski, and N. L. Letvin. 1996. An env gene derived from a primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate confers high in vivo replicative capacity to a chimeric simian/human immunodeficiency virus in rhesus monkeys. J Virol 70:3198-206.
- 309. Reitter, J. N., R. E. Means, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1998. A role for carbohydrates in immune evasion in AIDS. Nat Med 4:679-84.
- 310. Repits, J., M. Oberg, J. Esbjornsson, P. Medstrand, A. Karlsson, J. Albert, E. M. Fenyo, and M. Jansson. 2005. Selection of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 R5 variants with augmented replicative capacity and reduced sensitivity to entry inhibitors during severe immunodeficiency. J Gen Virol 86:2859-69.
- 311. Repits, J., J. Sterjovski, D. Badia-Martinez, M. Mild, L. Gray, M. J. Churchill, D. F. Purcell, A. Karlsson, J. Albert, E. M. Fenyo, A. Achour, P. R. Gorry, and M. Jansson. 2008. Primary HIV-1 R5 isolates from end-stage

disease display enhanced viral fitness in parallel with increased gp120 net charge. Virology **379**:125-34.

- 312. Rey-Cuille, M. A., J. L. Berthier, M. C. Bomsel-Demontoy, Y. Chaduc, L. Montagnier, A. G. Hovanessian, and L. A. Chakrabarti. 1998. Simian immunodeficiency virus replicates to high levels in sooty mangabeys without inducing disease. J Virol 72:3872-86.
- 313. Roben, P., J. P. Moore, M. Thali, J. Sodroski, C. F. Barbas, 3rd, and D. R. Burton. 1994. Recognition properties of a panel of human recombinant Fab fragments to the CD4 binding site of gp120 that show differing abilities to neutralize human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 68:4821-8.
- 314. **Roberts, J. D., K. Bebenek, and T. A. Kunkel.** 1988. The accuracy of reverse transcriptase from HIV-1. Science **242:**1171-3.
- 315. Rodenburg, C. M., Y. Li, S. A. Trask, Y. Chen, J. Decker, D. L. Robertson, M. L. Kalish, G. M. Shaw, S. Allen, B. H. Hahn, and F. Gao. 2001. Near fulllength clones and reference sequences for subtype C isolates of HIV type 1 from three different continents. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 17:161-8.
- 316. Rong, R., S. Gnanakaran, J. M. Decker, F. Bibollet-Ruche, J. Taylor, J. N. Sfakianos, J. L. Mokili, M. Muldoon, J. Mulenga, S. Allen, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, J. L. Blackwell, B. T. Korber, E. Hunter, and C. A. Derdeyn. 2007. Unique mutational patterns in the envelope alpha 2 amphipathic helix and acquisition of length in gp120 hypervariable domains are associated with resistance to autologous neutralization of subtype C human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 81:5658-68.
- 317. **Ross, H. A., and A. G. Rodrigo.** 2002. Immune-mediated positive selection drives human immunodeficiency virus type 1 molecular variation and predicts disease duration. J Virol **76:**11715-20.
- 318. **Rowland-Jones, S. L., and H. C. Whittle.** 2007. Out of Africa: what can we learn from HIV-2 about protective immunity to HIV-1? Nat Immunol **8:**329-31.
- 319. Rozenbaum, W., J. P. Coulaud, A. G. Saimot, D. Klatzmann, C. Mayaud, and M. F. Carette. 1982. Multiple opportunistic infection in a male homosexual in France. Lancet 1:572-3.
- 320. Rozera, G., I. Abbate, A. Bruselles, C. Vlassi, G. D'Offizi, P. Narciso, G. Chillemi, M. Prosperi, G. Ippolito, and M. R. Capobianchi. 2009. Massively parallel pyrosequencing highlights minority variants in the HIV-1 env quasispecies deriving from lymphomonocyte sub-populations. Retrovirology 6:15.
- 321. Safai, B., M. G. Sarngadharan, J. E. Groopman, K. Arnett, M. Popovic, A. Sliski, J. Schupbach, and R. C. Gallo. 1984. Seroepidemiological studies of human T-lymphotropic retrovirus type III in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Lancet 1:1438-40.
- 322. Sagar, M., X. Wu, S. Lee, and J. Overbaugh. 2006. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 V1-V2 envelope loop sequences expand and add glycosylation sites over the course of infection, and these modifications affect antibody neutralization sensitivity. J Virol 80:9586-98.

- 323. Saha, K., J. Zhang, A. Gupta, R. Dave, M. Yimen, and B. Zerhouni. 2001. Isolation of primary HIV-1 that target CD8+ T lymphocytes using CD8 as a receptor. Nat Med **7:**65-72.
- 324. Saha, K., J. Zhang, and B. Zerhouni. 2001. Evidence of productively infected CD8+ T cells in patients with AIDS: implications for HIV-1 pathogenesis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 26:199-207.
- 325. Sakaguchi, K., N. Zambrano, E. T. Baldwin, B. A. Shapiro, J. W. Erickson, J. G. Omichinski, G. M. Clore, A. M. Gronenborn, and E. Appella. 1993. Identification of a binding site for the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:5219-23.
- 326. Salazar-Gonzalez, J. F., E. Bailes, K. T. Pham, M. G. Salazar, M. B. Guffey, B. F. Keele, C. A. Derdeyn, P. Farmer, E. Hunter, S. Allen, O. Manigart, J. Mulenga, J. A. Anderson, R. Swanstrom, B. F. Haynes, G. S. Athreya, B. T. Korber, P. M. Sharp, G. M. Shaw, and B. H. Hahn. 2008. Deciphering human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission and early envelope diversification by single-genome amplification and sequencing. J Virol 82:3952-70.
- 327. Salvatori, F., S. Masiero, C. Giaquinto, C. M. Wade, A. J. Brown, L. Chieco-Bianchi, and A. De Rossi. 1997. Evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in perinatally infected infants with rapid and slow progression to disease. J Virol 71:4694-706.
- 328. Samson, M., F. Libert, B. J. Doranz, J. Rucker, C. Liesnard, C. M. Farber, S. Saragosti, C. Lapoumeroulie, J. Cognaux, C. Forceille, G. Muyldermans, C. Verhofstede, G. Burtonboy, M. Georges, T. Imai, S. Rana, Y. Yi, R. J. Smyth, R. G. Collman, R. W. Doms, G. Vassart, and M. Parmentier. 1996. Resistance to HIV-1 infection in caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. Nature 382:722-5.
- 329. Sanders, R. W., M. Venturi, L. Schiffner, R. Kalyanaraman, H. Katinger, K. O. Lloyd, P. D. Kwong, and J. P. Moore. 2002. The mannose-dependent epitope for neutralizing antibody 2G12 on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein gp120. J Virol 76:7293-305.
- 330. Sarafianos, S. G., B. Marchand, K. Das, D. M. Himmel, M. A. Parniak, S. H. Hughes, and E. Arnold. 2009. Structure and function of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase: molecular mechanisms of polymerization and inhibition. J Mol Biol 385:693-713.
- 331. Sarngadharan, M. G., M. Popovic, L. Bruch, J. Schupbach, and R. C. Gallo. 1984. Antibodies reactive with human T-lymphotropic retroviruses (HTLV-III) in the serum of patients with AIDS. Science **224**:506-8.
- 332. Sather, D. N., J. Armann, L. K. Ching, A. Mavrantoni, G. Sellhorn, Z. Caldwell, X. Yu, B. Wood, S. Self, S. Kalams, and L. Stamatatos. 2009. Factors associated with the development of cross-reactive neutralizing antibodies during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 83:757-69.
- 333. Saunders, C. J., R. A. McCaffrey, I. Zharkikh, Z. Kraft, S. E. Malenbaum, B. Burke, C. Cheng-Mayer, and L. Stamatatos. 2005. The V1, V2, and V3 regions of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope differentially affect the viral phenotype in an isolate-dependent manner. J Virol 79:9069-80.

- 334. Scala, G., M. R. Ruocco, C. Ambrosino, M. Mallardo, V. Giordano, F. Baldassarre, E. Dragonetti, I. Quinto, and S. Venuta. 1994. The expression of the interleukin 6 gene is induced by the human immunodeficiency virus 1 TAT protein. J Exp Med 179:961-71.
- 335. Scanlan, C. N., R. Pantophlet, M. R. Wormald, E. Ollmann Saphire, R. Stanfield, I. A. Wilson, H. Katinger, R. A. Dwek, P. M. Rudd, and D. R. Burton. 2002. The broadly neutralizing anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 antibody 2G12 recognizes a cluster of alpha1-->2 mannose residues on the outer face of gp120. J Virol 76:7306-21.
- 336. Schatz, O., F. V. Cromme, F. Gruninger-Leitch, and S. F. Le Grice. 1989. Point mutations in conserved amino acid residues within the C-terminal domain of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase specifically repress RNase H function. FEBS Lett 257:311-4.
- 337. Schindler, M., S. Wurfl, P. Benaroch, T. C. Greenough, R. Daniels, P. Easterbrook, M. Brenner, J. Munch, and F. Kirchhoff. 2003. Down-modulation of mature major histocompatibility complex class II and up-regulation of invariant chain cell surface expression are well-conserved functions of human and simian immunodeficiency virus nef alleles. J Virol 77:10548-56.
- 338. Schneider, E., S. Whitmore, K. M. Glynn, K. Dominguez, A. Mitsch, and M. T. McKenna. 2008. Revised surveillance case definitions for HIV infection among adults, adolescents, and children aged <18 months and for HIV infection and AIDS among children aged 18 months to <13 years--United States, 2008. MMWR Recomm Rep 57:1-12.</p>
- 339. Schubert, U., A. V. Ferrer-Montiel, M. Oblatt-Montal, P. Henklein, K. Strebel, and M. Montal. 1996. Identification of an ion channel activity of the Vpu transmembrane domain and its involvement in the regulation of virus release from HIV-1-infected cells. FEBS Lett 398:12-8.
- 340. Schultz, A. M., L. E. Henderson, and S. Oroszlan. 1988. Fatty acylation of proteins. Annu Rev Cell Biol 4:611-47.
- 341. Schupbach, J., M. Popovic, R. V. Gilden, M. A. Gonda, M. G. Sarngadharan, and R. C. Gallo. 1984. Serological analysis of a subgroup of human Tlymphotropic retroviruses (HTLV-III) associated with AIDS. Science **224**:503-5.
- 342. Schwartz, M. D., D. Fiore, and A. T. Panganiban. 1997. Distinct functions and requirements for the Cys-His boxes of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid protein during RNA encapsidation and replication. J Virol **71**:9295-305.
- 343. Schwartz, O., V. Marechal, S. Le Gall, F. Lemonnier, and J. M. Heard. 1996. Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. Nat Med 2:338-42.
- 344. Seaman, M. S., H. Janes, N. Hawkins, L. E. Grandpre, C. Devoy, A. Giri, R. T. Coffey, L. Harris, B. Wood, M. G. Daniels, T. Bhattacharya, A. Lapedes, V. R. Polonis, F. E. McCutchan, P. B. Gilbert, S. G. Self, B. T. Korber, D. C. Montefiori, and J. R. Mascola. 2010. Tiered categorization of a diverse panel of HIV-1 Env pseudoviruses for assessment of neutralizing antibodies. J Virol 84:1439-52.

- 345. Seclen, E., V. Soriano, M. del Mar Gonzalez, J. Gonzalez-Lahoz, and E. Poveda. 2011. Short communication: severe immune suppression in patients infected with R5-tropic HIV-1 strains is associated with increased gp120 net charge at variable regions. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 27:965-7.
- 346. Selby, M. J., E. S. Bain, P. A. Luciw, and B. M. Peterlin. 1989. Structure, sequence, and position of the stem-loop in tar determine transcriptional elongation by tat through the HIV-1 long terminal repeat. Genes Dev 3:547-58.
- 347. Shankarappa, R., J. B. Margolick, S. J. Gange, A. G. Rodrigo, D. Upchurch, H. Farzadegan, P. Gupta, C. R. Rinaldo, G. H. Learn, X. He, X. L. Huang, and J. I. Mullins. 1999. Consistent viral evolutionary changes associated with the progression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 73:10489-502.
- 348. **Shannon, C. E.** 1948. A Mathematical Theory of Communication. Bell System Technical Journal **27:**379-423 and 623-656.
- 349. Sharova, N., Y. Wu, X. Zhu, R. Stranska, R. Kaushik, M. Sharkey, and M. Stevenson. 2008. Primate lentiviral Vpx commandeers DDB1 to counteract a macrophage restriction. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000057.
- 350. Shaw, G. M., and E. Hunter. 2012. HIV transmission. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2.
- 351. Sheehy, A. M., N. C. Gaddis, J. D. Choi, and M. H. Malim. 2002. Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. Nature **418**:646-50.
- 352. Shen, C. H., Y. Tie, X. Yu, Y. F. Wang, A. Y. Kovalevsky, R. W. Harrison, and I. T. Weber. 2012. Capturing the reaction pathway in near-atomic-resolution crystal structures of HIV-1 protease. Biochemistry **51**:7726-32.
- 353. Shibata, R., M. Kawamura, H. Sakai, M. Hayami, A. Ishimoto, and A. Adachi. 1991. Generation of a chimeric human and simian immunodeficiency virus infectious to monkey peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Virol 65:3514-20.
- 354. Shibata, R., F. Maldarelli, C. Siemon, T. Matano, M. Parta, G. Miller, T. Fredrickson, and M. A. Martin. 1997. Infection and pathogenicity of chimeric simian-human immunodeficiency viruses in macaques: determinants of high virus loads and CD4 cell killing. J Infect Dis 176:362-73.
- 355. **Shioda, T., J. A. Levy, and C. Cheng-Mayer.** 1992. Small amino acid changes in the V3 hypervariable region of gp120 can affect the T-cell-line and macrophage tropism of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **89**:9434-8.
- 356. Siliciano, J. D., J. Kajdas, D. Finzi, T. C. Quinn, K. Chadwick, J. B. Margolick, C. Kovacs, S. J. Gange, and R. F. Siliciano. 2003. Long-term follow-up studies confirm the stability of the latent reservoir for HIV-1 in resting CD4+ T cells. Nat Med 9:727-8.
- 357. Simek, M. D., W. Rida, F. H. Priddy, P. Pung, E. Carrow, D. S. Laufer, J. K. Lehrman, M. Boaz, T. Tarragona-Fiol, G. Miiro, J. Birungi, A. Pozniak, D. A. McPhee, O. Manigart, E. Karita, A. Inwoley, W. Jaoko, J. Dehovitz, L. G. Bekker, P. Pitisuttithum, R. Paris, L. M. Walker, P. Poignard, T. Wrin, P. E. Fast, D. R. Burton, and W. C. Koff. 2009. Human immunodeficiency virus type

1 elite neutralizers: individuals with broad and potent neutralizing activity identified by using a high-throughput neutralization assay together with an analytical selection algorithm. J Virol **83:**7337-48.

- 358. Song, R. J., A. L. Chenine, R. A. Rasmussen, C. R. Ruprecht, S. Mirshahidi, R. D. Grisson, W. Xu, J. B. Whitney, L. M. Goins, H. Ong, P. L. Li, E. Shai-Kobiler, T. Wang, C. M. McCann, H. Zhang, C. Wood, C. Kankasa, W. E. Secor, H. M. McClure, E. Strobert, J. G. Else, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2006. Molecularly cloned SHIV-1157ipd3N4: a highly replication- competent, mucosally transmissible R5 simian-human immunodeficiency virus encoding HIV clade C Env. J Virol 80:8729-38.
- 359. Stacey, A. R., P. J. Norris, L. Qin, E. A. Haygreen, E. Taylor, J. Heitman, M. Lebedeva, A. DeCamp, D. Li, D. Grove, S. G. Self, and P. Borrow. 2009. Induction of a striking systemic cytokine cascade prior to peak viremia in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection, in contrast to more modest and delayed responses in acute hepatitis B and C virus infections. J Virol 83:3719-33.
- 360. **Stadeli, K. M., and D. D. Richman.** 2012. Rates of emergence of HIV drug resistance in resource-limited settings: a systematic review. Antivir Ther.
- 361. Stephens, E. B., S. Mukherjee, M. Sahni, W. Zhuge, R. Raghavan, D. K. Singh, K. Leung, B. Atkinson, Z. Li, S. V. Joag, Z. Q. Liu, and O. Narayan. 1997. A cell-free stock of simian-human immunodeficiency virus that causes AIDS in pig-tailed macaques has a limited number of amino acid substitutions in both SIVmac and HIV-1 regions of the genome and has offered cytotropism. Virology 231:313-21.
- 362. **Stevceva, L., V. Yoon, D. Anastasiades, and M. C. Poznansky.** 2007. Immune responses to HIV Gp120 that facilitate viral escape. Curr HIV Res **5:**47-54.
- 363. Stiegler, G., R. Kunert, M. Purtscher, S. Wolbank, R. Voglauer, F. Steindl, and H. Katinger. 2001. A potent cross-clade neutralizing human monoclonal antibody against a novel epitope on gp41 of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 17:1757-65.
- 364. Stone, M., B. F. Keele, Z. M. Ma, E. Bailes, J. Dutra, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and C. J. Miller. 2010. A limited number of simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) env variants are transmitted to rhesus macaques vaginally inoculated with SIVmac251. J Virol 84:7083-95.
- 365. Strain, M. C., H. F. Gunthard, D. V. Havlir, C. C. Ignacio, D. M. Smith, A. J. Leigh-Brown, T. R. Macaranas, R. Y. Lam, O. A. Daly, M. Fischer, M. Opravil, H. Levine, L. Bacheler, C. A. Spina, D. D. Richman, and J. K. Wong. 2003. Heterogeneous clearance rates of long-lived lymphocytes infected with HIV: intrinsic stability predicts lifelong persistence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:4819-24.
- 366. Stremlau, M., C. M. Owens, M. J. Perron, M. Kiessling, P. Autissier, and J. Sodroski. 2004. The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. Nature 427:848-53.
- 367. Stremlau, M., M. Perron, M. Lee, Y. Li, B. Song, H. Javanbakht, F. Diaz-Griffero, D. J. Anderson, W. I. Sundquist, and J. Sodroski. 2006. Specific recognition and accelerated uncoating of retroviral capsids by the TRIM5alpha restriction factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:5514-9.

- 368. **Suksomboon, N., N. Poolsup, and S. Ket-Aim.** 2007. Systematic review of the efficacy of antiretroviral therapies for reducing the risk of mother-to-child transmission of HIV infection. J Clin Pharm Ther **32:**293-311.
- 369. **Sullivan, N., M. Thali, C. Furman, D. D. Ho, and J. Sodroski.** 1993. Effect of amino acid changes in the V1/V2 region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 glycoprotein on subunit association, syncytium formation, and recognition by a neutralizing antibody. J Virol **67:**3674-9.
- 370. Sun, Y., M. Asmal, S. Lane, S. R. Permar, S. D. Schmidt, J. R. Mascola, and N. L. Letvin. 2011. Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected rhesus monkeys. J Virol 85:6906-12.
- 371. **Suphaphiphat, P., M. Essex, and T. H. Lee.** 2007. Mutations in the V3 stem versus the V3 crown and C4 region have different effects on the binding and fusion steps of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 interaction with the CCR5 coreceptor. Virology **360**:182-90.
- 372. Surbeck, M., and G. Hohmann. 2008. Primate hunting by bonobos at LuiKotale, Salonga National Park. Curr Biol **18:**R906-7.
- 373. Tamura, K., D. Peterson, N. Peterson, G. Stecher, M. Nei, and S. Kumar. 2011. MEGA5: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis using maximum likelihood, evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods. Mol Biol Evol 28:2731-9.
- 374. **Temin, H. M., and S. Mizutani.** 1970. RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of Rous sarcoma virus. Nature **226**:1211-3.
- 375. Templeton, D. J., F. Jin, L. Mao, G. P. Prestage, B. Donovan, J. Imrie, S. Kippax, J. M. Kaldor, and A. E. Grulich. 2009. Circumcision and risk of HIV infection in Australian homosexual men. AIDS 23:2347-51.
- 376. Tersmette, M., R. A. Gruters, F. de Wolf, R. E. de Goede, J. M. Lange, P. T. Schellekens, J. Goudsmit, H. G. Huisman, and F. Miedema. 1989. Evidence for a role of virulent human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) variants in the pathogenesis of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome: studies on sequential HIV isolates. J Virol 63:2118-25.
- 377. Thippeshappa, R., P. Polacino, M. T. Yu Kimata, E. B. Siwak, D. Anderson, W. Wang, L. Sherwood, R. Arora, M. Wen, P. Zhou, S. L. Hu, and J. T. Kimata. 2011. Vif substitution enables persistent infection of pig-tailed macaques by human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 85:3767-79.
- 378. **Thompson, J. D., D. G. Higgins, and T. J. Gibson.** 1994. CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. Nucleic Acids Res **22**:4673-80.
- 379. **Thorner, A. R., and D. H. Barouch.** 2007. HIV-1 vaccine development: progress and prospects. Curr Infect Dis Rep **9:**71-5.
- 380. Tiley, L. S., M. H. Malim, H. K. Tewary, P. G. Stockley, and B. R. Cullen. 1992. Identification of a high-affinity RNA-binding site for the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Rev protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:758-62.

- 381. Tobiume, M., J. E. Lineberger, C. A. Lundquist, M. D. Miller, and C. Aiken. 2003. Nef does not affect the efficiency of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 fusion with target cells. J Virol 77:10645-50.
- 382. Tomaras, G. D., N. L. Yates, P. Liu, L. Qin, G. G. Fouda, L. L. Chavez, A. C. Decamp, R. J. Parks, V. C. Ashley, J. T. Lucas, M. Cohen, J. Eron, C. B. Hicks, H. X. Liao, S. G. Self, G. Landucci, D. N. Forthal, K. J. Weinhold, B. F. Keele, B. H. Hahn, M. L. Greenberg, L. Morris, S. S. Karim, W. A. Blattner, D. C. Montefiori, G. M. Shaw, A. S. Perelson, and B. F. Haynes. 2008. Initial B-cell responses to transmitted human immunodeficiency virus type 1: virion-binding immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG antibodies followed by plasma anti-gp41 antibodies with ineffective control of initial viremia. J Virol 82:12449-63.
- 383. Trkola, A., T. Dragic, J. Arthos, J. M. Binley, W. C. Olson, G. P. Allaway, C. Cheng-Mayer, J. Robinson, P. J. Maddon, and J. P. Moore. 1996. CD4dependent, antibody-sensitive interactions between HIV-1 and its co-receptor CCR-5. Nature 384:184-7.
- 384. Trkola, A., M. Purtscher, T. Muster, C. Ballaun, A. Buchacher, N. Sullivan, K. Srinivasan, J. Sodroski, J. P. Moore, and H. Katinger. 1996. Human monoclonal antibody 2G12 defines a distinctive neutralization epitope on the gp120 glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 70:1100-8.
- 385. Troyer, R. M., K. R. Collins, A. Abraha, E. Fraundorf, D. M. Moore, R. W. Krizan, Z. Toossi, R. L. Colebunders, M. A. Jensen, J. I. Mullins, G. Vanham, and E. J. Arts. 2005. Changes in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 fitness and genetic diversity during disease progression. J Virol 79:9006-18.
- 386. **Truant, R., and B. R. Cullen.** 1999. The arginine-rich domains present in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat and Rev function as direct importin beta-dependent nuclear localization signals. Mol Cell Biol **19**:1210-7.
- 387. Tso, F. Y., F. G. Hoffmann, D. C. Tully, P. Lemey, R. A. Rasmussen, H. Zhang, R. M. Ruprecht, and C. Wood. 2009. A comparative study of HIV-1 clade C env evolution in a Zambian infant with an infected rhesus macaque during disease progression. AIDS 23:1817-28.
- 388. Tyler, D. S., S. D. Stanley, S. Zolla-Pazner, M. K. Gorny, P. P. Shadduck, A. J. Langlois, T. J. Matthews, D. P. Bolognesi, T. J. Palker, and K. J. Weinhold. 1990. Identification of sites within gp41 that serve as targets for antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity by using human monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol 145:3276-82.
- 389. Urano, T., T. Saito, T. Tsukui, M. Fujita, T. Hosoi, M. Muramatsu, Y. Ouchi, and S. Inoue. 2002. Efp targets 14-3-3 sigma for proteolysis and promotes breast tumour growth. Nature 417:871-5.
- 390. Usami, Y., S. Popov, E. Popova, M. Inoue, W. Weissenhorn, and G. G. H. 2009. The ESCRT pathway and HIV-1 budding. Biochem Soc Trans 37:181-4.
- 391. van 't Wout, A. B., H. Blaak, L. J. Ran, M. Brouwer, C. Kuiken, and H. Schuitemaker. 1998. Evolution of syncytium-inducing and non-syncytium-inducing biological virus clones in relation to replication kinetics during the course of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 72:5099-107.

- 392. van Gils, M. J., E. M. Bunnik, B. D. Boeser-Nunnink, J. A. Burger, M. Terlouw-Klein, N. Verwer, and H. Schuitemaker. 2011. Longer V1V2 region with increased number of potential N-linked glycosylation sites in the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein protects against HIV-specific neutralizing antibodies. J Virol 85:6986-95.
- 393. Van Heuverswyn, F., Y. Li, C. Neel, E. Bailes, B. F. Keele, W. Liu, S. Loul, C. Butel, F. Liegeois, Y. Bienvenue, E. M. Ngolle, P. M. Sharp, G. M. Shaw, E. Delaporte, B. H. Hahn, and M. Peeters. 2006. Human immunodeficiency viruses: SIV infection in wild gorillas. Nature 444:164.
- 394. van Marle, G., M. J. Gill, D. Kolodka, L. McManus, T. Grant, and D. L. Church. 2007. Compartmentalization of the gut viral reservoir in HIV-1 infected patients. Retrovirology **4**:87.
- 395. van Opijnen, T., R. E. Jeeninga, M. C. Boerlijst, G. P. Pollakis, V. Zetterberg, M. Salminen, and B. Berkhout. 2004. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtypes have a distinct long terminal repeat that determines the replication rate in a host-cell-specific manner. J Virol 78:3675-83.
- 396. Van Valen, L. 1974. Molecular evolution as predicted by natural selection. J Mol Evol 3:89-101.
- 397. Varghese, V., E. Wang, F. Babrzadeh, M. H. Bachmann, R. Shahriar, T. Liu, S. J. Mappala, B. Gharizadeh, W. J. Fessel, D. Katzenstein, S. Kassaye, and R. W. Shafer. 2010. Nucleic acid template and the risk of a PCR-Induced HIV-1 drug resistance mutation. PLoS One 5:e10992.
- 398. Varthakavi, V., R. M. Smith, K. L. Martin, A. Derdowski, L. A. Lapierre, J. R. Goldenring, and P. Spearman. 2006. The pericentriolar recycling endosome plays a key role in Vpu-mediated enhancement of HIV-1 particle release. Traffic 7:298-307.
- 399. Veazey, R. S., M. DeMaria, L. V. Chalifoux, D. E. Shvetz, D. R. Pauley, H. L. Knight, M. Rosenzweig, R. P. Johnson, R. C. Desrosiers, and A. A. Lackner. 1998. Gastrointestinal tract as a major site of CD4+ T cell depletion and viral replication in SIV infection. Science 280:427-31.
- 400. Verani, A., G. Gras, and G. Pancino. 2005. Macrophages and HIV-1: dangerous liaisons. Mol Immunol **42:**195-212.
- 401. Vlasak, J., and R. M. Ruprecht. 2006. AIDS vaccine development and challenge viruses: getting real. AIDS 20:2135-40.
- 402. Wain-Hobson, S., P. Sonigo, O. Danos, S. Cole, and M. Alizon. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of the AIDS virus, LAV. Cell **40**:9-17.
- 403. Watson, A., J. Ranchalis, B. Travis, J. McClure, W. Sutton, P. R. Johnson, S. L. Hu, and N. L. Haigwood. 1997. Plasma viremia in macaques infected with simian immunodeficiency virus: plasma viral load early in infection predicts survival. J Virol 71:284-90.
- 404. Wawer, M. J., R. H. Gray, N. K. Sewankambo, D. Serwadda, X. Li, O. Laeyendecker, N. Kiwanuka, G. Kigozi, M. Kiddugavu, T. Lutalo, F. Nalugoda, F. Wabwire-Mangen, M. P. Meehan, and T. C. Quinn. 2005. Rates of HIV-1 transmission per coital act, by stage of HIV-1 infection, in Rakai, Uganda. J Infect Dis 191:1403-9.

- 405. Wei, X., J. M. Decker, S. Wang, H. Hui, J. C. Kappes, X. Wu, J. F. Salazar-Gonzalez, M. G. Salazar, J. M. Kilby, M. S. Saag, N. L. Komarova, M. A. Nowak, B. H. Hahn, P. D. Kwong, and G. M. Shaw. 2003. Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. Nature 422:307-12.
- 406. Welker, R., H. Hohenberg, U. Tessmer, C. Huckhagel, and H. G. Krausslich. 2000. Biochemical and structural analysis of isolated mature cores of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 74:1168-77.
- 407. Wen, W., J. L. Meinkoth, R. Y. Tsien, and S. S. Taylor. 1995. Identification of a signal for rapid export of proteins from the nucleus. Cell **82**:463-73.
- 408. Whatmore, A. M., N. Cook, G. A. Hall, S. Sharpe, E. W. Rud, and M. P. Cranage. 1995. Repair and evolution of nef in vivo modulates simian immunodeficiency virus virulence. J Virol 69:5117-23.
- 409. Wiegers, K., G. Rutter, H. Kottler, U. Tessmer, H. Hohenberg, and H. G. Krausslich. 1998. Sequential steps in human immunodeficiency virus particle maturation revealed by alterations of individual Gag polyprotein cleavage sites. J Virol 72:2846-54.
- Wildum, S., M. Schindler, J. Munch, and F. Kirchhoff. 2006. Contribution of Vpu, Env, and Nef to CD4 down-modulation and resistance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected T cells to superinfection. J Virol 80:8047-59.
- 411. Willey, R. L., F. Maldarelli, M. A. Martin, and K. Strebel. 1992. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein regulates the formation of intracellular gp160-CD4 complexes. J Virol **66**:226-34.
- 412. Willey, R. L., D. H. Smith, L. A. Lasky, T. S. Theodore, P. L. Earl, B. Moss, D. J. Capon, and M. A. Martin. 1988. In vitro mutagenesis identifies a region within the envelope gene of the human immunodeficiency virus that is critical for infectivity. J Virol 62:139-47.
- 413. Williams, R. L., and S. Urbe. 2007. The emerging shape of the ESCRT machinery. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:355-68.
- 414. **Williamson, S.** 2003. Adaptation in the env gene of HIV-1 and evolutionary theories of disease progression. Mol Biol Evol **20:**1318-25.
- 415. Wills, J. W., and R. C. Craven. 1991. Form, function, and use of retroviral gag proteins. AIDS 5:639-54.
- 416. **Wodarz, D., and D. N. Levy.** 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus evolution towards reduced replicative fitness in vivo and the development of AIDS. Proc Biol Sci **274:**2481-90.
- 417. Wolinsky, S. M., C. M. Wike, B. T. Korber, C. Hutto, W. P. Parks, L. L. Rosenblum, K. J. Kunstman, M. R. Furtado, and J. L. Munoz. 1992. Selective transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 variants from mothers to infants. Science 255:1134-7.
- 418. Wu, F., I. Ourmanov, T. Kuwata, R. Goeken, C. R. Brown, A. Buckler-White, R. Iyengar, R. Plishka, S. T. Aoki, and V. M. Hirsch. 2012. Sequential evolution and escape from neutralization of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVsmE660 clones in rhesus macaques. J Virol 86:8835-47.
- 419. Wu, L., N. P. Gerard, R. Wyatt, H. Choe, C. Parolin, N. Ruffing, A. Borsetti, A. A. Cardoso, E. Desjardin, W. Newman, C. Gerard, and J. Sodroski. 1996.

CD4-induced interaction of primary HIV-1 gp120 glycoproteins with the chemokine receptor CCR-5. Nature **384:**179-83.

- 420. Wu, X., A. B. Parast, B. A. Richardson, R. Nduati, G. John-Stewart, D. Mbori-Ngacha, S. M. Rainwater, and J. Overbaugh. 2006. Neutralization escape variants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 are transmitted from mother to infant. J Virol 80:835-44.
- 421. Wu, Z., S. C. Kayman, W. Honnen, K. Revesz, H. Chen, S. Vijh-Warrier, S. A. Tilley, J. McKeating, C. Shotton, and A. Pinter. 1995. Characterization of neutralization epitopes in the V2 region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120: role of glycosylation in the correct folding of the V1/V2 domain. J Virol 69:2271-8.
- 422. Wyatt, R., P. D. Kwong, E. Desjardins, R. W. Sweet, J. Robinson, W. A. Hendrickson, and J. G. Sodroski. 1998. The antigenic structure of the HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein. Nature **393**:705-11.
- 423. Wyatt, R., J. Moore, M. Accola, E. Desjardin, J. Robinson, and J. Sodroski. 1995. Involvement of the V1/V2 variable loop structure in the exposure of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 epitopes induced by receptor binding. J Virol 69:5723-33.
- 424. **Wyatt, R., and J. Sodroski.** 1998. The HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins: fusogens, antigens, and immunogens. Science **280**:1884-8.
- 425. Wyatt, R., N. Sullivan, M. Thali, H. Repke, D. Ho, J. Robinson, M. Posner, and J. Sodroski. 1993. Functional and immunologic characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins containing deletions of the major variable regions. J Virol 67:4557-65.
- 426. **Wyma, D. J., A. Kotov, and C. Aiken.** 2000. Evidence for a stable interaction of gp41 with Pr55(Gag) in immature human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles. J Virol **74**:9381-7.
- 427. Xiang, S. H., A. Finzi, B. Pacheco, K. Alexander, W. Yuan, C. Rizzuto, C. C. Huang, P. D. Kwong, and J. Sodroski. 2010. A V3 loop-dependent gp120 element disrupted by CD4 binding stabilizes the human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein trimer. J Virol 84:3147-61.
- 428. Xu, R., I. K. Srivastava, L. Kuller, I. Zarkikh, Z. Kraft, Z. Fagrouch, N. L. Letvin, J. L. Heeney, S. W. Barnett, and L. Stamatatos. 2006. Immunization with HIV-1 SF162-derived Envelope gp140 proteins does not protect macaques from heterologous simian-human immunodeficiency virus SHIV89.6P infection. Virology 349:276-89.
- 429. Xu, W., R. Hofmann-Lehmann, H. M. McClure, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2002. Passive immunization with human neutralizing monoclonal antibodies: correlates of protective immunity against HIV. Vaccine **20**:1956-60.
- 430. **Yamaguchi-Kabata, Y., and T. Gojobori.** 2000. Reevaluation of amino acid variability of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 envelope glycoprotein and prediction of new discontinuous epitopes. J Virol **74:**4335-50.
- 431. Yeung, M. C., L. Pulliam, and A. S. Lau. 1995. The HIV envelope protein gp120 is toxic to human brain-cell cultures through the induction of interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. AIDS **9:**137-43.

- 432. Yu, Q. C., Z. Matsuda, X. Yu, S. Ito, M. Essex, and T. H. Lee. 1994. An electron-lucent region within the virion distinguishes HIV-1 from HIV-2 and simian immunodeficiency virus. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 10:757-61.
- 433. Yuste, E., S. Sanchez-Palomino, C. Casado, E. Domingo, and C. Lopez-Galindez. 1999. Drastic fitness loss in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 upon serial bottleneck events. J Virol 73:2745-51.
- 434. Yuste, E., H. B. Sanford, J. Carmody, J. Bixby, S. Little, M. B. Zwick, T. Greenough, D. R. Burton, D. D. Richman, R. C. Desrosiers, and W. E. Johnson. 2006. Simian immunodeficiency virus engrafted with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific epitopes: replication, neutralization, and survey of HIV-1-positive plasma. J Virol 80:3030-41.
- 435. **Zerhouni, B., J. A. Nelson, and K. Saha.** 2004. CXCR4-dependent infection of CD8+, but not CD4+, lymphocytes by a primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate. J Virol **78:**12288-96.
- 436. **Zerhouni, B., J. A. Nelson, and K. Saha.** 2004. Isolation of CD4-independent primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates that are syncytium inducing and acutely cytopathic for CD8+ lymphocytes. J Virol **78:**1243-55.
- 437. Zhang, F., S. J. Wilson, W. C. Landford, B. Virgen, D. Gregory, M. C. Johnson, J. Munch, F. Kirchhoff, P. D. Bieniasz, and T. Hatziioannou. 2009. Nef proteins from simian immunodeficiency viruses are tetherin antagonists. Cell Host Microbe 6:54-67.
- 438. Zhang, H., F. Hoffmann, J. He, X. He, C. Kankasa, R. Ruprecht, J. T. West, G. Orti, and C. Wood. 2005. Evolution of subtype C HIV-1 Env in a slowly progressing Zambian infant. Retrovirology 2:67.
- 439. Zhang, H., F. Hoffmann, J. He, X. He, C. Kankasa, J. T. West, C. D. Mitchell, R. M. Ruprecht, G. Orti, and C. Wood. 2006. Characterization of HIV-1 subtype C envelope glycoproteins from perinatally infected children with different courses of disease. Retrovirology 3:73.
- 440. **Zhang, H., M. Rola, J. T. West, D. C. Tully, P. Kubis, J. He, C. Kankasa, and C. Wood.** 2010. Functional properties of the HIV-1 subtype C envelope glycoprotein associated with mother-to-child transmission. Virology **400**:164-74.
- 441. Zhang, H., D. C. Tully, T. Zhang, H. Moriyama, J. Thompson, and C. Wood. 2010. Molecular determinants of HIV-1 subtype C coreceptor transition from R5 to R5X4. Virology 407:68-79.
- 442. Zhang, H., Y. Zhou, C. Alcock, T. Kiefer, D. Monie, J. Siliciano, Q. Li, P. Pham, J. Cofrancesco, D. Persaud, and R. F. Siliciano. 2004. Novel single-cell-level phenotypic assay for residual drug susceptibility and reduced replication capacity of drug-resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 78:1718-29.
- 443. Zhang, Z., T. Schuler, M. Zupancic, S. Wietgrefe, K. A. Staskus, K. A. Reimann, T. A. Reinhart, M. Rogan, W. Cavert, C. J. Miller, R. S. Veazey, D. Notermans, S. Little, S. A. Danner, D. D. Richman, D. Havlir, J. Wong, H. L. Jordan, T. W. Schacker, P. Racz, K. Tenner-Racz, N. L. Letvin, S. Wolinsky, and A. T. Haase. 1999. Sexual transmission and propagation of SIV and HIV in resting and activated CD4+ T cells. Science 286:1353-7.

444. Zhu, P., E. Chertova, J. Bess, Jr., J. D. Lifson, L. O. Arthur, J. Liu, K. A. Taylor, and K. H. Roux. 2003. Electron tomography analysis of envelope glycoprotein trimers on HIV and simian immunodeficiency virus virions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:15812-7.